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Debt Instruments Issuance Programme

For guidance on using this Base Prospectus and navigating between the different sections hereof, please refer to the "Base
Prospectus - User Guide" section of this Base Prospectus (which is intended to assist investors in review of this Base
Prospectus but which should nevertheless be read in conjunction with the other sections of this Base Prospectus).

Under the Debt Instruments Issuance Programme (the Programme), each of Societe Generale and SG Issuer (each an Issuer and
together the Issuers) may from time to time issue Notes (the Notes) denominated in any currency agreed by the Issuer of such Notes
(the relevant Issuer) and the relevant purchaser(s).

This Base Prospectus has been approved by the Luxembourg Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the CSSF) which
is the Luxembourg competent authority for the purposes of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended (the Prospectus Regulation).
The CSSF only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency
imposed by the Prospectus Regulation and such approval shall not be considered as an endorsement of the Issuers, the Guarantor
and of the quality of the securities that are the subject of this Base Prospectus. The CSSF gives no undertaking as to the economic
and financial soundness of the Notes issued under the Programme or the quality or solvency of the Issuers, in accordance with the
provisions of Article 6(4) of the Luxembourg act on prospectuses for securities dated 16 July 2019, as amended. Such approval does
not extend to money market instruments (as defined in the Prospectus Regulation) having a maturity of less than one year or to Notes
(which are not publicly offered) to be admitted to trading on the Euro MTF (as defined below).

Application has also been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading
on (i) the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
and (ii) the multilateral trading facility Euro MTF of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the Euro MTF). The regulated market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 2014/65/EU of
15 May 2014 (as amended, MiFID Il) (a Regulated Market).

The Euro MTF is not a Regulated Market and accordingly the CSSF is not the competent authority for the approval of this Base
Prospectus in connection with Notes issued under the Programme which are admitted to trading on the Euro MTF, but the Euro MTF
is subject to the supervision of the CSSF. The CSSF has neither reviewed nor approved any information in this Base Prospectus
pertaining to Notes admitted to trading on the Euro MTF. The CSSF therefore assumes no responsibility in relation to the issues of
Notes admitted to trading on the Euro MTF.

Notes issued under the Programme may also be unlisted or listed and admitted to trading on any other market, including any other
Regulated Market in any Member State of the EEA and/or offered to the public in any Member State of the EEA. The applicable Final
Terms in respect of the issue of any Notes will specify whether or not such Notes will be listed and admitted to trading on any market
and/or offered to the public in any Member State of the EEA and, if so, the relevant market.

This Base Prospectus has been approved on 1 June 2022 and is valid until 1 June 2023 and must during such period and in
accordance with Article 23 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended, be completed by a supplement to the Base Prospectus in the
event of any new significant facts or material errors or inaccuracies. The obligation to supplement the Base Prospectus in the event
of significant new factors, material mistakes or material inaccuracies does not apply when the Base Prospectus is no longer valid.

This Base Prospectus will be filed with SIX Exchange Regulation Ltd (prospectus office) as competent review body under the Swiss
Financial Services Act (the “FinSA”) for automatic acceptance of this Base Prospectus as an issuance prospectus in accordance with
article 54(2) of the FinSA. The CSSF has neither reviewed nor approved any information in this Base Prospectus pertaining to Notes
listed on SIX Swiss Exchange.

The Notes and any guarantee thereof have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as

amended (the Securities Act) or under the securities law of any state or political sub-division of the United States, and trading in the

Notes has not been approved by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the CFTC) under the United States Commaodity

Exchange Act of 1936, as amended (the CEA). No person has registered and no person will register as a "commodity pool operator"
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of any Issuer under the CEA and the rules thereunder (the CFTC Rules) of the CFTC, and no Issuer has been and no Issuer will be
registered as an investment company under the United States Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, and the rules and
regulations thereunder (the Investment Company Act). Other than with respect to certain U.S. Exempt Securities (as defined herein),
the Notes are being offered and sold in reliance on an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to
Regulation S thereunder (Regulation S).

Accordingly, except for U.S. Exempt Securities (as defined herein), the Notes may only be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise
transferred in an “offshore transaction” (as defined under Regulation S) to or for the account or benefit of a person who (a) is not (i) a
U.S. person as defined in Regulation S (Regulation S U.S. Person) unless the applicable Final Terms specify that a U.S. person as
defined in paragraph 7701(a)(30) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (IRS U.S. Person) is also applicable, or (ii) if in the case of
SGI Index Linked Notes, Advised SGI Index is applicable or if in the case of Portfolio Linked Notes, Dynamic Portfolio is applicable,
a person who is either a Regulation S U.S. Person or an IRS U.S. Person unless the applicable Final Terms specify that only a
Regulation S U.S. Person is applicable; (b) is not a person who comes within any definition of U.S. person for the purposes of the
CEA or any CFTC Rule, guidance or order proposed or issued under the CEA (for the avoidance of doubt, any person who is not a
“Non-United States person” defined under CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv), but excluding, for purposes of subsection (D) thereof, the
exception for qualified eligible persons who are not “Non-United States persons”, shall be considered a U.S. person), and (c) is not a
"U.S. person" for purposes of the final rules implementing the credit risk retention requirements of Section 15G of the U.S. Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the U.S. Risk Retention Rules) (a Risk Retention U.S. Person) (such a person or account as
described herein, a Permitted Transferee).

With the exception of U.S. Exempt Securities, the Notes are available only to Permitted Transferees. Certain issues of English Law
Notes of Societe Generale (U.S. Exempt Securities), as specified in the applicable Offering Circular (as defined below), may be
offered and sold only (a) in offshore transactions to non-U.S. persons in reliance upon Regulation S under the Securities Act, and/or
(b) to qualified institutional buyers (QIBs) acting for their own account or for the account of one or more QIBs, in each case, in reliance
upon Rule 144A under the Securities Act. No issues of Notes issued by SG Issuer will be U.S. Exempt Securities. Information specific
to any issue of U.S. Exempt Securities (including information on the form of the Notes and applicable selling and transfer restrictions)
shall be set out in an offering circular supplementing this Base Prospectus (Offering Circular) in connection with the offer and sale
of such U.S. Exempt Securities.

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, and the issue price of Notes which
are applicable to each issuance (as defined in the General Terms and Conditions of the Notes) of Notes will be set out in a final terms
document (the Final Terms) which (except in the case of Exempted Swiss Public Offer Note or Exempt Offer Note) (all as defined in
the sections entitled "General Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes" and "General Terms and Conditions of the French
Law Notes" ) will be filed with the CSSF-.

In case of any issue of U.S. Exempt Securities, all references herein to “Final Terms” shall include, or be interpreted to mean, the
applicable Offering Circular.

THE NOTES OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED WITH, OR APPROVED BY, ANY UNITED
STATES FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES OR COMMODITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY.
FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT PASSED UPON OR ENDORSED THE MERITS OF THIS
OFFERING OR THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY
IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE IN THE UNITED STATES.

U.S. Treasury regulations issued under Section 871(m) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the Section 871(m) Regulations)
generally impose a 30% withholding tax on dividend equivalents paid or deemed paid (within the meaning of the relevant Section
871(m) Regulations) to a non-United States holder (a Non-U.S. Holder) with respect to certain financial instruments linked to U.S.
equities or indices that include U.S. equities (U.S. Underlying Equities). Specifically, and subject to special rules from 2017 through
2022 set out in Notice 2020-2 (the Notice), the Section 871(m) Regulations will generally apply to Notes issued on or after 1 January
2017 that substantially replicate the economic performance of one or more U.S. Underlying Equities as determined by the Issuers on
the date for such Notes as of which the expected delta of the product is determined by the Issuers based on tests in accordance with
the applicable Section 871(m) Regulations (for the purposes of the Notice, such Notes are deemed “delta-one” instruments) (the
Specified Notes). A Note linked to U.S. Underlying Equities which the Issuer has determined not to be a Specified Note will not be
subject to withholding tax under Section 871(m) Regulations. Investors are advised that the Issuer's determination is binding on all
Non-U.S. Holders of the Notes, but it is not binding on the United States Internal Revenue Service (the IRS) and the IRS may therefore
disagree with the Issuer’s determination.

The applicable Final Terms will specify if the Notes are Specified Notes, and, if so, whether the relevant Issuer or its withholding agent
will withhold tax under Section 871(m) Regulations and the rate of the withholding tax. Investors should note that if the Issuer or any
withholding agent determines that withholding is required, neither the relevant Issuer nor the withholding agent will be required to
gross up any amounts withheld in connection with a Specified Note. Investors should consult their tax adviser regarding the potential
application of Section 871(m) Regulations to their investment in the Notes.

Potential purchasers and sellers of the Notes should be aware that they may be required to pay taxes or documentary
charges or duties in accordance with the laws and practices of the jurisdiction in which the Notes are transferred or other
jurisdictions. In some jurisdictions, no official statements of the tax authorities or court decisions may be available for
financial instruments such as the Notes. Potential investors are advised to consult their own tax adviser on the tax impacts
of the acquisition, holding, disposal and redemption of the Notes. The requirement to pay such taxes may reduce the
effective yield on the Notes and may also have an adverse impact on their value.
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IMPORTANT — EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes state "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retalil
Investors" as Applicable, the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered,
sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (EEA). For these purposes, a retail investor
means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (ii) a customer within
the meaning of Directive 2016/97/EU (as amended or superseded, the Insurance Distribution Directive), where that customer would
not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MIFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in
Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended (the Prospectus Regulation). Consequently no key information document required by
Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them
available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them
available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

IMPORTANT — UK RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes state "Prohibition of Sales to UK Retalil
Investors", as Applicable, the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered,
sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom (UK). For these purposes, a retail investor means a
person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of
domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions
of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that
customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms
part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA,; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it
forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No
1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the UK PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or
otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise
making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

MIFID Il product governance/target market — the Final Terms in respect of any Notes will include a legend entitled “MiFID Il product
governance” which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes
are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take into consideration
the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID Il is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate
distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the Product Governance rules under EU
Delegated 2017/593 (the MiFID Product Governance Rules), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of
such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger or the Dealer nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose
of the MIFID Product Governance Rules.

UK MiFIR product governance / target market — the Final Terms in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled “UK MiFIR
Product Governance” which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of
the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take into
consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product
Governance Sourcebook (the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules) is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate
distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules,
any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers
nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MIFIR Product Governance Rules.

Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from
time to time (the SFA) — Unless otherwise stated in the Final Terms in respect of any Notes, in connection with Section 309B of the
SFA and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the CMP Regulations 2018), the
relevant Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309(A)(1) of the SFA), that the Notes
are capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Specified
Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16:
Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

ARRANGER
Societe Generale

DEALERS
Societe Generale
SG Option Europe
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General Description of the Programme

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

The following description does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by, this Base Prospectus
and, in relation to the Terms and Conditions of any particular Tranche of Notes, the applicable Final Terms.

The following description constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 25(1) of Commission
Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980 as amended implementing the Prospectus Regulation.

Words and expressions defined in the sections headed "General Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes" or, as the case
may be, "General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes" shall have the same meanings in this general description.

Hyperlinks of websites referred to in the Base Prospectus are exclusively for information purposes and must not be regarded as part
of the Base Prospectus itself, unless the information to which they refer is incorporated by reference in the Base Prospectus.

1. PARTIES TO THE PROGRAMME

Issuers
- Societe Generale
Issuer Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): O2RNE8SIBXP4R0TD8PU41

- SG Issuer

Issuer Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): 549300QNMDBVTHX8H127
Guarantor

Societe Generale

Arranger
Societe Generale

Dealers
Societe Generale, SG Option Europe and any other Dealers appointed in accordance with the Programme Agreement.

Listing Agent, Principal Paying Agent, Registrar, Transfer Agent and Exchange Agent
Societe Generale Luxembourg S.A.

Paying Agents

Societe Generale (Paris); Societe Generale, Paris, Zurich Branch; Societe Generale, New York Branch; Societe Generale
Luxembourg S.A.; Societe Generale, Sucursal en Espafia; Societe Generale Securities Services S.p.A.; Computershare Investor
Services (Jersey) Limited (for Notes cleared with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited) ; and/or any such additional or successor paying
agent appointed in accordance with the General Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the General Terms and
Conditions of the French Law Notes.

The Issuers may appoint or (as the case may be) maintain an additional paying agent in each jurisdiction where Uncertificated Notes
are registered and, if appropriate, for so long as any Uncertificated Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the Issuers
will maintain a paying agent with a specified office in Luxembourg, all as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In respect of EUI Notes, the Issuers may appoint or (as the case may be) maintain an additional paying agent in the United Kingdom.
In respect of Uncertificated SIS Notes and Bearer SIS Notes, and other Notes listed on SIX Swiss Exchange, Societe Generale, Paris,
Zurich Branch shall act as Principal Swiss Paying Agent, together with further additional Swiss Paying Agents which may be specified
in the applicable Final Terms.

2. DESCRIPTION

Debt Instruments Issuance Programme

Notes issued under the Programme are intended to constitute "non-equity securities”, within the meaning of Article 2(c) of the
Prospectus Regulation.

3. METHOD OF DISTRIBUTION

Notes may be distributed to qualified investors and/or non-qualified investors, and in each case on a syndicated or non-syndicated
basis.

Notes may be offered at a price as specified in the applicable Final Terms which:

(a) will be the Issue Price or the Issue Price up to a maximum specified in the applicable Final Terms, represented by a distribution
fee payable upfront by the Issuer to the distributors; or
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(b) will be the market price which will be determined by the Dealer on a daily basis (and, as the case may be, in accordance with
market conditions then prevailing including the current market price of the Underlying(s)); and/or will evolve between the Issue Date
and the last day of the Offer Period on a linear basis in such way specified in the applicable Final Terms on the last day of the Offer
Period and will be provided by the Dealer to any Noteholders upon request; or

(c) will be fully subscribed by the Dealer and thereafter offered to the public in the secondary market in France, at the Issue Price,
during the Offer Period; or

(d) will evolve between dates specified in the applicable Final Terms in order to reach a specific maximum level on a specific date, in
accordance with the following formula:

Offer Price (t) = OfferPriceBase x (1 + ConvergencePercentage x Nb(t) / 360)

Where:

OfferPriceBase means a number specified in the applicable Final Terms;
ConvergencePercentage means a percentage specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

Nb(t) means the number of calendar days between the Issue Date and the date "t" on which the value of the Notes is calculated (both
dates included);or

(e) will be determined by the Dealer on a continuous basis in accordance with the market conditions then prevailing and depending
on market conditions, the offer price shall be equal to, higher or lower than the Issue Price; or

(f) will be provided by the Dealer by way of quotes made available in the market specified in the applicable Final Terms,
and which, in all cases, may be increased by such fees, if any, as disclosed in the applicable Final Terms.
4. CURRENCIES

The payment obligations in respect of any Notes may be in any currency or currencies agreed between the Issuer and the relevant
Dealer, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and regulations.

Payments in respect of Notes may, subject to compliance as aforesaid, be made in and/or linked to, any currency or currencies other
than the currency in which the Notes are denominated.

5. ISSUE PRICE

Notes may be issued on a fully-paid or a partly-paid basis and at an issue price (expressed either (i) as a percentage of the Aggregate
Nominal Amount or (ii) as an amount per Note of the relevant Specified Denomination) which is at par or at a discount to, or premium
over, par (as specified in the applicable Final Terms).

6. REDEMPTION

The applicable Final Terms for Notes other than Eligible Notes, will indicate either that the Notes cannot be redeemed prior to their
stated maturity (other than in specified instalments, if applicable, or for taxation reasons, regulatory reasons, an
administrator/benchmark event, a force majeure event or following an Event of Default or in the event of an optional outstanding Notes
trigger call or, in relation to Secured Notes only, following the occurrence of a Collateral Disruption Event) or that such Notes (if
Physical Delivery Notes) may be settled at maturity or otherwise by receipt by the holder(s) of a cash amount and/or by delivery of
the relevant Deliverable Assets or that such Notes will be redeemable at the option of the relevant Issuer and/or the Noteholders upon
giving not less than thirty nor more than forty five days' irrevocable notice (or such other notice period (if any) as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms) to the Noteholders or the relevant Issuer, as the case may be, on a date or dates specified prior to such stated
maturity and at a price or prices and on such terms as may be agreed between the Issuer and purchaser(s) as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms.

The applicable Final Terms may provide that Notes may be redeemable in two or more instalments of such amounts and on such
dates as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Eligible Non Structured Notes which are issued by Societe Generale only, may only be early redeemed upon the occurrence of a Tax
Event or Special Tax Event or a MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event , or at the option of the Issuer, as specified in the applicable
Final Terms. Eligible Structured Notes which are issued by Societe Generale only, may also be redeemed for a Tax Event or Special
Tax Event and in addition for regulatory reasons, an Administrator/Benchmark Event, a force majeure event, a MREL Disqualification
Event , a forced redemption or transfer event of Registered Notes or in the event that the outstanding aggregate nominal amount of
the Notes falls below or equals 10% of the initial aggregate nominal amount.

Notwithstanding the above, redemption, purchase or cancellation of Eligible Notes prior to their Maturity Date will be subject to the
prior written permission of the Relevant Resolution Authority.
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The Notes may also be redeemed early following the occurrence of certain disruption, adjustment, extraordinary or other events
linked to the Underlying assets.

7. MATURITIES OF THE NOTES
Any maturity as indicated in the applicable Final Terms subject to such minimum or maximum maturities as may be allowed or required
from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the relevant Issuer or the

relevant Specified Currency.

Notes issued by SG Issuer having a maturity of less than one year from the date of issue are subject to certain restrictions on their
denomination and distribution (see the paragraph "Certain Restrictions — Notes having a maturity of less than one year" below).

8. REDENOMINATION / CONVERSION OF CURRENCY AND/OR CONSOLIDATION
The applicable Final Terms may provide that certain Notes may be redenominated in/converted into euro. The relevant provisions
applicable to any such redenomination/conversion are contained in the General Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and

the General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes.

Notes denominated in a currency that may be redenominated/converted into euro may be subject to consolidation with other Notes
denominated in euro.

9. STATUS OF THE NOTES

Notes issued by Societe Generale will constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of Societe Generale
ranking as Senior Preferred Obligations (the “Senior Preferred Notes”).

Senior Preferred Notes, including where applicable any related Coupons, will constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and senior
obligations of the Issuer ranking at all times as senior preferred obligations (as provided for in Article L. 613-30-3-1-3° of the French
Code monétaire et financier (the Code)):

(i) pari passu with:

(a) all direct, unconditional, unsecured and senior obligations of Societe Generale outstanding as of the date of entry into force of the
Law on 11 December 2016; and

(b) all present or future senior preferred obligations (as provided for in Article L. 613-30-3-1-3° of the Code) of Societe Generale issued
after the date of entry into force of the Law on 11 December 2016;

(i) junior to all present or future claims of Societe Generale benefiting from statutorily preferred exceptions; and
(iii) senior to all present or future:

(a) senior non-preferred obligations (as provided for in Article L. 613-30-3-1-4° of the Code) of Societe Generale;
(b) subordinated obligations and deeply subordinated obligations of Societe Generale.

In the event any judgment is rendered by any competent court declaring the judicial liquidation of Societe Generale or Societe
Generale is liquidated for any other reason:

- the rights of payment of the holders of Senior Preferred Notes and, where applicable, any related Coupons shall be subordinated to
the payment in full of all present or future holders of, or creditors in respect of, claims benefiting from statutory preferred exceptions
(Preferred Creditors); and

- subject to such payment in full, the holders of Senior Preferred Notes and, where applicable, any related Coupons shall be paid in
priority to any present or future holders of, or creditors in respect of, obligations referred to in (iii) above; and

- in the event of incomplete payment of Preferred Creditors, the obligations of Societe Generale in connection with the Senior Preferred
Notes and, where applicable, any related Coupons will be terminated.

The holders of Senior Preferred Notes and, where applicable, any related Coupons shall be responsible for taking all necessary steps
for the orderly accomplishment of any such liquidation of Societe Generale in relation to any claims they may have against Societe
Generale.

Notes issued by SG Issuer (other than Secured Notes) will constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations
of SG Issuer .

Secured Notes will be issued by SG Issuer only.
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The provisions relating to Secured Notes are more fully described in the section "Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Secured
Notes".

10. EVENTS OF DEFAULT

For Eligible Notes that are issued by Societe Generale only, the Noteholders will not be able to accelerate the maturity of such
Notes upon the occurrence of an Event of Default.

11. CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS

Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting
requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which comply with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting
requirements in full force (see "Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions") including the following restrictions applicable at the date
of this Base Prospectus.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year

Notes issued by SG Issuer having a maturity of less than one year will, if the proceeds of the issue are accepted in the United
Kingdom, constitute deposits for the purposes of the prohibition on accepting deposits contained in Section 19 of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 unless they are issued to a limited class of professional investors and have a denomination of at least
£100,000 or its equivalent, see "Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions".

Under the Luxembourg act dated 16 July 2019 on prospectuses for securities (the Luxembourg Prospectus Act), which implements
the Prospectus Regulation, prospectuses relating to money market instruments having a maturity at issue of less than twelve months
and complying with the definition of securities (as defined in the Prospectus Regulation) do not constitute a prospectus for the
purposes of the Prospectus Regulation.

12. TYPE OF NOTES

No debt securities that are exchangeable or convertible into shares (under Article 19 of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU)
2019/980) will be issued under this Base Prospectus.

Any benchmark to which a Note refers will be provided by an administrator included in the register referred to in Article 36 of Regulation
(EVU) 2016/1011 (the EU Benchmarks Regulation) or the FCA's register of administrators in accordance with Article 36 of Regulation
(EU) 2016/1011 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the UK Benchmarks Regulation).

Fixed Rate Notes

Fixed rate interest will be payable on such date(s) as indicated in the applicable Final Terms and on redemption and will be calculated
on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms.

Partly Paid Notes

The Issue Price of Partly Paid Notes will be payable in more than one instalment.

While any part payments of the subscription moneys due from the holder of Partly Paid Notes are overdue, no interest in a Temporary
or Permanent Global Note representing such Notes may be exchanged for Definitive Bearer Notes.

If any Noteholder fails to pay any part payment due on any Partly Paid Notes within the time specified, the relevant Issuer may have
a right to redeem such Notes if so specified, and on the terms set out, in the applicable Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined (i) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest rate swap
transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an agreement evidenced by a confirmation incorporating the 2021 ISDA
Definitions (as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. and as amended and updated as at the Issue
Date of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series) or (ii) on the basis of a reference rate appearing on an agreed screen
page of a commercial quotation service.

The margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) for each issue
of Floating Rate Notes and specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes may also have either a minimum interest rate or a maximum interest rate or both.

Interest will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s) as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.
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Physical Delivery Notes

Payments in respect of Physical Delivery Notes (whether in respect of principal and/or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise)
and any delivery of any Deliverable Asset(s) in respect of Physical Delivery Notes will be made in accordance with the terms of the
applicable Final Terms, subject always to applicable securities laws.

Zero Coupon Notes
Zero Coupon Notes will not bear interest other than in the case of late payment.
Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed
rate. Where the relevant Issuer has the right to effect such a conversion, this will affect the secondary market and the market value
of the Notes since the relevant Issuer may be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing.

Dual Currency Notes

Payments in respect of Dual Currency Notes (whether in respect of principal and/or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) will
be made in such currency or currencies, and based on such rate or rates of exchange, as the relevant Issuer and the relevant
purchaser(s) may agree (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms).

Other provisions in relation to Floating Rate Notes and Structured Notes

Floating Rate Notes and Structured Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate or both, or be subject to
a rate multiplier, in each case as set forth in the applicable Final Terms.

13. TYPE OF STRUCTURED NOTES
Structured Notes

Structured Notes will provide investors with an exposure to one or more Underlyings. Payments of any amounts in respect of
Structured Notes will be calculated by reference to such Underlying. ltem "Type of Structured Notes” of the applicable Final Terms
will specify the relevant type of Underlying of the Structured Notes. Any Structured Note may be exposed to more than one Underlying,
in which case more than one type of Structured Note will be specified. For each such Underlying and type of Note, the relevant
Additional Terms and Conditions will apply. The application of such Additional Terms and Conditions will also be specified in item
"Type of Structured Notes” of the applicable Final Terms.

The applicable Final Terms will specify the relevant Underlying and state where information on the relevant Underlying, in particular
on its past and future performance and on its volatility, can be found and whether or not the relevant Issuer intends to provide further
information on the Underlying.

Each type of Underlying for Structured Notes is further described below.
Share Linked Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Share Linked Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more
shares or depositary receipts as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final
Terms. Share Linked Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked Notes may also provide for redemption by physical delivery of the
Deliverable Asset(s) as set out in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Share Linked Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked Notes.
Share Linked Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment if certain corporate
events, delisting, merger or de-merger, nationalisation or insolvency occur, all as more fully described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Share Linked Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked Notes.

Index Linked Notes
Payments of principal and/or of interest at maturity or otherwise in respect of Index Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to
the performance of one or more Indices as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree and as indicated in the applicable

Final Terms.

Index Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Index Linked Notes.

Index Linked Notes are linked to the performance of an index that is not composed by the relevant Issuer. In accordance with the
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980 as amended, the applicable Final Terms contains the name of the Index and
an indication of where to obtain information about the index.

SGI Index Linked Notes
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Payments of principal and/or of interest at maturity or otherwise in respect of SGI Index Linked Notes will be calculated by reference
to one or more Societe Generale Indices as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree and as indicated in the applicable
Final Terms.

SGI Index Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for SGI Index Linked Notes.

SGI Index Linked Notes are linked to the performance of an index that is composed by Societe Generale or any other legal entity
belonging to the Societe Generale group (an SGI Index).

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the administrator of the SGI Indices, Societe Generale, is included in the register of
administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by ESMA pursuant to Articles 34 and 36 of the EU Benchmarks
Regulation.

In respect of the description of each SGI Index, this Base Prospectus contains in the section "Description of Societe Generale Indices
("SGI Indices")" in accordance with Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980 as amended , an index description including
the essential characteristics to enable an investor to fully understand the index and its dynamics and make an informed assessment.

It should be noted that additional SGI Indices may be used as underlyings following the publication of a supplement in accordance
with the provisions of Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation, containing an index description of such additional Indices.

ETF Linked Notes

Payments in respect of ETF Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more exchange traded funds as agreed between
the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms. Subject to applicable laws and regulations,
ETF Linked Notes may also provide for redemption by physical delivery of the Deliverable Asset(s) as set out in the Additional Terms
and Conditions for ETP Linked Notes and for ETF Linked Notes. ETF Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustments,
all as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for ETP Linked Notes and for ETF Linked Notes.

ETP Linked Notes

Payments in respect of ETP Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to the performance of one or more exchange trade products
as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree and as indicated in the applicable Final Terms. ETP Linked Notes may
also provide for redemption by physical delivery of the Deliverable Asset(s) as set out in the Additional Terms and Conditions for ETP
Linked Notes and for ETF Linked Notes. ETP Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described
in the Additional Terms and Condition for ETP Linked Notes and for ETF Linked Notes.

Reference Rate Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Reference Rate Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more reference rate as agreed between
the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Reference Rate Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Reference Rate Linked Notes.

Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more foreign exchange rate as
agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Notes.

Commodity Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Commodity Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more commodities and/or commodity
indices as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Commodity Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Commodity Linked Notes.

Fund Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Fund Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to units, interests or shares in a single fund or basket of
funds on such terms as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final
Terms. Subject to applicable laws and regulations, Fund Linked Notes may also provide for redemption by physical delivery of the
Deliverable Asset(s) as set out in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked Notes.

Fund Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment, as applicable, or if certain corporate events occur, all as more
fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked Notes.
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Credit Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Credit Linked Notes will be linked to the credit, and possibly the CDS spread, of a specified entity or entities
and will be issued on such terms as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

In the event of the occurrence of certain circumstances (which may include, amongst other things, Bankruptcy, Failure to Pay,
Obligation Acceleration, Obligation Default, Repudiation/Moratorium or Restructuring) in relation to a Reference Entity or, with respect
to Basket Notes and Tranche Notes, Reference Entities, in each case as specified in the applicable Final Terms, the obligation of the
relevant Issuer to pay principal at maturity, may be replaced by (i) an obligation to pay other amounts which are equal to either certain
fixed amount(s) as specified in the applicable Final Terms or amounts calculated by reference to the value of the Deliverable Asset(s)
(which may, in each case, be less than the par value of the Notes at the relevant time) and/or (ii) an obligation to deliver the Deliverable
Asset(s), all as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes. In addition, interest-bearing Credit
Linked Notes may cease to bear interest on or prior to the date of occurrence of such circumstances.

Credit Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Credit Linked Notes.

Inflation Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Inflation Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to inflation indices as agreed between the relevant Issuer
and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Inflation Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Inflation Linked Notes.

Bond Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Bond Linked Notes will be linked to the credit of a specified obligation (the "Bond" as specified in the applicable
Final Terms) issued by a specified issuer (the "Bond Issuer" as specified in the applicable Final Terms) and will be issued on such
terms as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In the event of the occurrence of certain circumstances (which may include, amongst other things, Bond Acceleration, Bond Default,
Bond Failure to Pay or Bond Restructuring) in relation to a Bond or Bonds (with respect to Basket of Bond Linked Notes) in each case
as specified in the applicable Final Terms, the obligation of the relevant Issuer to pay principal at maturity may be replaced by (i) an
obligation to pay other amounts which are equal to either certain fixed amount(s) as specified in the applicable Final Terms or amounts
calculated by reference to the value of the underlying assets (which may, in each case, be less than the par value of the Notes at the
relevant time). In addition, interest-bearing Bond Linked Notes may cease to bear interest on or prior to the date of occurrence of
such circumstances.

Bond Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Bond Linked Notes.

Non Equity Security Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Non Equity Security Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more non equity securities or
futures contracts thereon as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final
Terms. Non Equity Security Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment, as more fully described in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Non Equity Security Linked Notes.

Future Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Future Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more future contracts as agreed between the
relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms. Future Linked Notes may be subject to early
redemption or adjustments, as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Future Linked Notes.

Portfolio Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Portfolio Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to a portfolio of underlyings as the relevant Issuer and
the relevant Dealer(s) may agree and as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Portfolio Linked Notes may also provide for redemption by physical delivery of the Deliverable Asset(s) as set out in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Portfolio Linked Notes. Portfolio Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more
fully described in the Additional Terms and Condition for Portfolio Linked Notes.

Dividend Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Dividend Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to dividends linked to one or more shares, depositary
receipts and/or indices as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final
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Terms. Dividend Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Dividend Linked Notes.

Preference Share Linked Notes

The redemption Amount payable in respect of Preference Share Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to the performance of
a single specified preference share of the Preference Share Issuer as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant
purchaser(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms. Preference Share Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption as more
fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Preference Share Linked Notes.

Warrant Linked Notes

The redemption amount payable in respect of Warrant Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to the performance of warrants
issued by the Warrants Issuer as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant purchaser(s) and specified in the applicable
Final Terms.

Warrant Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Warrant
Linked Notes.

Positive Impact Notes

Use of proceeds

The net proceeds from each issue of Notes by Societe Generale will be used for the general financing purposes of the Group.

If in respect of any particular issue of Notes, it is the Issuer’s intention to apply an amount equivalent to the net proceeds of the issue
to finance or refinance (via direct expenditures, via direct investments or via loans), in part or in full, eligible activities (such activities,
the Eligible Activities), as defined in the sustainable and positive impact bond framework of the Issuer, as amended and

supplemented from time to time (the Framework), such use will be stated in the Final Terms of such Notes (the Positive Impact
Notes).
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RISK FACTORS

The discussion below is of a general nature and is intended to describe various risk factors associated with an investment
in the Notes. You should carefully consider the following discussion of risks, and any risk factors included in the documents
incorporated by reference herein.

The Issuers and the Guarantor believe that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in Notes
issued under the Programme, but the failure of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor to pay interest (if any), principal or other amounts
on or in connection with any Notes may occur or arise for other reasons which may not be considered significant risks by the Issuers
or the Guarantor based on information currently available to them or which they may not currently be able to anticipate.

Words and expressions defined elsewhere in this Base Prospectus shall have the same meanings when used in this section.

To the best of each Issuer’s knowledge, in each category of Risk Factors, the risk factor identified by the Issuers as the most important
appears first. For the rest of the risk factors, the order of appearance is not an indication of the importance or the likelihood of their
occurrence.

1. RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP

1.1 Risks related to the macroeconomic, geopolitical, market and regulatory environments

These risks are detailed on pages 148 to 153 of the 2022 Universal Registration Document and pages 30 to 31 of the First Amendment
to the 2022 Universal Registration Document incorporated by reference (see Section "Documents Incorporated by Reference").

1.2 Credit and counterparty credit risks

These risks are detailed on pages 154 to 155 of the 2022 Universal Registration Document incorporated by reference (see Section
"Documents Incorporated by Reference").

1.3 Market and structural risks

These risks are detailed on pages 155 to 156 of the 2022 Universal Registration Document incorporated by reference (see Section
"Documents Incorporated by Reference").

1.4 Operational risks (including risk of inappropriate conduct) and model risks

These risks are detailed on pages 156 to 159 of the 2022 Universal Registration Document and page 32 of the First Amendment to
the 2022 Universal Registration Document incorporated by reference (see Section "Documents Incorporated by Reference").

1.5 Liquidity and funding risks

These risks are detailed on pages 159 to 160 of the 2022 Universal Registration Document incorporated by reference (see Section
"Documents Incorporated by Reference").

1.6 Risks related to insurance activities

These risks are detailed on page 160 of the 2022 Universal Registration Document incorporated by reference (see Section
"Documents Incorporated by Reference").

2. RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUERS AND THE GUARANTOR
2.1 Factors that may affect Societe Generale's ability, as Issuer or Guarantor, to fulfil its obligations under the Notes

In case of Notes issued by Societe Generale, if Societe Generale defaults or goes bankrupt, the Noteholders may suffer a partial or
total loss of the amount invested. If Societe Generale is subject to measures in respect of the regulations relating to the statutory bail-
in mechanism (bail-in), their debt may be reduced to zero, converted into equity (shares) or debt securities or undergo a maturity
postponement. Their investment is not covered by any guarantee or compensation system. Societe Generale’s credit ratings are an
assessment of its ability to honour its commitments. Consequently, any actual or anticipated downgrading of Societe Generale’s credit
ratings may affect the market value of the Notes.

Societe Generale unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees the payment of all amounts due under the Notes by SG Issuer and as
a result the Noteholders are exposed to the credit risk of Societe Generale as Guarantor. Societe Generale’s credit ratings are an
assessment of its ability to honour its commitments. Consequently, any actual or anticipated downgrades of Societe Generale’s credit
ratings may affect the market value of the Notes.

Even though Senior Preferred Notes that are issued only by Societe Generale are senior to the Senior Non-Preferred Obligations of
Societe Generale, they may still be exposed to potential losses as a result of the resolution of Societe Generale in accordance with
the applicable resolution law (Senior Preferred Notes and Senior Non Preferred Obligations are defined in Condition 2 of the English
Law Notes and of the French Law Notes).
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2.2 Factors that may affect SG Issuer's ability, as Issuer, to fulfil its obligations under the Notes

In case of Notes issued by SG Issuer , SG Issuer's activity consists inter alia in issuing debt securities and the funds collected are
systematically deposited with Societe Generale in the form of either term loans or swap contracts and pursuant to which SG Issuer
will receive from Societe Generale the amounts due under the Notes. SG Issuer's ability to make payments under the Notes will
therefore depend primarily on the performance of its obligations by Societe Generale under such hedging transactions entered into
between SG Issuer and Societe Generale.

If SG Issuer defaults or goes bankrupt, as a result of the limited recourse clause on SG Issuer , included in the terms and conditions
of the Notes, the Noteholders have no recourse against SG Issuer and any amount due and unpaid by SG Issuer must be claimed
against Societe Generale as Guarantor.

If the resolution authorities take structural bail-in measures in accordance with the regulations relating to the recovery and resolution
of credit institutions and investment firms, against securities issued by Societe Generale or SG Issuer (statutory bail-in) or against
structured securities of Societe Generale (contractual bail-in) then the investment of the Noteholders may be reduced to zero,
converted into equity (shares) or debt securities or be subject to a maturity postponement and in such case the obligations of Societe
Generale as Guarantor shall be adjusted to such reduction, conversion or postponement. Their investment is not covered by any
guarantee or indemnity system.

2.3 Information in relation with the lack of independence of each Issuer and, as the case may be, the Guarantor - Conflict of
interest

Societe Generale will act as issuer under the Programme, as the Guarantor of the Notes issued by SG Issuer, as Calculation Agent
and also as provider of hedging instruments to each Issuer. As a result, investors will be exposed not only to the credit risk of Societe
Generale but also to operational risks arising from the lack of independence of Societe Generale, in assuming its duties and obligations
as the Guarantor, Calculation Agent and provider of the hedging instruments. Whilst compliance procedures require effective
segregation of duties and responsibilities between the relevant divisions within the Guarantor, the possibility of conflicts of interest
arising cannot be wholly eliminated.

The Group provides a full array of capital market products and advisory services worldwide including the issuance of "structured
securities” where the amounts due under the Notes are linked to the performance of underlying assets, and may possess or acquire
material and/or confidential information about the underlying assets and/or the reference entities which is not public knowledge and
which are or could be important to the Notes.

Such business activities and such material and/or confidential information may cause consequences adverse to the Noteholders. The
Issuers, the Guarantor and any other member of the Group have no obligation to disclose such information about such underlying
assets or the obligors to which they relate or the reference entities.

The Calculation Agent, the Arranger, the Dealers, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agent and the Exchange Agent may
be all part of the Group. A deterioration of Societe Generale's credit risk would have a negative impact on the obligations of each of
the entities listed above in relation to the Notes. If one of these entities does not respect its obligations towards the relevant Issuer
and/or the Guarantor, this could have a negative impact on the value of the Notes and the Noteholders may therefore lose part or all
of their investment in the Notes.

2.4 Risk relating to the Restructuring Directive

Société Geénérale is a société anonyme with its corporate seat in France. In the event that Société Générale becomes insolvent,
insolvency proceedings will be generally governed by the insolvency laws of France to the extent that, where applicable, the “centre
of main interests” (as construed under Regulation (EU) 2015/848, as amended) of Société Générale is located in France. The Directive
(EU) 2019/1023 on preventive restructuring frameworks, on discharge of debt and disqualifications, and on measures to increase the
efficiency of procedures concerning restructuring, insolvency and discharge of debt, and amending Directive (EU) 2017/1132 has
been transposed into French law by the Ordonnance 2021-1193 dated 15 September 2021. Such ordonnance, applicable as from 1st
October 2021, amends French insolvency laws notably with regard to the process of adoption of restructuring plans under insolvency
proceedings. According to this ordonnance, “affected parties” (including notably creditors, and therefore the Noteholders) shall be
treated in separate classes which reflect certain class formation criteria for the purpose of adopting a restructuring plan. Classes shall
be formed in such a way that each class comprises claims or interests with rights that reflect a sufficient commonality of interest based
on verifiable criteria. Noteholders will no longer deliberate on the proposed restructuring plan in a separate assembly, meaning that
they will no longer benefit from a specific veto power on this plan. Instead, as any other affected parties, the Noteholders will be
grouped into one or several classes (with potentially other types of creditors) and their dissenting vote may possibly be overridden by
a cross-class cram down.

Both the scopes of the Directive (EU) 2019/1023 and the ordonnance do not cover financial institutions, unless the competent authority
chooses to make them applicable. In such a case, the application of French insolvency law to a credit institution as Société Générale
is also subject to the prior permission of the Autorité de contréle prudentiel et de résolution before the opening of any safeguard,
judicial reorganisation or liquidation procedures. This limitation will affect the ability of the Noteholders to recover their investments in
the Notes.

Should such proceedings be opened, the commencement of insolvency proceedings against Société Générale would have a material
adverse effect on the market value of Notes issued by Société Générale. As a consequence, any decisions taken by a class of affected
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parties could negatively and significantly impact the Noteholders and cause them to lose all or part of their investment, should they
not be able to recover all or part of the amounts due to them from the Issuer.

2.5 Risk relating to the Issuer substitution

Societe Generale or SG Issuer may be replaced by each other or (with respect to English Law Notes only) by any subsidiary or any
other third party as principal obligor in respect of the Notes without the consent of the relevant Noteholders; provided certain conditions
are satisfied (inter alia no withholding tax triggered by the substitution, guarantee by Societe Generale to be maintained as the case
may be). Any such substitution may impact the value of the Notes and consequently the Noteholders may lose part or all of their
investment in the Notes.

3. RISKS RELATED TO THE NOTES
3.1 Risks related to the characteristics of the Notes
3.1.1. Risks linked to Notes including a risk of capital loss

For Notes which include a risk of capital loss, the redemption value of such Notes may be less than the amount initially invested. In a
worst case scenario, investors may lose their entire investment. Moreover, regardless of the level of the capital protection, the investor
may lose part or all of the initially invested amount, if the Notes are sold by the investor before the maturity date.

3.1.2 Risks linked to Notes offering a full capital protection at maturity date

For Notes which offer a full capital protection (100%) of the Specified Denomination at maturity date, the investor may, however, lose
part or all of the initially invested amount if the Notes are sold by the investor before the maturity date (since the value of the Notes
during their lifetime may be lower than the amount of the capital protection due to market fluctuations).

3.1.3 Notes issued by Societe Generale that are Eligible Notes
The qualification of Notes issued by Societe Generale as Eligible Notes is subject to uncertainty

The Notes issued by Societe Generale specified in the applicable Final Terms as Eligible Notes are intended to be eligible liabilities
available to meet the MREL or TLAC Requirements or MREL Requirements as the case may be (all as defined in Condition 2 of the
English Law Notes and of the French Law Notes) (the “Eligible Notes”). If they are not Eligible Notes (or if they initially are Eligible
Notes and subsequently become ineligible due to a change in the criteria required from eligible liabilities available to meet the MREL
or TLAC Requirements or MREL Requirements as the case may be), then a MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event or a MREL
Disqualification Event as the case may be will occur and the Notes may be subject to early redemption subject to the Relevant
Resolution Authority's written permission and as a result, investors may lose part of or their entire investment.

Risks linked to the absence of events of default with respect to Eligible Notes issued by Societe Generale

For Eligible Notes, the Noteholders will not be able to accelerate the maturity of such Notes. Accordingly, if Societe Generale fails to
meet any obligations under such Notes, investors will not have the right of acceleration of principal and accrued interests. Upon a
payment default, the sole remedy available to Noteholders and, where applicable, Couponholders for recovery of amounts due in
respect of any payment of principal or interest on such Notes will be the institution of judicial proceedings to enforce such payment.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer will not, by virtue of the institution of any such proceedings, be obliged to pay any sum or
sums sooner than the initially scheduled due date but with a potential further deterioration of its financial situation until then. Therefore,
the liquidity and market value of the Notes may be adversely affected and investors who sell Notes on the secondary market could
lose all or part of their investment.

There is a significant degree of regulatory uncertainty regarding the potential occurrence of a MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event
or a MREL Disqualification Event affecting Eligible Notes

A MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event could apply in respect of Eligible Non Structured Notes or a MREL Disqualification Event
will apply in respect of Eligible Structured Notes, as further described in Condition 2 and Condition 6.2.5 of the English Law Notes
and of the French Law Notes).

The Capital Requirements Regulation Il and the BRRD Il (as defined below) give effect to the total loss-absorbing capacity (TLAC)
Term Sheet published by Financial Stability Board (FSB) and modify the minimum requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities
(MREL) and TLAC eligibility. Whilst there are a number of similarities between the MREL requirements and the FSB’s final principles
regarding TLAC, there are certain differences. Societe Generale is currently unable to predict whether all or part of the Eligible Notes
may cease to comply with the minimum requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities and/or total loss absorbing capacity
requirements applicable to Société Générale and/or the Societe Generale Group and thus be excluded fully or partially from the MREL
or TLAC Requirements .

A change in the classification of the Notes under the MREL or TLAC Requirements, that was not reasonably foreseeable by Société
Générale at the Issue Date of the Notes, and that would be likely to result in or has resulted in the Notes being fully or partially
excluded from the eligible liabilities available to meet the MREL or TLAC Requirements could result in a MREL or TLAC
Disqualification Event (for Eligible Non Structured Notes) or a MREL Disqualification Event (for Eligible Structured Notes). The
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occurrence of such MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event or MREL Disqualification Event may have a material adverse effect on the
value of the Eligible Notes and Noteholders may receive less than the full amount due under such Notes.

3.1.4 Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

The Final Terms may specify that Notes can be subject to an early redemption which can be triggered at the Issuer’s sole discretion
either on certain predefined dates or at any time during the life of the Notes. The possibility of an early redemption of the Notes at the
Issuer’s discretion may limit the market value of such Note. Before or during each period during which the Issuer may elect to redeem
the Notes, their market value will not rise substantially above their redemption price for Notes and the Noteholders will not benefit
from the subsequent performance of the underlying(s).

Notwithstanding the above, for Eligible Notes, the redemption, purchase or cancellation prior their Maturity Date will be subject to the
prior permission of the Relevant Resolution Authority.

3.1.5 Notes subject to automatic redemption

The Final Terms may specify that the Notes can be subject to an automatic redemption for Notes if the level of the underlying(s)
becomes higher than, equal to or below one or more predefined level(s) on either predefined dates or at any time during the life of
the Notes. As a result, for those Notes when the level of the underlying(s) reaches the predefined level(s), the Noteholders will not
benefit from the performance of the underlying(s) subsequent to such event.

3.1.6 Early redemption at the option of the Issuer following a Tax Event, Special Tax Event, Regulatory Event, an
Administrator/Benchmark Event or Force Majeure Event or for a decrease in issuance size, a MREL Disqualification Event
or a MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event

The applicable Final Terms of Notes other than Eligible Notes, will indicate either that the Notes cannot be redeemed prior to their
stated maturity (other than in specified instalments, if applicable, or for taxation reasons, regulatory reasons, an
administrator/benchmark event, a force majeure event or following an Event of Default or in the event of an optional outstanding Notes
trigger call or, in relation to Secured Notes only, following the occurrence of a Collateral Disruption Event) or that such Notes will be
redeemable at the option of the relevant Issuer and/or the Noteholders upon giving not less than thirty nor more than forty five days'
irrevocable notice (or such other notice period (if any) as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) to the Noteholders or the relevant
Issuer, as the case may be, on a date or dates specified prior to such stated maturity and at a price or prices and on such terms as
may be agreed between the Issuer and purchaser(s) as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Eligible Non Structured Notes which are issued by Societe Generale only, may only be early redeemed upon the occurrence of a Tax
Event, Special Tax Event or a MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event , or at the option of the Issuer, as specified in the applicable Final
Terms. Eligible Structured Notes which are issued by Societe Generale only, may also be redeemed for a Tax Event, a Special Tax
Event and in addition, for regulatory reasons, an Administrator/Benchmark Event, a Force Majeure Event, a MREL Disqualification
Event , upon a forced redemption or transfer event of Registered Notes or, if specified in the event that the outstanding aggregate
nominal amount of the Notes falls below or equals 10% of the initial aggregate nominal amount.

This could result in Noteholders receiving an early redemption amount which may be lower than the amount initially invested
(regardless of the level of capital protection at maturity, if any) and being redeemed earlier than they had anticipated and the
Noteholders will not benefit from the performance of the underlying asset(s) subsequently to such event.

The early redemption of Eligible Notes may not occur if the Relevant Resolution Authority refuses to give its permission, and if so, the
market value of the relevant Eligible Notes may be affected negatively, and investors may incur losses in respect of their investments
in such Notes.

3.1.7 Risks related to adjustment, substitution or cancellation of the Notes

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes give the Calculation Agent a certain discretion to determine whether any event(s) affecting
the Notes or the underlying(s) has occurred in accordance with such Terms and Conditions. The Calculation Agent also has certain
discretion in order to determine the consequences thereof for the Notes, the underlying(s) or the hedging transactions, including
determination of the price of the underlying(s) and the choice between (a) mechanisms to adjust or substitute the underlying(s), (b)
the deduction of the increase in the cost of hedging of any amount due, (c) the monetisation and, consequently, the de-indexation of
the formula of the Notes for all or part of the amounts due under the Notes on the underlying(s) and/or (d) the early redemption of the
Notes by the Issuer, without any obligation to take into account the interest of the Noteholders. In the absence of manifest or proven
error, these adjustments, substitutions or cancellation decisions will be binding upon the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, the Agent
and the Noteholders. Each of these measures imposed on the Notes may result in the total or partial loss of the amount invested
(regardless of the level of capital protection of the Notes, if any).

3.1.8 Trading in the Notes and/or Underlyings may be suspended, interrupted or terminated

If the Notes are listed on one (or more) regulated or unregulated markets, the trading of such Notes may — depending on the rules
applicable to such markets — be suspended or interrupted by the respective stock exchange or a competent regulatory authority upon
the occurrence of a number of reasons, including violation of price limits, breach of statutory provisions, occurrence of operational
problems of the stock exchange or generally if deemed required in order to secure a functioning market or to safeguard the interests
of investors. Furthermore, trading in the Notes may be terminated, either upon decision of the stock exchange or a regulatory authority.
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Where trading in an Underlying of the Notes is suspended, interrupted or terminated, trading in the respective Notes will usually also
be suspended, interrupted or terminated and existing orders for the sale or purchase of such Notes will usually be cancelled. Investors
should note that the Issuer has no influence on trading suspension or interruptions and that investors in any event must bear the risks
connected therewith. In particular, investors may not be able to sell their Notes where trading is suspended, interrupted or terminated,
and the stock exchange quotations of such Notes may not adequately reflect the price of such Notes. All these risks would, if they
materialise, have a material adverse effect on the value of the Notes and investors may therefore lose part or all of their investment
in the Notes.

3.1.9 Risk of leveraged exposure

The redemption formula of certain Notes may embed a leverage factor increasing the exposure to the relevant underlying and will
amplify both return and losses. While the use of leverage allows for potential multiples of a return (assuming a return is achieved)
when the applicable underlying moves in the anticipated direction, it will conversely magnify losses when such underlying moves
against expectations of investors. Prospective investors should note that Notes will involve a higher level of risk, and that whenever
there are losses such losses may be higher than those of a similar security which is not leveraged. Investors should therefore only
invest in such Notes if they fully understand the effects of the leverage that may be embedded in such Notes whose market value
may be significantly more volatile than the market value of Notes that do not have this feature.

3.1.10 Risks relating to the Paying Agent

Any payments to Noteholders will be made by the Paying Agent on behalf of the Issuers. The Issuers shall transfer to the Paying
Agent such amount as may be due under the Notes on or before each date on which such payment in respect of the Notes becomes
due.

If the Paying Agent, while holding funds for payment to the Noteholders, is declared insolvent, the Noteholders may not receive all (or
any part) of amounts due to them from the Paying Agent in which case the Noteholders will have to claim any payment directly from
the Issuer.

3.1.11 Hedging and trading activity by the Issuers, the Guarantor and other members of the Group could potentially affect
the value of the Notes

In the ordinary course of their business, whether or not they will engage in any secondary market making activities, the Issuers, the
Guarantor and/or any other members of the Group may effect transactions for their own account or for the account of their customers
and hold long or short positions in any underlying or reference asset(s), reference entities or obligors or related derivatives.

These transactions may affect the Issuers' hedging positions which could in turn impact the market value of the Notes and
consequently investors may lose part or all of their investment in the Notes.

3.1.12 Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The relevant Issuer will pay principal and interest amounts on the Notes in the Relevant Currency. This presents certain risks relating
to currency conversions if Noteholders’ financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the Investor's
Currency) other than the Relevant Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes
due to devaluation of the Relevant Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction
over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative
to the Relevant Currency would decrease (1) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor's Currency
equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor's Currency equivalent market value of the Notes.

The Issuer may issue Dual Currency Notes where the amount of principal and/or interest payable are dependent upon movements in
currency exchange rates or are payable in one or more currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are
denominated. Accordingly, an investment in Dual Currency Notes may bear similar market risks to a direct foreign exchange
investment and prospective investors should take advice accordingly.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an
applicable exchange rate. As a result, Noteholders may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

3.1.13 Partly-Paid Notes

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one part payment by the investor. Failure by the
investor to pay any subsequent part payment could result in an investor losing some or all of his investment. In the event that investors
purchase Partly-paid Notes on the secondary market prior to all the part payments being made and these Notes being fully paid up,
such investors incur the risk to be required to pay such remaining part payments in addition to the price they paid to purchase these
Notes.

3.1.14 Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes are Notes which bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating
rate to a fixed rate. Such a feature to convert the interest basis, and any conversion of the interest basis, may affect the market value
of such Notes as the change of interest basis may result in a lower interest return for Noteholders. If the Issuer converts from a fixed
rate to a floating rate in such circumstances, the spread on the floating rate may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on
comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the
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rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate in such circumstances, the fixed rate may be lower than
then prevailing rates on those Notes and could affect the market value of an investment in the relevant Notes.

3.1.15 Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of Notes issued at a substantial discount to or premium from their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation
to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing securities. The longer the remaining term of such
Notes, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

3.1.16 Risks relating to Physical Delivery Notes

In the case of Notes which are redeemable by delivery of assets, if a Settlement Disruption Event occurs or exists on the due date for
redemption of the Notes and prevents delivery of the asset, the Issuer shall, in lieu of delivering the Physical Delivery Amount, pay,
in respect of each Note, the fair market value of the number of Underlying(s) (the Fair Market Value) to be delivered converted into
the Specified Currency at the current exchange rate, if applicable. The Fair Market Value will be determined by the Calculation Agent
on the basis of the market conditions on the first Business Day following the Delivery Period.

3.1.17 Risks relating to Notes referencing a benchmark

In accordance with the provisions of Condition 4 of the Terms and Condition of the Notes, the Rate of Interest in respect of the Floating
Rate Notes may be determined by reference to Reference Rates that constitute "benchmarks" for the purposes of the EU Benchmarks
Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable.

Interest rates and indices which are deemed to be "benchmarks" are the subject of national and international regulatory guidance and
proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst others are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause
such benchmarks to perform differently than in the past, to disappear entirely, to be subject to revised calculation methods, or have
other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Notes linked to
or referencing such a "benchmark".

The EU Benchmarks Regulation, among other things, applies to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a
benchmark and the use of a benchmark within the EEA.

The UK Benchmarks Regulation, among other things, applies to the provision of benchmarks and the use of a benchmark within the
UK. Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 4.2.3.5 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, which seek to mitigate any adverse
effects for the Noteholders, the EU Benchmarks Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable could have a
material impact on any Notes linked to or referencing a "benchmark”, in particular:

- an index that is a "benchmark" may not be permitted to be used by a supervised entity (including the Issuer) in certain ways if its
administrator does not obtain authorisation or registration or, if based in a non-EU jurisdiction, the administrator is not recognised as
equivalent or recognised or endorsed and the transitional provisions do not apply; and

- if the methodology or other terms of the "benchmark" could be changed in order to comply with the requirements of the EU
Benchmarks Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable. Such changes could, among other things, have the
effect of reducing or increasing the rate or level or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the "benchmark”
and as a consequence,

Noteholders could lose part of their investment or receive less income than would have been the case without such change.

More broadly, any of the international or national reforms, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of "benchmarks", could increase
the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a "benchmark" and complying with any such regulations
or requirements.

Such factors may have the following effects on certain "benchmarks": (i) discourage market participants from continuing to ad minister
or contribute to the "benchmark"; (ii) trigger changes in the rules or methodologies used in the "benchmark" or (iii) lead to the
disappearance of the "benchmark".

Any of the above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international or national reforms or other initiatives or
investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any Notes linked to or referencing a "benchmark".

Investors should be aware that, if a benchmark were discontinued or otherwise unavailable, the rate of interest on Notes which are
linked to or which reference such benchmark will be determined for the relevant period by the fall-back provisions applicable to such
Notes — please refer to the risk factor entitled "The occurrence of an Index Event could have a material adverse effect on the value of
and return on any such Notes linked to or referencing such "benchmarks" below). Depending on the manner in which a benchmark
rate is to be determined under the Terms and Conditions, this may in certain circumstances (i) result in the application of a backward-
looking, risk-free overnight rate, whereas the benchmark rate is expressed on the basis of a forward-looking term and includes a risk-
element based on inter-bank lending or (ii) if Screen Rate Determination applies, result in the effective application of a fixed rate
based on the rate which applied in the previous period when the benchmark was available. Any of the foregoing could have an adverse
effect on the value or liquidity of, and return on, any Notes linked to or referencing a "benchmark".
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Regulation (EU) 2019/2089 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019 has amended the existing provisions
of the EU Benchmarks Regulation by extending the transitional provisions applicable to material benchmarks and third-country
benchmarks until the end of 2021. The existing provisions of the EU Benchmarks Regulation were further amended by Regulation
(EU) 2021/168 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 10 February 2021 published in the Official Journal of the European
Union on 12 February 2021 (the Amending Regulation).

The Amending Regulation introduces a harmonised approach to deal with the cessation or wind-down of certain benchmarks by
conferring the power to designate a statutory replacement for certain benchmarks on the European Commission, such replacement
being limited to contracts and financial instruments. In addition, the transitional provisions applicable to third country benchmarks are
extended until the end of 2023. The European Commission is empowered to further extend this period until the end of 2025, if
necessary. The Amending Regulation applies as of 13 February 2021.

The FCA confirmed on 5 March 2021 that all LIBOR settings will either cease to be provided by any administrator or no longer be
representative:

- from 31 December 2021, in the case of all sterling, euro, Swiss franc and Japanese yen settings, and the 1-week and 2-month US
dollar settings; and

- immediately after 30 June 2023, in the case of the remaining US dollar settings.

Regulatory authorities and central banks are strongly encouraging the transition away from IBORs, such as LIBOR and EURIBOR,
and have identified 'risk free rates' to replace such IBORs as primary benchmarks. This includes (amongst others) (i) for GBP LIBOR,
the Sterling Overnight Index Average (SONIA), so that SONIA may be established as the primary sterling interest rate benchmark by
the end of 2021, (ii) for USD LIBOR, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) to be eventually established as the primary US
dollar interest rate benchmark, and (iii) for EONIA and EURIBOR, a new Euro Short-Term Rate (€STR or EuroSTR) as the new euro
risk-free rate. Similar initiatives are currently underway in respect of each of the LIBOR rates in other currencies — i.e. Japanese Yen
(IBOR), Honk Kong Dollar (HIBOR), Swiss franc (CHF LIBOR), Australian dollar (BBSW) and Canadian dollar (CDOR) — to transition
over to identified alternative risk free rates.

In case of occurrence of an Index Event the applicable floating rate of interest could have a material adverse effect on the
value of and return on any such Notes linked to or referencing such "benchmarks" without any requirement that the consent
of Noteholders be obtained

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Notes, occurrence of certain events affecting the benchmarks (each an Index Event)
such as loss of any authorisation, registration, recognition, endorsement, equivalence decision, approval or inclusion in any official
register in respect of the Reference Rate or the administrator or sponsor of the Reference Rate, the permanent cessation of the
Reference Rate or the loss of representativeness of the Reference Rate will trigger the application of certain fallbacks arrangements
including if an inter-bank offered rate (such as EURIBOR) or other relevant reference rate (which could include, without limitation, any
mid-swap rate) becomes unavailable, or if the Issuer, the Calculation Agent, any Paying Agent or any other party responsible for the
calculation of the Rate of Interest (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) are no longer permitted lawfully to calculate interest on
any Notes by reference to such benchmark under the EU Benchmarks Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as
applicable or otherwise.

Such fallback arrangements include the possibility that the rate of interest could be set by reference to a Replacement Rate with or
without the application of an Adjustment Spread (which, if applied, could be positive or negative, and would be applied with a view to
reducing or eliminating, to the fullest extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as
applicable) to investors arising out of the replacement of the relevant benchmark) (both as defined in Condition 4.2.3.7 of the General
Terms and Conditions of the Notes), and may include amendments to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to ensure the proper
operation of the successor or replacement benchmark, all as determined by the Rate Determination Agent or the Calculation Agent.

No consent or approval of the Noteholders shall be required in connection with effecting any successor rate or alternative rate (as
applicable) or with any other related adjustments and/or amendments to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes (or any other
document) which are made in order to effect any successor rate or alternative rate (as applicable).

Investors should note that, the Rate Determination Agent or the Calculation Agent will have a certain discretion to determine the
Replacement Rate and as the case may be the Adjustment Spread in the circumstances described above. Any such adjustment
could have unexpected commercial consequences and, due to the particular circumstances of each Noteholder, any such adjustment
may not be favourable to such Noteholder.

The reform and eventual replacement of IBORs with risk-free rates may cause the relevant IBOR to perform differently than in the
past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. These risk-free rates have a different methodology
and other important differences from the IBORs they will eventually replace. Any of these developments could have a material adverse
effect on the value of and return on Notes linked to any such rates. Noteholders may therefore lose part or all of their investment in
the Notes.

The market continues to develop in relation to risk free rates as reference rates for Floating Rate Notes.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes allow Notes referencing inter alia SONIA, SOFR, the Euro short term rate (ESTR), SARON,
TONA to be issued. The market continues to develop in relation to risk free rates, as reference rates in the capital markets, and their
adoption as alternative to the relevant interbank offered rates. The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of
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risk free rates that differs significantly from that set out in the Terms and Conditions and used in relation to Floating Rate Notes that
reference a risk free rate issued under this Base Prospectus.

The nascent development of the use of these risk free rates as interest reference rate for bond markets, as well as continued
development of risk free rates-based rates for such markets and of the market infrastructure for adopting such rates, could result in
reduced liquidity or increased volatility or could otherwise affect the market price of the Notes. Interest on Notes which reference a
risk free rate is only capable of being determined shortly prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date.

In addition, the Issuer or Calculation Agent has no control over the determination, calculation or publication of these risk-free rates.
There can be no guarantee that they will not be discontinued or fundamentally altered in a manner that is materially adverse to the
interests of Noteholders.

The mismatch between the adoption of such reference rates in the bond, loan and derivatives markets may impact any hedging or
other financial arrangements which they may put in place in connection with any acquisition, holding or disposal of any Notes.

These risk-free rates may fail to gain market acceptance and any market of the Notes indexed on these rates may be illiquid and
unpredictable. Investors should not rely on indicative or historical data concerning these risk free rates. The investors are exposed to
some discretion of the Calculation Agent to determine the interest rate that will replace the benchmarks that will cease to be published
or used and to calculate the amount of interest needed to calculate the amounts due under the Notes on the basis of the risk-free
rates.

Investors will not know in advance the interest amount payable on Notes which is calculated by reference to the risk free
rates

The Rate of Interest or Rate in respect of the Notes may be calculated by reference to risk free rates such as SONIA, SOFR, €STR,
SARON or TONA overnight funding rates with Interest Periods longer than overnight and will be calculated on the basis of (a) the
arithmetic mean of such rate over the relevant Interest Period, where such rate is fixed for a certain number of days prior to the end
of such Interest Period or (b) a compounded risk free rate (i) in respect of the Interest Period, provided that the risk free rate used as
the basis for calculation is that which was observed a specified number of days prior or (ii) in respect of a period that starts a specified
number of days prior to the relevant Interest Period and ends the same specified number of days prior to the end of such Interest
Period or (c) calculated by reference to the level of the risk free rate published by its Administrator or authorised distributors. As a
consequence of these calculation methods, the amount of interest payable on each interest payment date will only be known a short
period of time prior to the relevant interest payment date. Investors therefore will not know in advance the interest amount which will
be payable on such Notes and there is a possibility that such amount could be lower than expected.

3.1.18 Risks relating to legal, tax and regulatory changes

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes (including any non-contractual obligations arising therefrom or connected therewith) are based
on relevant laws in effect as at the date of this Base Prospectus. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial
decision or change to such laws, or the official application or interpretation of such laws or administrative practices after the date of
this Base Prospectus.

Legal, tax and regulatory changes could occur during the term of the Notes that may adversely affect the Notes, the underlying,
related derivatives or the collateral assets in the case of Secured Notes. The regulatory environment is evolving, and changes in the
regulation of any entities may adversely affect their value. Regulators and self-regulatory organisations and exchanges are authorised
to take extraordinary actions in the event of market emergencies. The regulation of securities and derivatives transactions is an
evolving area of law and is subject to modification by government and judicial action. The effect of any future regulatory change on
the underlying, related derivatives or on the collateral assets could be material, including clearing and margin requirements for
derivatives and consequently may adversely affect the value of the Notes. Investors may therefore lose part or all of their investment
in the Notes.

3.1.19 Limited recourse against SG Issuer

Each holder of Notes issued by SG Issuer is deemed to have acknowledged and undertaken, on its acquisition of such Notes, that,
in the event of a payment default by SG Issuer of any amount due in respect of any Notes (such payment defaults, Defaulted
Payments), such holder shall not institute any proceeding, judicial or otherwise, or otherwise assert a claim against SG Issuer to
enforce such Defaulted Payments and waives all rights to institute such proceedings or make such claims in respect of such Defaulted
Payments against SG Issuer .

Nevertheless, Noteholders will continue to be able to claim against the Guarantor in respect of any unpaid amount.

As a consequence, prospective investors in Notes issued by SG Issuer should note that in the case of Defaulted Payments the
entitlement of the Noteholders will be limited to the sums obtained by making a claim under the Guarantee, and the relevant provisions
of the Guarantee.

3.1.20 Waiver of set-off

Pursuant to the General Terms and Conditions of the Notes, the Noteholders waive any right of or claims of set-off, netting,
compensation, retention and counterclaim (and, for the avoidance of doubt, including all such rights, claims and liabilities arising under
or in relation to any and all agreements or other instruments of any sort or any non-contractual obligations, in each case whether or
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not relating to the Notes) in relation to the Notes, to the extent permitted by applicable law. As a result, the Noteholders will not at any
time be entitled to set-off the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes against obligations owed by them to the Issuer.

3.1.21 Risks relating to Notes denominated in Renminbi (RMB)
RMB foreign exchange control risk

RMB is not completely freely convertible at present, and the conversion of RMB into other currencies is subject to exchange controls
imposed by the PRC government. New PRC regulations may be promulgated or any existing RMB clearing and settlement
arrangements may be terminated or amended in the future which may have the effect of restricting availability of RMB outside the
PRC. The limited availability of RMB outside the PRC may affect the liquidity of Notes denominated in RMB.

The current size of RMB denominated financial assets outside the PRC is limited. The control of currency conversion and movements
in RMB exchange rates may adversely affect RMB denominated assets which may in turn affect notes linked to such assets.

RMB currency risk

All payments of RMB under the Notes to the Noteholders will be made solely by transfer to a RMB bank account maintained in Hong
Kong or a financial centre outside the PRC in which a bank clears and settles Renminbi (RMB Settlement Centre) in accordance
with the prevailing rules and regulations and in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. The Issuer cannot be required
to make payment in relation to Notes denominated in RMB by any other means (including in any other currency or by transfer to a
bank account in the PRC), unless a Renminbi Currency Event (i.e. if RMB becomes illiquid, or if any amount can no longer be
converted into RMB or from RMB into another currency or if it becomes impossible to transfer amounts in RMB between accounts in
Hong Kong or from within Hong Kong to accounts outside Hong Kong) is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms.

In addition, there can be no assurance that the access to RMB for the purposes of making payments under the Notes or generally
may remain or will not become restricted. If it becomes impossible to convert RMB from/to another freely convertible currency, or
transfer RMB between accounts in Hong Kong (or any other RMB Settlement Centre), or to remit RMB into or out of the PRC, or the
general RMB exchange market becomes illiquid, any payment of RMB under the Notes may be delayed or the Issuer may make such
payments in another currency selected by the Issuer using an exchange rate determined by the Calculation Agent, or the Issuer may
redeem the Notes by making payment in another currency.

RMB exchange rate risk

The value of RMB against other currencies fluctuates and is affected by changes in the PRC and international political and economic
conditions and by many other factors. As a result, the value of any payments of RMB (in any applicable foreign currencies) may vary
with the prevailing exchange rates in the marketplace. If the value of RMB depreciates against other currencies, the value of an
investor's investment in such other currencies will decline.

RMB interest rate risk

Where applicable, the value of payments of RMB under the Notes may be susceptible to interest rate fluctuations, including Chinese
RMB Repo Rates and/or the Shanghai Interbank Offered Rate (SHIBOR). The PRC government has gradually liberalised the
regulation of interest rates in recent years. Further liberalisation may increase interest rate volatility. Furthermore, due to the foreign
exchange control imposed by the applicable PRC laws and regulations and the prevailing market conditions, the RMB interest rate in
the markets outside the PRC may significantly deviate from the RMB interest rate in the PRC.

Payments with respect to Notes denominated in RMB may be made only in the manner designated in such Notes

Noteholders may be required to provide certification and other information (including RMB account information) in order to be allowed
to receive payments in RMB in accordance with the RMB clearing and settlement system for participating banks in Hong Kong. All
payments to investors in respect of Notes denominated in RMB will be made solely (i) for so long as Notes denominated in RMB are
represented by Global Notes or Registered Global Notes held with the Common Depositary or Common Safekeeper, as the case may
be, for Clearstream Banking S.A. and Euroclear Bank SA/NV or any alternative clearing system, by transfer to a RMB bank account
maintained in Hong Kong or (i) for so long as Notes denominated in RMB are in definitive form, by transfer to a RMB bank account
maintained in Hong Kong in accordance with prevailing rules and regulations. Other than described in the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes, the Issuer cannot be required to make payment by any other means (including in any other currency or in bank notes, by
cheque or draft or by transfer to a bank account in the PRC).

3.1.22 Meetings of Noteholders

The General Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings (including by way of conference call or by use
of a video conference platform) of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally (see Condition 16 (Meetings of
Noteholders, of the English Law Notes and of the French Law Notes). These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all
Noteholders, including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting, Noteholders who did not consent to the
Written Resolutions and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. General meetings or written consultations may
deliberate on any proposal relating to the modification of the conditions of the Notes subject, in the case of French Law Notes, to the
limitations provided by French law. Only holders of French Law Notes will, in certain circumstances, be grouped for the defence of
their common interests in a separate legal entity called "Masse" (as defined in Condition 16 (Meeting of Noteholders)). If the applicable
Final Terms specify "No Masse", Noteholders will not be grouped in a masse having legal personality governed by the provisions of
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the French Code de commerce and will not be represented by a representative of the masse. While it is not possible to assess the
likelihood that the Conditions will need to be amended during the term of the Notes by a meeting of the Noteholders, if a decision is
adopted by a majority of Noteholders and such modifications impair or limit the rights of Noteholders, this may negatively affect the
market value of the Notes and Noteholders may therefore lose part or all of their investment in the Notes, although the probability of
such a decision being taken by Noteholders is considered to be low. In case of Eligible Notes (issued by Societe Generale only), the
prior written permission of the relevant Resolution Authority will be needed to effect any modification decided by Noteholders.

3.2 Risks relating to the market of the Notes
3.2.1. Market value of the Notes
The trading market for the Notes may be volatile and may be adversely impacted by many events

The market for debt securities is influenced by the economic and market conditions, interest rates, currency exchange rates and
inflation rates in Europe and other industrialised countries and areas. There can be no assurance that events in France, Europe or
elsewhere will not cause market volatility or that such volatility will not adversely affect the price of Notes or that economic and market
conditions will not have any other adverse effect.

Such factors may mean that the trading price of the Notes is below the Final Redemption Amount, and accordingly Noteholders, may
receive an amount or an asset with a value significantly lower than the amount that they invested to purchase the Notes.

3.2.2 Risks relating to the secondary market of the Notes

If the Notes are subject to market making agreements, the aim is to ensure the liquidity of the Notes on the markets where they are
traded, assuming normal market conditions and normally functioning IT systems. Certain exceptional market circumstances may
adversely affect the liquidity of the Notes. Noteholders may not be able to sell their Notes easily or may have to sell them at a price
that significantly affects the amount they earn. This may result in a partial or total loss of the amount invested.

Certain Notes have materially relevant liquidity risk. Certain exceptional market circumstances may adversely affect the liquidity of
the Notes. Noteholders may not be able to sell their Notes easily or may have to sell them at a price that significantly affects the
amount they earn. This may result in a partial or total loss of the amount invested.

There may be no market on which Notes may be traded, which may have a material adverse effect on the price at which such Notes
can be resold and may result in the total or partial loss of the amount invested. The Notes may be completely illiquid and may not be
able to be resold.

3.2.3 Reinvestment risks

The Notes may be redeemed or be subject to cancellation at a time when an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the
proceeds at an expected yield as high as the return on the Notes being early redeemed or cancelled, as the case may be, and may
only be able to do so at a significantly lower yield. Prospective investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments
available at that time.

3.2.4 The use of proceeds of the Notes identified as Positive Impact Notes in the Final Terms may not be suitable for the
investment criteria of an investor

The Final Terms of the Notes (the Positive Impact Notes) may provide that the Issuer intends to apply an amount equivalent to the
net proceeds of the issue to finance or refinance (via direct expenditures, via direct investments or via loans), in part or in full, eligible
activities (such activities the Eligible Activities), which serves to deliver a positive contribution to one or more of the three pillars of
sustainable development (economic, environmental and social), once any potential negative impacts and mitigation actions have
been duly identified as defined in the sustainable and positive impact bond framework, as amended and supplemented from time to
time (the Framework) which is available on the website of Societe Generale:
(https://www.societegenerale.com/sites/default/files/documents/2021-11/20211104_Societe-Generale-Sustainable-and-Positive-
Impact-Bond-Framework.pdf ) and as specified in the Final Terms.

At the date of this Base Prospectus, the Framework inter alia (i) complies with the Green Bond Principles, Social Bond Principles and
Sustainability Bond Guidelines published by the International Capital Markets Association, and (i) aligns with the Principles for Positive
Impact Finance published by the United Nations Environment Programme - Finance Initiative. It being specified that (i) such definition
and guidelines may evolve from time to time and/or (ii) the Issuer may decide to depart from such definition and guidelines, in which
cases such information will be specified in the Framework.

The definition (legal, regulatory or otherwise) of, and market consensus as to what constitutes or may be classified as, a “green” or
equivalently-labelled project or a loan that may finance such activity, and the requirements of any such label are currently under
development. On 18 June 2020, Regulation (EU) No. 2020/852 on the establishment of a framework to facilitate sustainable
investment was adopted by the Council and the European Parliament (the Taxonomy Regulation). The Taxonomy Regulation
establishes a single EU-wide classification system, or “taxonomy”, which provides companies and investors with a common language
for determining which economic activities can be considered environmentally sustainable. A delegated act containing the screening
technical standards has been adopted on 6 July 2021. Further development of the EU taxonomy will take place via a new Platform
on Sustainable Finance, which is expected to be operating in the next months.
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There is currently no market consensus on what precise attributes are required for a particular project to be defined as “sustainable”.

While it is the intention of the Issuer to apply an amount equivalent to the net proceeds of any Positive Impact Notes in, or substantially
in, the manner described in the Final Terms and the Framework, the relevant Eligible Activity or the application of the net proceeds
of the Positive Impact Notes in connection therewith (as described in section "Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds” of the
relevant Final Terms), might not be implemented in or substantially in such manner and/or in accordance with any timing schedule
and that accordingly such net proceeds will be totally or partially disbursed for such Eligible Activity. Nor can it be certain that such
Eligible Activity will be completed within any specified period or at all or with the results or outcome (whether or not related to the
"sustainable and positive impact" aspect) originally expected or anticipated by the Issuer. Any such event or failure by the Issuer to
apply the net proceeds to any issue of Positive Impact Notes for any Eligible Activity or to obtain and publish any reports, assessments,
second party opinions and certifications or the fact that the maturity of an Eligible Activity may not match the minimum duration of any
Positive Impact Notes will not (i) constitute an Event of Default or (ii) give a right to the Noteholders to request the early redemption,
acceleration of the Positive Impact Notes held by it or give rise to any other claim or right or (iii) lead to an obligation of the Issuer to
redeem the Positive Impact Notes or be a relevant factor for the Issuer in determining whether or not to exercise any optional
redemption rights in respect of any Notes and (iv) will not have any impact on the regulatory classification of the Notes under the
Relevant Rules and/or MREL or TLAC Requirements . For the avoidance of doubt, payments of principal and interest (as the case
may be) on the relevant Positive Impact Notes shall not depend on the performance of the relevant project nor have any preferred
right against such assets.

Any such event or failure to apply all or part of the net proceeds of any issue of Positive Impact Notes for any Eligible Activity as
aforesaid and/or withdrawal of any second party opinion or certification attesting that the Issuer is not complying in whole or in part
with any matters for which such second party opinion or certification is opining or certifying on may have an adverse effect on the
value of such Positive Impact Notes and/or result in adverse consequences for certain investors with portfolio mandates to invest in
securities to be used for a particular purpose and as a result, would have to dispose of the Positive Impact Notes at their prevailing
market value which may be less than the investors’ initial investment in the Positive Impact Notes. Investors may therefore lose part
or all of their investment. For the avoidance of doubt, it is however specified that payments of principal and interest (as the case may
be) on the Positive Impact Notes shall not depend on the performance of the relevant Eligible Activities.

Notes identified as Positive Impact Notes in the Final Terms remain subject to bail-in and other regulatory requirements

Positive Impact Notes will be subject to the Bail-in Tool and to write down and conversion powers, and in general to the powers that
may be exercised by the Relevant Resolution Authority, to the same extent as any other Note having the same ranking which is not
a Positive Impact Note. Eligible Notes under MREL or TLAC Requirements may also be Positive Impact Notes.

Likewise, Eligible Notes that are Positive Impact Notes will be fully subject to the application of MREL or TLAC Requirements and, as
such, proceeds from Positive Impact Notes qualifying as Eligible Notes should cover all losses in the balance sheet of Societe
Generale regardless of their “green”, “social” or “sustainable” label. Additionally, their labelling as Green Positive Impact Notes, Social
Positive Impact Notes or Sustainability Positive Impact Notes (i) will not affect, as the case may be, the regulatory treatment of such
Notes as Eligible Notes for the purposes of MREL or TLAC Requirements, and (ii) will not have any impact on their status as indicated

in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.
Any:

(i) failure to hold in its books an amount in Positive Impact Finance assets equivalent to 100% of the outstanding hominal amount of
the Notes or to apply an amount equivalent to the outstanding aggregate nominal amount of the Notes to finance and/or refinance, in
part or in full, Eligible Activities;

(i) withdrawal of any opinion or certification or any opinion or certification being superseded by an opinion or certification stating that
Societe Generale has not complied, in whole or in part, with any matters on which the original opinion or certification had opined or
certified; and/or

(iii) lack of Eligible Activities in which Societe Generale may invest; and/or

(iv) event or circumstances resulting in the Positive Impact Notes no longer being listed or admitted to trading on any stock exchange
or securities market,

will not constitute an event of default, does not affect the regulatory treatment of the Positive Impact Notes and may have a material
adverse effect on the value of Positive Impact Notes and the value of any other securities which are intended to finance Eligible
Activities and could also result in adverse consequences for certain investors with portfolio mandates to invest in securities to be used
for a particular purpose. As a result, these investors may have to dispose of the Positive Impact Notes at their prevailing market value
which may be less than the investors’ initial investment in the Positive Impact Notes. Investors may therefore lose part or all of their
investment.

4. RISK FACTORS RELATING TO STRUCTURED NOTES

4.1 Common risks relating to all Structured Notes

Risks relating to the Underlying(s) - gap risk

The amounts due under the Structured Notes are calculated by reference to the prices of the Underlying(s) depending on the indexing

formula for these amounts, it being specified that the past performance of an Underlying does not in any way prejudge its future
performance. Potential investors are exposed to the risk of losing all or a substantial part of the amount invested. The issuers or
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owners of assets underlying the Notes do not participate in the offer of the Notes and have no obligation to take into account the
interests of the Noteholders, when they take decisions likely to affect the value of these assets.

The relevant level, value or price of one or more Underlying(s) may change suddenly and significantly during the trading day or at
the opening of the market. Such change may be positive or negative and is known as the "Gap Risk". If the price of the Notes includes
a premium, this will be calculated to take account of the cost to the Issuer or its Affiliates of unwinding its hedging positions in relation
to the Notes on early redemption of the Notes and the Gap Risk associated with the relevant level, value or price of the Underlying(s).
Noteholders will not receive a refund of this premium if an Automatic Early Redemption Event occurs, which could significantly reduce
the return a Noteholder stands to receive on its investment.

Potential limitation in the benefit of the performance of the price of the Underlying(s)

If the applicable Final Terms provide that the exposure of the Notes to one or more Underlyings is limited or capped at a certain level
or amount, the relevant Notes will not benefit from any upside in the value of any such Underlying(s) beyond such limit or cap. In this
case, Noteholders will not receive as much from their investment as they would have done if they had invested directly in the
Underlying(s) or in alternative Notes without such features. The likelihood of this occurring is dependent on the likelihood of the
Underlying(s) performing such that the limit or cap affects the Notes.

Absence of rights in respect of the Underlying(s)

The Notes do not represent a claim against any Underlying (or any issuer, sponsor, manager or other connected person in respect of
an Underlying) and Noteholders will not have any right of recourse under the Notes to any such Underlying (or any issuer, sponsor,
manager or other connected person in respect of an Underlying). The Notes are not in any way sponsored, endorsed or promoted by
any issuer, sponsor, manager or other connected person in respect of an Underlying and such entities have no obligation to take into
account the consequences of their actions on any Noteholders and such consequences may have a negative impact on the value of
the Notes. Noteholders may therefore lose part or all of their investment in the Notes. Investors in Physical Delivery Notes should also
refer to "Risks relating to Physical Delivery Notes" above. In addition, Societe Generale, SG Issuer and/or any entity of the Societe
Generale's group may take any action in respect of the Underlying(s) and the Noteholders will have no right or claim against Societe
Generale, SG Issuer and/or any entity of the Societe Generale's group in respect of any amount that may be recovered by Societe
Generale, SG Issuer and/or any entity of the Societe Generale's group in respect of such Underlying.

4.2 Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to an Index

The policies of the sponsor of an index as regards additions, deletions and substitutions of the assets underlying the index and the
manner in which the index sponsor takes account of certain changes affecting such underlying assets may affect the value of the
index.

The policies of an index sponsor with respect to the calculation of an index could also affect the value of the index. An index sponsor
may discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of information relating to its index. Any such actions could affect the value
of the Notes and Noteholders may therefore lose part or all of their investment in the Notes.

An index sponsor may at any time during the life of the Notes discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of information
relating to its index. As a consequence investors in Index Linked Notes are exposed to the risk of discontinuance of the operational
capacity and expertise of the Index Sponsor to ensure the calculation and maintenance of the index according to the methodology in
force throughout the life of the Notes.

4.2.1 Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to an SGI Index

The composition of certain indices to which the Notes are linked, and the methodologies used in relation to these indices, can be
determined and selected by Societe Generale or one of its related companies. In the choice of these methodologies, it can be expected
that Societe Generale or the relevant related company of Societe Generale will take into account its own objectives and interests and
/ or those of the Group, and no guarantee can be given that the methodologies chosen will not be less favorable for the interests of
investors than the methodologies used by other index sponsors in comparable circumstances.

If the hedging activities of Societe Generale or one of its related companies are disrupted in relation to a particular index, Societe
Generale or the related company concerned may decide to end the calculations of this index, sooner than would another index
sponsor in comparable circumstances. This could cause adjustments, de-indexation, substitution of the Index or the early redemption
of the Notes.

4.2.2 Conflicts of interest in connection with proprietary indices

Societe Generale acts as sponsor of proprietary indices (SGI Indices). These indices are calculated by an external calculation agent
in accordance with rules, which describe the methodology for determining the composition and calculation of these proprietary indices
(the Rules).

(i) With regard to proprietary indices composed in a discretionary basis by Societe Generale or an affiliate of Societe Generale to
which Notes are linked, Societe Generale may face a conflict of interest between its obligations as issuer of these Notes and as a
composer of these indices, given that the determination of the composition of these indices may have an impact on the value of the
Notes. Consequently, investors may lose part or all of their investment in the Notes.
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(i) With regard to proprietary indices composed by a third party to which the Notes are linked, Societe Generale may face a conflict
of interest between its obligations as issuer of these Notes and as a sponsor of these indices, insofar as it can modify or supplement
the Rules, in accordance with the Rules, which may have an impact on the value of the Notes. Consequently, investors may lose part
or all of their investment in the Notes.

(i) With regard to proprietary indices composed by the application of a mathematical formula in a non-discretionary manner by Societe
Generale or any third party, Societe Generale may face a conflict of interest between its obligations as issuer of these Notes and as
a sponsor of these indices, insofar as it may modify, in accordance with the Rules, certain parameters (such as the funding spread)
or provide the assessment of certain components, which may have an impact on the value of the Notes. Consequently, investors may
lose part or all of their investment in the Notes.

4.3 Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to a Fund
4.3.1 Risks relating to underlying Funds

Some Funds may have little or no oversight and regulation, which can increase the likelihood of fraud and negligence on the part of
Fund managers and / or investment advisers, their brokerage firm or the banks.

The Funds may include complex tax structures and deferrals in the distribution of important tax information.
The Funds on which Structured Notes may be indexed may not publish information on their transactions and portfolios.

The members of the Group may from time to time obtain information on specific Funds, which may not be available to the general
public in the ordinary course of their business, and not in relation to the offer of Notes (including as funds which are managed by
managers part of Societe Generale group). As part of the ordinary course of their business, Group members may recommend, or
decide not to recommend, certain specific Funds to their customers, which may appear, currently or in the future, among the underlying
funds used in the redemption formula of Structured Notes. All the positions that may be taken by the members of the Group in respect
of the expected future performance of one or more funds (including in respect of funds which are managed by managers part of
Societe Generale group) do not constitute an indication of the future performance of this/these funds.

4.3.2 Fund managers' investment strategies

The fund managers (including a manager that is part of Societe Generale group) do not participate in the offer of the Notes in any
way and have no obligation to take into account the interest of the Noteholders in taking measures which could have an impact on
the value of the shares or units of the underlying funds and therefore on the value of the Notes. Consequently, investors may lose
part or all of their investment in the Notes.

The manager and / or investment advisor of the Underlying Fund who implements the investment strategy of the Fund may decide to
invest in financial assets or instruments which themselves carry risk with a view to maximizing profits, including by borrowing amounts
that may represent more than 100% of the Fund's asset value. The manager and / or investment adviser may be all the more
encouraged when his remuneration is indexed to the performance of the Fund. These elements can have a significant negative impact
on the share / share of the Underlying Fund and therefore on the value of the Notes. Consequently, investors may lose part or all of
their investment in the Notes.

4.3.3 Fund managers and/or investment advisors of the underlying fund(s)

The performance of underlying Fund(s) will depend to a considerable extent on the performance of the fund's managers and/or
investment advisors of the Fund(s). Investors in Fund Linked Notes are therefore exposed to the risk of fraud and misrepresentation
by unaffiliated fund managers or investment advisers. In addition, the fund managers and/or the investment advisors may be removed
or replaced, the allocation of assets may vary from time to time and the various positions of the investments of the underlying Fund(s)
may be economically offsetting, all of which may affect the performance of the underlying Fund(s).

The fund managers and/or the investment advisors may manage or advise other funds and/or accounts and may have financial and
other incentives to favour such other funds and/or accounts over the underlying Fund(s). Also, the fund managers and/or the
investment advisors may manage or advise for their own accounts and the accounts of their clients and may make recommendations
or take positions similar or dissimilar to those of the underlying Fund(s) or which may compete with the underlying Fund(s).

4.3.4 Fees, deductions and charges will reduce any amounts due by the Issuer under the Notes

Fund fees and expenses will be deducted from the net asset value of the fund that may offset the Fund's trading profits, and hence
reduce the value of the Fund units.

Accordingly, to the extent that any amount due by the Issuer under the Notes is linked to the net asset value of a fund, such amount
payable to Noteholders will be less than it would have been absent these fees, deductions and charges.

4.3.5 The illiquidity of the underlying Fund's investments or the occurrence of certain extraordinary events may cause the
determination of any amounts due by the relevant Issuer under the Notes to be reduced or delayed.

The intermediary amounts or final redemption amounts and other relevant amounts due to investors in Fund Linked Notes depend
on the redemption proceeds of the units / shares of the Fund which will be paid by the underlying under a valid redemption order
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given by a hypothetical investor with effect as of the relevant valuation date. Substantial redemption orders on units/shares of an
underlying Fund on a particular day (including by Societe Generale in liquidating the hedge relating to Structured Notes) could require
such funds to liquidate positions more rapidly than would be otherwise desirable and have a negative impact on the market value of
the Notes. Many funds have provisions whereby redemption requests are scaled back if the aggregate amount of such requests
reaches a predetermined limit or where redemption orders can be delayed or suspended discretionarily.

Investments of the underlying Fund may also not be readily saleable on or shortly after a redemption order if they are illiquid.

If the proceeds from the redemption of the units or shares have not been paid by the underlying Fund on the initially Scheduled
Maturity Date or on any early redemption date, the payment of any amount due by the relevant Issuer may be postponed after the
maturity date up to a maximum period of two years or as specified in the Final Terms. If at the expiry of this period, the underlying
Fund has not paid in full the redemption proceeds or the units or shares, the amount due under the Notes shall be determined by the
Calculation Agent on the basis of what has actually been paid by the underlying Fund. The amount received by the investors in the
Notes may be as low as zero.

4.3.6 Risks relating to master-feeder structure

The underlying Fund(s) may invest as a “feeder” fund of a “master” fund, alongside present and future additional investors or feeder
funds. A “feeder” fund usually refers to a fund which pools the investment capital raised from investors and invests (or “feeds”) such
capital in an overarching umbrella fund (usually known as a “master” fund), which will be responsible for the investments in its portfolio.

The underlying Fund(s) may be materially affected by the actions of such other investors and feeder funds investing in the master
fund, particularly if they have large investments in the master fund. If such other investors or feeder funds with a large investment in
the master fund redeem from the master fund, illiquidity in certain securities or markets could make it difficult for the master fund to
liquidate positions on favourable terms to effect such redemption, which could result in losses or a decrease in the net asset value of
the unit/share of the master fund and hence in the market value of the Notes. In addition, to satisfy such redemptions, the sub-
manager may need to liquidate the master fund's most liquid investments; leaving remaining investors (including the underlying
Fund(s)) invested in more illiquid instruments. Such withdrawals may also leave the master fund with a less diversified pool of
investments. This may increase the overall portfolio risk of the master fund, and, ultimately, the Notes. Conversely, the sub-manager
of the master-fund may refuse a redemption request if it believes that such request, if fulfilled, would have a material adverse impact
on the remaining investors of the master fund. This may negatively impact the liquidity of the master fund and, therefore, the
performance of the underlying Fund(s) and the value of the Notes. Consequently, depending on the performance of the underlying
Fund(s), Noteholders may lose part or all of their investment in the Notes.

4.4 Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to Credit

Noteholders are exposed, from a date specified in the applicable Final Terms, which may be earlier than the date of their decision to
invest in the Notes or the Issue Date, to events related to the creditworthiness of the Reference Entities. Upon the occurrence of such
events, the amount paid or the value of the underlying assets received at maturity of the Notes (after deduction of the costs, break
funding charges, loss of funding, tax and duties) determined by reference to the value of the debt of the Reference Entity may be less
than the invested amount. In addition, interest-bearing Credit Linked Notes may cease to bear interest on or prior to the date of
occurrence of such circumstances.

In certain circumstances the period between the date on which the existence of a Credit Event is established and valuation may be
as long as 180 days. Therefore, settlement, or as the case may be, notice that no amount is due under the Credit Linked Notes, may
occur several months after the relevant Credit Event on a date which may be much later than the Scheduled Maturity Date of the
Notes.

4.4.1 Risk in respect of Tranche Notes

Tranche Notes are Notes which are exposed to the credit risk of a list of Reference Entities, starting from an attachment point and
ending on a detachment point (both expressed in percentages by reference to such list of Reference Entities). The principal and
interest payable to the Noteholder will start to be impacted when the sum of losses incurred on the list of Reference Entities will have
reached the attachment point, and 100% of the principal and interest payable to the Noteholder will be fully lost when the sum of
losses will have reached the detachment point. The sum of such losses is expressed in percentages by reference to the list of
Reference Entities.

Compared to an investment in a basket of the same list of Reference Entities, investment in Tranche Notes creates a leverage effect
on the credit risk exposure of the Reference Entities. When the trigger threshold for a credit event is reached, the principal and
interest payable to the Noteholder will be impacted more strongly the closer the detachment point is and the faster the detachment
point is reached. The leverage effect comes from the impact of each affected Reference Entity in Tranche Notes once the attachment
point has been reached. The leverage effect depends on the width of the tranche (detachment point minus attachment point) and is
much higher compared to the impact the same Reference Entity has in a basket of Reference Entities which are not Tranche Notes.

4.4.2 Risk in respect of Basket Notes
In respect of Basket Notes, the greater the number of Reference Entities subject to a Credit Event, the lower the amount due under

the Notes will be. Conversely, the fewer the Reference Entities, the greater the impact of a Credit Event affecting one of them will be
on the Final Redemption Amount.

26



Risk Factors

4.4 3 Risk in respect of Credit Linked on bespoke Basket Notes

In respect of bespoke Basket Notes, the greater the number of Reference Entities subject to a Credit Event, the lower the Final
Redemption Amount will be. Conversely, the fewer the Reference Entities, the greater the impact of a Credit Event affecting one of
them will be on the Final Redemption Amount.

The concentration of the Reference Entities in any one industry or geographic region would subject the Notes to a greater degree of
risk with respect to economic downturns relating to such industry or geographic region.

4.4.4 Increased risk in respect of First-to-Default Notes

First-to-Default Notes are Notes where the credit risk to the Noteholder is materialised on the occurrence of the first credit event of
any Reference Entity in a basket of Reference Entities. Given that the credit risk to the Noteholder can materialise on the occurrence
of the first credit event of any Reference Entity in the basket, the Noteholder can lose a significant part or all of its investment in the
Notes as soon as one single Reference Entity in the basket becomes subject to a credit event. In addition, the more Reference Entities
there are in the basket of Reference Entities, the more likely it is that a credit event can occur, and the greater the degree of risk that
the Noteholder may lose its entire principal invested in the Notes.

4.4.5 Valuation and settlement in case of Credit Event

Under the terms of the Notes, where Societe Generale acts as Calculation Agent, it may, for the purposes of determining the amount
due under the Credit Linked Notes under the Quotation Dealers Method or the Physical Delivery Amount (each as defined in Condition
2 of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes) following one or more Credit Event(s), select obligations with the
lowest price of any obligations which meet the relevant criteria. This may affect the value of the Notes and Noteholders may therefore
lose part or all of their initial investment in the Notes.

4.4.6 Floating recovery

Where Floating Recovery is specified in the related Final Terms, the terms of the Credit Linked Notes provide that the Calculation
Agent will, depending on the election mentioned in the related Final Terms, determine the Final Value either by obtaining quotations
from Quotation Dealers in respect of Selected Obligation(s) or by reference to Transaction Auction Settlement Terms (as defined in
Condition 2 of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes). In this regard, investors should note that: (A) the Final
Value as determined by reference to Transaction Auction Settlement Terms may be lower than the Final Value determined otherwise
and will typically reduce the amount due under the Notes; and (B) (i) if Transaction Auction Settlement Terms are not published or (ii)
a Fallback Settlement Event (as defined in Condition 2 of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes) occurs within
a certain period and if it is not possible to obtain quotations from Quotation Dealers for the Selected Obligations (as defined in
Condition 2 of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes) within a further period, the Final Value of the Selected
Obligations will be deemed to be zero and therefore the amount due under the Notes will be equal to zero.

4.4.7 Fixed Recovery

Where Fixed Recovery is specified in the applicable Final Terms (which can be zero), the terms of Credit Linked Notes provide that
the Final Value of a Reference Entity in respect of which a Credit Event Determination Date has occurred will be equal to the fixed
percentage of the Specified Denomination specified in the applicable Final Terms (which can be zero).

This percentage may be lower than the recovery value, which would have been determined by reference to prices quoted by market
participants or by using an auction valuation method in respect of such Reference Entity, or even be equal to zero.

4.4.8 Deferral of valuation and/or payments

In certain circumstances the period between the date on which the existence of a Credit Event is established and valuation may be
as long as 180 days therefore, settlement, or as the case may be, notice that no amount is due under the Credit Linked Notes, may
occur several months after the relevant Credit Event on a date which may be much later than the Scheduled Maturity Date of the
Notes. If this occurs, this could adversely affect the value of the Notes and Noteholders may therefore lose part or all of their initial
investment in the Notes. Also it is possible that no payment on the Notes may be due to the Noteholders on the Scheduled Maturity
Date.

4.5 Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to a Bond

Noteholders are exposed as from a date specified in the Final Terms (which may be earlier than the date of their decision to invest in
the Notes or the Issue Date) to events (specified in the Final Terms) relating to the creditworthiness of the relevant Bond Issuer. In
the event of the occurrence of one of these events, the amount paid or the value of the Bond received, at maturity of the Notes (after
deduction of costs, breakage cost funding charges, loss of funding, taxes and duties) determined by reference to the value of the
Bond(s) may be less than the amount invested. In addition, interest-bearing Bond Linked Notes may cease to bear interest on or prior
to the date of occurrence of such events. Investors' attention is drawn to the fact that no, or a reduced amount of, Cash Redemption
Amount may be due under the Bond Linked Notes and settlement (whether American Settlement or European Settlement is specified
in the applicable Final Terms) may occur several months or years after the relevant Bond Event and on a date which may be later
than the Scheduled Maturity Date of the Notes.

4.5.1 Ranking of the Bonds
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Depending on the ranking, the obligations of the Bond Issuer and/or as the case may be the Bond Guarantor, may rank junior in
priority of payment to unsubordinated creditors, to holders of subordinated obligations expressed by their terms to rank in priority to
the Bonds and/or to creditors preferred by mandatory and/or overriding provisions of law. In the event of incomplete payment to
creditors that rank senior to the ranking of the Bonds, the obligations of the Bond Issuer and/or the Bond Guarantor, as the case may
be, in connection with the Bonds may be terminated. The ranking of the Bonds may accordingly increase the credit risk on the Bond
Issuer and/or the Bond Guarantor as the case may be and as a result may increase the likelihood of the occurrence of a Bond
Event(s). If a Bond Event(s) occurs, this could have an adverse effect on the value of and return on the Notes. Consequently,
Noteholders may lose part or all of their investment in the Notes.

4.5.2 Risk in respect of Basket Bond Linked Notes

In respect of Basket Bond Linked Notes, the greater the number of Bonds in the basket subject to a Bond Event, the lower the amount
due under the Notes will be. Conversely, the fewer the Bonds in the basket, the greater the impact of a Bond Event affecting one of
them will be on the Final Redemption Amount. The concentration of the Bond Issuers in any one industry or geographic region would
subject the Notes to a greater degree of risk with respect to economic downturns relating to such industry or geographic region.

4.5.3 Floating recovery

Where Floating Recovery is specified in the related Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will determine the Bond Final Value by
obtaining quotations from Quotation Dealers in respect of the Bonds. In this regard, investors should note that: (i) the Bond Final
Value as determined by the Calculation Agent may be lower than the Bonds' market value determined otherwise and will typically
reduce the amount due under the Notes and (ii) such Bond Final Value cannot exceed 100% (unless otherwise specified in the
applicable Final Terms) of the Bond Notional Amount irrespective of the Bonds market value determined otherwise.

4.5.4 Fixed Recovery

Where Fixed Recovery is specified in the related Final Terms, the Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes provide
that the Bond Final Value of a Bond in respect of which a Bond Event Determination Date has occurred will be equal to the fixed
percentage of the Specified Denomination specified in the related Final Terms.

This percentage may be lower than the recovery value, which would have been determined by reference to prices quoted by market
participants or by using an auction valuation method in respect of such Bond or may even be equal to zero.

4.5.5 Exposure to a hypothetical transaction and Breakage Cost Amount
The Notes may include reference in the applicable Final Terms to:

(i) a hypothetical transaction deemed entered into between Societe Generale and a hypothetical counterparty, in order to hedge
amounts (whether principal, interest or any other amounts) that would have been paid (x) on the Bond, in accordance with its original
terms as at the Issue Date of the Notes, from (and including) the Issue Date of the Notes to (and including) the maturity date of the
Bond (such amounts being deemed payable by Societe Generale or any of its affiliates to the hypothetical counterparty) and (y) on
the Notes from (and including) the Issue Date of the Notes to (and including) the Scheduled Maturity Date (as defined in the applicable
Final Terms) of the Notes (such amounts being deemed payable by the hypothetical counterparty to Societe Generale or any of its
affiliates) (the “Reference Transaction”); and/or

(i) a breakage cost amount, being an amount determined by the Calculation Agent equal to the fees, costs and expenses arising
directly or indirectly, in connection with (i) terminating, unwinding, realizing or enforcing any repurchase transaction (if any) with the
Bond as underlying asset, the purpose of which is to refinance the relevant Bond and (ii) entering into, trading or increasing any
repurchase transaction (or any transaction with similar purposes) with the Collateral Assets (if any) as underlying asset, the purpose
of which is to refinance the Collateral Assets (if any) (the “Breakage Cost Amount”).

If a Bond Event Determination Date occurs in respect of a Bond, the amount payable to Noteholders (the “Cash Redemption
Amount”), may be reduced, potentially down to zero, by the Reference Transaction Price (being the amount, as determined by the
Calculation Agent, due in terminating, liquidating or re-establishing the Reference Transaction) and/or the Breakage Cost Amount.
Noteholders may therefore lose all or part of their investment in the Bond Linked Notes.

4.5.6 Market Trigger Event

If Market Trigger Event is specified as applicable in the related Final Terms and the Calculation Agent determines that the secondary
mid price of the Notes has fallen below a certain level for a certain period, the Notes may be early redeemed at an amount equal to
the Market Trigger Event Bond Market Value (which may be as low as zero) minus the Market Trigger Event Reference Transaction
Price (which may be a positive or negative amount) resulting in a redemption amount payable on the Notes as low as zero, this
amount being subject to a floor value equal to zero. As a consequence, the investor may lose all or part of the invested amount.

4.6 Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to a Foreign Exchange Rate

The performance of Foreign Exchange Rates, currency units or units of account are dependent upon the supply and demand for
currencies in the international foreign exchange markets, which are subject to economic factors, including inflation rates in the
countries concerned, interest rate differences between the respective countries, economic forecasts, international political factors,
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fiscal and monetary policy, government debt, currency convertibility and safety of making financial investments in the currency
concerned, speculation and intervening measures taken by governments and central banks. Such measures include, without
limitation, imposition of regulatory controls or taxes, issuance of a new currency to replace an existing currency, alteration of the
exchange rate or exchange characteristics by devaluation or revaluation of a currency or imposition of exchange controls with respect
to the exchange or transfer of a specified currency that would affect exchange rates as well as the availability of a specified currency.
Any such measures could have a negative impact on the performance of a Foreign Exchange Rate and consequently the value of the
Notes.

Currency exchange risks can be expected to heighten in periods of financial turmoil. In periods of financial turmoil, capital can move
quickly out of regions that are perceived to be more vulnerable to the effects of a crisis with sudden and severely adverse
consequences to the currencies of those regions as a result. In addition, governments around the world have recently made, and may
be expected to continue to make, very significant interventions in their economies, and sometimes directly in their currencies. It is not
possible to predict the effect of any future legal or regulatory action relating to a currency. Further interventions, other government
actions or suspensions of actions, as well as other changes in government economic policy or other financial or economic events
affecting the currency markets — including the replacement of entire currencies with new currencies - may cause Foreign Exchange
Rates to fluctuate sharply in the future, which could have a negative impact on the value of the Notes.

4.7 Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to Preference Shares or Warrants

The market value of the Preference Shares or Warrants to which Notes may be linked will fluctuate up or down depending on the
performance of the relevant underlying(s) or basis of reference to which the Preference Shares or Warrants are linked (the Preference
Share Underlying or Warrant Underlying) such as equity, debt or derivative securities, indices, investments, funds, exchange traded
funds, commaodities, credit, baskets of securities or indices, currencies and portfolios. The composition of the relevant Preference
Share Underlying(s)/Warrant Underlying(s) may be designed to change over time as a result of performance or other factors.

As aresult, if the performance of the Preference Share Underlying/Warrant Underlying is negative, the value of the Preference Share
Linked Notes/Warrant Linked Notes will be adversely affected. Purchasers of Preference Share Linked Notes/Warrant Linked Notes
risk losing all or a part of their investment if the value of the Preference Shares/Warrants falls.

The basis and rate of taxation in respect of Preference Share Linked Notes/Warrant Linked Notes and reliefs depend on each
investor's individual circumstances and could change at any time. This could have a negative impact on the return of the Preference
Share Linked Notes/Warrant Linked Notes. In the event that the Preference Share Linked Notes/Warrant Linked Notes pay a coupon
other than on redemption (such term including early or final redemption), prospective investors should be aware that such coupon will
likely be subject to income tax.

4.8 Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to Inflation
The level of an Inflation Index may lag or otherwise not track the actual level of inflation in the relevant jurisdiction.

Inflation Indices may not correlate with other indices and may not correlate perfectly with the rate of inflation observed by purchasers
of the Inflation Linked Notes in such jurisdiction. The value of the Inflation Linked Notes which are linked to an Inflation Index may be
based on a calculation made by reference to such Inflation Index for a month which is several months prior to the date of payment on
the Inflation Linked Notes and therefore could be substantially different from the level of inflation at the time of the payment on the
Inflation Linked Notes.

Upon the occurrence of certain events in relation to an Inflation Index, e.g., the Inflation Index level has not been published or is
discontinued or is corrected or such Inflation Index is rebased or materially modified, then depending on the particular event, the
Issuer may determine the level, substitute the original Inflation Index, adjust the terms and conditions of the Inflation Linked Notes or
redeem the Inflation Linked Notes. Any such event and its consequences may have an adverse effect on the value of the Inflation
Linked Notes.

4.9 Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to exchange traded product (ETP) and to exchange traded fund (ETF)
4.9.1 Exchange traded products and Exchange traded funds are subject to market trading risks

An ETP or an ETF faces numerous market trading risks, including but not limited to the potential lack of an active market, losses from
trading in secondary markets, periods of high volatility, limited liquidity and disruption in the creation or redemption process of such
ETP or such ETF. If any of these risks materialises, this may lead to the ETP or ETF shares trading at a premium or discount to its
fair market value.

4.9.2 Action or non-performance by the ETP issuer, the sponsor of the ETP or the Calculation Agent or by the management
company, fund administrator or sponsor of an ETF that may adversely affect the Notes

In case of an ETP Linked Notes, the ETP issuer and/or the sponsor of the ETP and in case of an ETF Linked Notes, the management
company, fund administrator or sponsor of an ETF will have no involvement in the offer and sale of the Notes and will have no
obligation to any purchaser of such Notes. In its day-to-day operations and its investment strategy, an ETP will rely on the ETP issuer,
the sponsor of the ETP and the Calculation Agent and an ETF will rely on the fund advisor, the investment advisor, the management
company and/or on third parties providing services such as safekeeping of assets or acting as counterparty to derivatives or other
instruments used by such ETF to employ its investment strategy. The insolvency or non-performance of services of any such persons
or institutions may expose an ETP or an ETF to lose value. Failure of procedures or systems, as well as human error or external
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events associated with, in case of an ETP, an ETP's issuer, sponsor or Calculation Agent and in case of an ETF, an ETF's
management and/or administration, may reduce the value of the ETP or the ETF and affect the market value of the Notes.

4.9.3 Credit risk of the issuer of the ETP or the ETF

The value of the ETP Linked Notes or the ETF Linked Notes is dependent on the value of the ETPs or the ETFs, which will depend
in part on the creditworthiness of the issuer of the ETPs or of the ETFs, which may vary over the term of the relevant Notes. A change
in the creditworthiness of the issuer of the ETPs or of the ETFs may therefore affect the performance of the ETPs or ETFs respectively,
and the value of Notes linked to ETPs or ETFs (as the case may be). Consequently, depending on the performance of such ETPs or
ETFs, Noteholders may lose part or all of their investment in the ETP Linked Notes or the ETF Linked Notes.

4.9.4 Exposure to the ETP Underlying

ETPs usually aim to track the performance of an underlying financial instrument or basket thereof, which may include, without
limitation, listed equities, commodities, interest rates, foreign exchange rates, debt instruments, derivatives or any index thereof (the
ETP Underlying). In addition, when compared to exchange traded funds, exposure to ETPs may involve a higher level of leverage
and/or short exposures and/or more concentrated exposures.

Prospective investors should also consider the risk factors in respect of the risks involved in investing in ETPs including, without
limitation, risks relating to the ETP Underlying and to the underlying economics of the ETPs. Consequently, prospective investors
should review the ETP Conditions and consult with their own professional advisers if they consider it necessary.

4.9.5 Risk that the ETP does not accurately track its underlyings’ performance

Where the Notes are linked to an ETP, Noteholders are exposed to the performance of such ETP and not necessarily the performance
of the ETP Underlying. Accordingly, investors who purchase Notes that are linked to an ETP may receive a different return than if
such investors had directly invested into the ETP units or the ETP Underlyings.

4.9.6 Where the underlying asset is an exchange traded fund, there is a risk that such Exchange Traded Fund will not
accurately track its underlying share or index

Where the Notes are linked to an exchange traded fund (an ETF) and the investment objective of such ETF is to track the performance
of a share or an index, the investors of such Notes are exposed to the performance of such ETF rather than the underlying share or
index such ETF tracks. For certain reasons, including to comply with certain tax and regulatory constraints, an ETF may not be able
to track or replicate the constituent securities of the underlying share or index, which could give rise to a difference between the
performance of the underlying share or index and such ETF. Accordingly, investors who purchase Notes that are linked to an ETF
may receive a lower return than if such investors had invested in the share or the index underlying of such ETF directly.

4.9.7 Exchange traded funds not actively managed

If the investment objective of an ETF is to track the performance of an index or other asset, such ETF will invest in instruments
included in, or that are representative of, the index or other asset it is tracking regardless of their investment merits. The performance
of such ETF may be affected by general movements in market segments related to the index or other asset it is tracking, and such
general movements in market segments may therefore affect the value of Notes linked to such ETF. Consequently, depending on the
performance of such ETF, Noteholders may lose part or all of their investment in the ETF Linked Notes.

4.9.8 Exchange traded funds may engage in securities lending

Securities lending involves the risk that the ETF may lose money because the borrower of the ETF's loaned securities fails to return
the securities in a timely manner or at all or that insufficient collateral has been posted in respect of such securities lending transaction.
Securities lending carried out by the ETF may therefore affect its performance and the value of Notes linked to such ETF.
Consequently, depending on the performance of such ETF, Noteholders may lose part or all of their investment in the ETF Linked
Notes.

4.10 Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to a Reference Rate

The performance of the Reference Rates is dependent on economic factors, including inflation rates in the relevant countries,
economic forecasts, international political factors, monetary and fiscal policy, government debt, speculation and actions taken by
governments and central banks. Such factors could have a negative impact on the performance of the Reference Rate and
consequently on the value of the Notes. These factors can be expected to intensify in periods of financial turmoil.

4.11 Risks relating to Future Linked Notes

An investment in Future Linked Notes may bear similar market risks as a direct investment in the relevant future contract(s). The
value of the future contract(s) underlying the Notes may vary over time and may increase or decrease by reference to a variety of
factors which include the factors affecting the Future Underlier, as defined in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Future Linked
Notes.

Futures contracts have a predetermined Expiry Date as defined in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Future Linked Notes. If
the applicable Final Terms specify that Roll Adjustment applies, the Notes are valued by reference to futures contracts that have an
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Expiry Date that does not correspond to the term of the Notes, consequently the Calculation Agent will roll the Future Contracts (the
Roll Adjustment) which means that the future contracts that is the closest to expiration (the Active Future Contract) will be replaced
before it expires by a future contract that has an Expiry Date later in the future (the Next Active Future Contract).

On each Roll Date, the price of the Active Future Contract may be lower than (respectively higher than) the price of the Next Active
Future Contract if the future curve is in contango (respectively in backwardation). The Roll Adjustment may as a consequence have
either a positive or negative impact on the value of the Notes. This may result in a partial or total loss of the investment in the Notes.

In addition to the effects of contango and backwardation, each "roll* may generate costs that will be taken by the Calculation Agent.
These costs correspond to the expenses incurred in replacing the futures contract (transaction costs) and may have an adverse effect
on the return of the Notes.

Prospective purchasers of Notes should be aware that in respect of Notes on futures contract that are rolled, the potential negative
impact on the value of the Notes induced by the roll may lead to a performance of the Notes lower than the performance that would
have been generated by Notes on the Future Underlier itself.

4.12 Risks relating to Portfolio Linked Notes

The market value of Portfolio Linked Notes will fluctuate up or down depending on the performance of the relevant components of the
Portfolio such as equity, debt or derivative securities, indices, investments, funds, exchange traded funds, commodities, credit,
baskets of securities or indices, currencies and portfolios. Such performance may be affected by changes in the value of the different
components in the Portfolio to which the relevant issue of Portfolio Linked Notes relates. This value may be affected by (i) the
economic, financial and political events in one or more jurisdictions, including the stock exchange(s) or quotation system(s) on which
any component comprising the Portfolio may be traded, (ii) risks highlighted in section "Risk Factors" (Risk factors relating to
Structured Notes) relating to individual types of underlyings which are included in the relevant Portfolio and (iii) other factors set out
elsewhere in "Risk Factors". The composition of the Portfolio may be designed to change over time as a result of performance or
other factors.

As a result, if the performance of the Portfolio is negative, the value of the Portfolio Linked Notes reference will be adversely affected.
Purchasers of Portfolio Linked Notes risk losing all or a part of their investment if the value of the Portfolio falls.

Consequently, prospective investors, when considering investing in Portfolio Linked Notes, should also consider the risk factors linked
to the Portfolio Components.

In addition, there may be correlation between price movements of one component and the price movements of another component
of the Portfolio that may have a negative impact on the value of the Portfolio. As such, the value of Portfolio Linked Notes can therefore
be volatile and this may result in Noteholders losing all, or a substantial part, of their investment.

In addition, Portfolio Linked Notes may be subject to a number of costs which would negatively impact the value of the Portfolio Linked
Notes.

4.13 Risks relating to actively managed Portfolio Linked Notes
- Exposure to the Dynamic Portfolio

Holders of Notes linked to a Dynamic Portfolio are exposed to the risk of changes in the market value of such Notes resulting from
both changes in the prices of the assets comprising the Dynamic Portfolio and recommendations for replacement or weighting of the
assets comprising the Weighting Adviser's Portfolio. Consequently, depending on the performance of such Dynamic Portfolio and the
market value of Notes linked to such Dynamic Portfolio, Noteholders may lose part or all of their investment in such Notes.

- Risks relating to the Weighting Advisor

Investors in actively managed Portfolio Linked Notes are exposed to the risk of the operational capacity and expertise of the Weighting
Adviser to provide recommendations for replacement or weighting of the assets comprising the Portfolio throughout the life of the
Notes.

Even though the Issuer and the Calculation Agent have designated the Weighting Advisor, the Weighting Advisor shall act in the
exclusive interest of the Noteholders. Consequently, the Weighting Advisor is exclusively responsible to the Noteholders for any
recommendations for replacement or weighting of the assets comprising the Portfolio or for any fraud, negligence or
misrepresentation.

In addition, in the event of termination of the Weighting Advisory Agreement, investors are exposed to the risk of de-indexation to the
Dynamic Portfolio and a monetary return, replacement of the Weighting Advisor or early redemption of the Notes. The occurrence of
any of these events may impact on the market value of the Notes and may result in the total or partial loss of the amount invested in
the Notes.

Noteholders should refer to the Weighting Advisory Agreement for more information.

- Risk of conflict of interests between the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Calculation Agent and the Weighting Advisor and the
Noteholders

The Issuers, the Guarantor, the Calculation Agent or the Weighting Advisor, may engage in trading and other business activities
relating to the Portfolio Components without regard to the Notes and that are not for the Noteholders' accounts or on behalf of the
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Noteholders. Such trading and other business activities could create conflicts between the interests of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the
Calculation Agent and the Weighting Advisor on the one hand, and the interests of the Noteholders on the other hand, which could
have an adverse impact on the value of and return on the Notes. Consequently, investors may lose part or all of their investment in
the Notes.

4.14 Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to a Dividend

Prospective investors in Dividend Linked Notes should be aware that, depending on the specific terms and conditions of the relevant
Dividend Linked Notes, (i) they might only receive a limited amount of interest or no interest at all, (i) payment of principal or interest
could occur at a time other than that stipulated, (iii) they could lose all or a substantial part of their investment. In addition, dividend
levels can be subject to significant fluctuations which bear no relation to fluctuations in interest rates, currencies or other indices, and
the timing of such variations can impact the real yield realised by investors, even in cases where the average level is in accordance
with expectations.

In general, the earlier the change in the dividend amount or the amount resulting from a formula occurs, the greater the impact on
yield. The market price of such Notes can be volatile and might depend on the length of the residual maturity and the volatility of the
dividend amounts.

5. ADDITIONAL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH SECURED NOTES (ISSUED BY SG ISSUER ONLY)
5.1 Risks relating to the Collateral Assets

- There is no guarantee that the Collateral Assets will be sufficient to ensure that, following enforcement of a Pledge Agreement,
the amounts available for distribution or the value of the Collateral Assets available to be delivered will be sufficient to pay all amounts
due to Noteholders in respect of the relevant Secured Notes. In addition, Collateral Percentage may be lower than 100%. In that case
the Noteholders will still have a claim against the Guarantor for any unpaid amounts.

- The value of the assets used as collateral value can be 3 per cent lower than the required collateral value. This tolerance threshold
amplifies most of the risks associated with Secured Notes described herein and in particular the risk that following enforcement of a
Pledge Agreement, the amounts available for distribution or the value of the Collateral Assets available to be delivered by the Security
Trustee or the Security Agent will not be sufficient to pay all amounts due to Noteholders in respect of the relevant Secured Notes. In
that case, the Noteholders will still have a claim against the Guarantor for any unpaid amounts.

- Lack of diversification of the Collateral Assets

In case of low diversification of the Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool pursuant to the Eligibility Criteria and the Collateral Rules,
any depreciation in the value of such assets in the period between the most recent Collateral Test Date and the realisation of the
Collateral Assets will have a proportionally larger impact on any shortfall as the amount recovered in respect of the Collateral Assets
on their sale will be dependent on the then current market value of a smaller range of Collateral Assets.

"Haircut" applied to Collateral Assets

A “Haircut” (if specified in the applicable Final Terms) means the percentage amount by which the value of each type of Collateral
Asset contained in a Collateral Pool is discounted. One Haircut value may be specified in the applicable Final Terms per type or class
of Collateral Asset. The level(s) of Haircut specified in the applicable Final Terms is intended to reflect the risk of a depreciation in the
value of Collateral Assets in the period between the most recent Collateral Test Date and the date on which such Collateral Assets
may be realised. Investors should note that the value of a Collateral Asset may change over time and the Haircut applied to the
Collateral Assets may become outdated and may not provide suitable protection against a potential depreciation in value of the
relevant Collateral Asset.

- llliquid Collateral Assets

Certain of the Collateral Assets may be illiquid and not easily or not at all realisable in certain market circumstances or can only be
sold at a discounted value. In that case, investors may receive the delivery of the Collateral Assets as if Physical Delivery of Collateral
Assets were applicable in relation thereto.

5.2 Secured Note Acceleration Event and Enforcement of the security

A Noteholder (or, in the case of French Law Notes only, the Representative of the Masse) is only entitled to send a Collateral
Enforcement Notice if neither SG Issuer nor the Guarantor has paid all amounts due to such Noteholder within a period of 3 Collateral
Business Days following the occurrence of the relevant Secured Note Acceleration Event.

During the 3 Collateral Business Days period there may be a depreciation in the value of the relevant Collateral Assets, thus reducing
the amount available to satisfy the claims of Noteholders upon realisation of the Collateral Assets. In addition, the Collateral Assets
may suffer a fall in value between the time at which the Collateral Enforcement Notice is sent by a Noteholder (or, in the case of
French Law Notes only, the Representative of the Masse) and the time at which the Collateral Assets are realised in full or, where
Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable, delivered.

5.3 Frequency of Collateral Test Dates

The lower the frequency of the periodic Collateral Test Dates specified in the applicable Final Terms and hence the greater the period
of time between each such periodic Collateral Test Date (or even in the absence of any Collateral Test Date) the more likely it is that
upon enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement, the proceeds of enforcement that a Noteholder will receive or, where Physical
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Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable, the value of the Collateral Assets delivered, will be less than the amounts due to
Noteholders in respect of the relevant Secured Notes. This could have an adverse effect on the value of and return on the Notes.
Consequently, Noteholders may lose part or all of their investment in the Notes.

5.4 Correlation between the value of the Collateral Assets and the creditworthiness of SG Issuer and the Guarantor

In the event that there is a positive correlation between the value of the Collateral Assets and the creditworthiness of SG Issuer and
the Guarantor, the value of the Collateral Assets may vary in the same way as the creditworthiness of SG Issuer and the Guarantor.

A default by SG Issuer and/or the Guarantor in relation to their obligations under the Secured Notes may be associated with a fall in
the value of Collateral Assets securing such Secured Notes.

The value of Collateral Assets required to be posted in the Collateral Pool will be based on the Secured Note Market Value which
takes into account SG Issuer's and the Guarantor's creditworthiness whereas, following an Event of Default, the Market Value
determined by the Calculation Agent (which determines the claim that a holder of Non-Waived Notes has on SG Issuer and/or the
Guarantor), will not take into account SG Issuer's or the Guarantor's creditworthiness and will not decrease following such Event of
Default. As a result, the claim of the Noteholders against the Issuer/Guarantor may be significantly higher than the value of the
Collateral Assets.

5.5 Specific risk due to the difference between the aggregate nominal value of the Non-Waived Notes and Market Value of
the Notes following an Event of Default for the Nominal Value Type of Collateralisation

When pursuant to the applicable Final Terms the value of the Collateral Assets required to be posted in the Collateral Pool is based
on the aggregate nominal value of the Secured Notes, the value of such Collateral Assets will not track the Market Value of the
Secured Notes, consequently following the occurrence of an Event of Default, the value of Collateral Assets may be significantly lower
than the claim of the Noteholders on SG Issuer and/or the Guarantor. Consequently, Noteholders may lose part or all of their
investment in the Notes.

5.6 Subordination of Noteholders to payment of expenses and other payments

Following the enforcement of security, the rights of holders of Non-Waived Notes to be paid amounts from the proceeds of such
enforcement and the realisation of the related Collateral Assets or, where Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable, to be
delivered Collateral Assets, will be subordinated to and therefore rank behind claims relating to any amounts payable to Secured
Parties ranking prior to the holders of Non-Waived Notes in accordance with the relevant order of priority and any rights of preference
existing by operation of law.

5.7 Risk of a delay in the realisation of the Collateral Assets in the event of the insolvency of the Issuer, the Security Trustee
, the Security Agent and/or the Collateral Custodian

In the event of the insolvency of SG Issuer, the Security Trustee , the Security Agent or the Collateral Custodian, the realisation of
the Collateral Assets may be delayed either by the appointment of an insolvency administrator or other insolvency official in relation
to SG Issuer, the Security Trustee , the Security Agent or the Collateral Custodian or by measures ordered by a competent court.
Such delay could adversely affect the position of the Noteholders in the event of a depreciation in the value of the Collateral Assets
during such period. Consequently, Noteholders may lose part or all of their investment in the Notes.

The Collateral Custodian, the Disposal Agent, the Substitute Paying Agent, the Security Trustee and the Security Agent are (unless
otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) part of the same group and in the event of the insolvency of one entity it is possible
that another entity may also be insolvent. Such circumstances may lead to a delay in the realisation of the Collateral Assets. However,
the agreements in which such entities are nominated will contain provisions permitting their replacement.
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Base Prospectus User Guide

BASE PROSPECTUS USER GUIDE

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this section or "User Guide" is to provide a simple tool for investors to help them navigate throughout the various
documents made available in relation to Notes issued by Societe Generale and SG Issuer (the "Products” or a "Product”).

DOCUMENTATION

For each issue of Notes issued under the Base Prospectus, the following documents are made available to investors systematically:
The Base Prospectus

This document:

- contains the information relating to the issuers and to the guarantor of the Notes, the general risk factors;

- describes the general terms and conditions of the Notes;

- details all the possible specific characteristics of the Notes, including all possible payoff formulae used to calculate the interest and/or
the redemption amount(s) due early or at maturity, and a wide range of underlying assets.

These possible payoff formulae are set out, according to the relevant issuance and underlying asset(s), in the General Terms and
Conditions of the English Law Notes or the General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae or the relevant Additional Terms and Conditions for Structured Notes.

The Supplement(s) if any

This document is issued for every significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to the information included in the
Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of the Notes and is made available on the website of the Issuers on
the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (http://www.bourse.lu) and on the website of the Issuers
(http://prospectus.socgen.com).

The Final Terms (or Offering Circular in case of U.S. Exempt Securities)

This document is issued for each specific issue of Notes and may include, when the context requires it, a summary specific to such
issue of Notes (referred to as issue specific summary) and contains:

- the general characteristics, e.g. relevant identification codes, specified denomination, etc.;

- the financial characteristics, e.g. coupons, redemption formula(e), automatic early redemption mechanism (if any) and the related
definitions corresponding to a particular Product, as described in the Base Prospectus;

- the underlying asset(s) to which the Product is linked;
- the relevant dates, e.g. issue date, maturity date, coupon payment date(s), valuation date(s); and

- with respect to an Offering Circular in case of U.S. Exempt Securities only, any additional information that the Issuer deems relevant
for the particular Product.

Information specific to any issue of U.S. Exempt Securities (including information on the form of the Notes and applicable selling and
transfer restrictions) shall be set out in an Offering Circular in connection with the offer and sale of such U.S. Exempt Securities. In
case of any issue of U.S. Exempt Securities, all references herein to "Final Terms" shall include, or be interpreted to mean, the
applicable Offering Circular.

The Base Prospectus, the applicable Final Terms and the issue specific summary are available on the website of the Luxembourg

Stock Exchange (http://www.bourse.lu), when the Notes are admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange and on the website of the Issuers (http://prospectus.socgen.com), when the Notes are Non-exempt Offers.
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THE VARIOUS SECTIONS OF THE BASE PROSPECTUS:

Table of contents of the Base Prospectus

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

RISK FACTORS

BASE PROSPECTUS - USER GUIDE

IMPORTANT INFORMATION

REGULATORY INFORMATION

IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO NON-EXEMPT OFFERS OF NOTES
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

FINAL TERMS OR DRAWDOWN PROSPECTUS

SUPPLEMENT TO THE BASE PROSPECTUS

FORM OF FINAL TERMS

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE ENGLISH LAW NOTES
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE FRENCH LAW NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS RELATING TO FORMULAE

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR STRUCTURED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR SHARE LINKED NOTES AND
DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR INDEX LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR SGI INDEX LINKED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR REFERENCE RATE LINKED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE LINKED
NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR COMMODITY LINKED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR FUND LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CREDIT LINKED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR INFLATION LINKED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR BOND LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR ETP LINKED NOTES AND FOR ETF
LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR NON EQUITY SECURITY LINKED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR WARRANT LINKED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR FUTURE LINKED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PORTFOLIO LINKED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR DIVIDEND LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS RELATING TO SECURED NOTES

FORM OF GUARANTEE

DESCRIPTION OF SOCIETE GENERALE

DESCRIPTION OF SG ISSUER

DESCRIPTION OF SOCIETE GENERALE INDICES (SGI INDICES)

DESCRIPTION OF THE PREFERENCE SHARE ISSUER AND THE PREFERENCE
SHARES

BOOK ENTRY CLEARANCE SYSTEMS

SUBSCRIPTION, SALE AND TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS
GENERAL INFORMATION

ON-GOING NON-EXEMPT OFFERS
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or more section(s) will apply

} 5. Sections applicable to Secured Notes only

6. Sections relevant to Notes depending on

the issuer / guarantor of the Notes

7. Sections providing additional general
information
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Notes issued under the Base Prospectus rely on many generic sections of the Base Prospectus detailed above, but depending on
the characteristics of the Notes, not all sections of the Base Prospectus will be relevant to a specific issuance of Notes.
HOW TO READ THE FINAL TERMS
The applicable Final Terms are divided in three parts:
- Part A, named "CONTRACTUAL TERMS", which provides the specific contractual terms of the Product;
- Part B, named "OTHER INFORMATION", which provides other information specific to the Notes ; and

- Only in the case of Non-exempt Offers, a third part is annexed to the applicable Final Terms constituting the issue specific summary
of the Notes.

Exhaustive information on the Products defined in Parts A and B of the applicable Final Terms is available in the Base Prospectus.

The following diagram provides the links between the various clauses in Parts A and B of the applicable Final Terms and the
corresponding sections of the Base Prospectus.

APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS

\ 4

Information linked to sections from the Base Prospectus ; - . .
1. Sections providing general information

P on the Base Prospectus, the issuer and the
TITLE guarantor
Issuer and Guarantor of the Notes

2. Sections applicable to Notes depending

Description of the Notes on the applicable governing law

Payoff formul == : -
ayoltformulae ! [ 3. Section applicable to Secured Notes
. e only
PART A: 1
1
1
L

CONTRACTUAL Description of the Underlying asset(s) - -
TERMS

I Y 4. Sections detailing the different payoff
Schedules and definitions relating to the formulae

Product

Secured Notes Provisions (if applicable)

5. Sections applying to Notes depending
on the underlying asset(s)of the Notes.
Depending on the underlying asset(s),

one or more section(s) will apply

Information specific to the Notes

Listing and admission to trading

Performance of Formula, explanation of
effect on the value of investment and
PART B: OTHER|| associated risks

INFORMATION

6. Terms of the Societe Generale guarantee
Information relating to settlement/delivery

7. Sections relevant to Notes depending
on the issuer / guarantor of the Notes

ISSUE SPECIFIC SUMMARY (If required) 8. Sections providing additional general
information

Non-exempt Offer information (if any)

A. HOW TO READ THE ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS RELATING TO FORMULAE

The section “ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS RELATING TO FORMULAE” is the section of the Base Prospectus where
all payoff formulae are detailed.
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This section contains:

- an exhaustive list of Products with their respective Product Formulae, regrouped in Families of Products (Condition 3 of the Additional
Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae);

- an exhaustive list of Reference Formulae (Condition 4 of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae);

- the definitions of all Variable Data needed as input in the different Product Formulae (Condition 5 of these Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae); and

- the definition of all add-ons that may be used as an additional feature of a Product Formula (Condition 1.4 of these Additional Terms
and Conditions relating to Formulae).

For ease of reading, the Products
with similar characteristics are
regrouped in Families of Products
(such as “Vanilla”).

Each Product is identified with a
Reference of the Product and a
Product Name (such as “3.2.1
European Calls”)

Each Product Amount describes an

amount due under the Notes:

- during the life of the product: the
Structured Interest Amount
(coupons)

- in case of an automatic early
redemption: the Automatic Early
Redemption Amount or “AERA”

- at maturity: the Final Redemption
Amount or “FRA”

Each Product Formula of each
Product Amount will be based on a
Reference Formula (such as
“Performance” forming part of “4.1
Family of “SimpleLevel”)

11 Families of Products

Family 3.1 Family 3.2 Family 3.10
Products Products Products
“Certificate” “Vanilla” ”Credit or
Bond Linked”

Product 3.1.1 Product 3.2.1

etc. Product 3.2.2 Product 3.10.1
etc. Product 3.10.2
etc.

For each Product, there are 3 Product Amounts:
Structured Interest Amount (if any)

Automatic Early Redemption Amount (if any)

Final Redemption Amount

each Product Amount is expressed as
Specified Denomination x Product Formula

Reference Formulae

e.g.: Performance, average performance, performance
based on the minimum/maximum level reached by the
underlying asset, etc.

Variable Data
needed to feed
the Product
Formulae or the
Reference
Formulae

e.g.: Participation,
Capital Guarantee
Level, Barrier
Level, Coupon
Level, etc...

Add-ons

(if applicable)

e.g.: Memory
coupon, etc...

EXAMPLES OF APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS: FOCUS ON PART A - PAYOFF FORMULA

The best way for an investor to understand a Product is to start reading the applicable Final Terms as they provide all the
main information relating to the Notes.

Two case studies can be found below, aiming to provide a step-by-step guide for reading the Final Terms. The numbers specified
before each section below reference the corresponding clauses in the applicable Final Terms.
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Product identified by its
Reference of the Product

v

3 possible Product Amounts:

Structured Interest Amount
(if any)

Automatic Early Redemption
Amount (if any)

Final Redemption Amount

Expressed as = Specified
Denomination x Product Formula

Other information

Underlying(s) F--

Dates -

Each Product Formula is based
on reference performances or
levels (Reference Formulae)

Base Prospectus User Guide

CASE STUDY #1: CALL STANDARD

----p 9. (iv) Reference of the Product: 3.2.5

- 15 .(i) Structured Interest Amount(s): Not Applicable

::> 19. (i) Automatic Early Redemption Amount: Not Applicable

20. Final Redemption Amount:

Unless previously redeemed, the Issuer shall redeem the Notes on the Maturity Date, in
accordance with the following provisions in respect of each Note:

Scenario 1:

If on Valuation Date(1), AverageBasketLevel(1) is higher than or FinalStrike 1

equal to 909 then: S
A

Final Redemption Amount = Specified Denomination x

[9’ 100%% (AverageBasketlevel(1) — 9"
. A

FinalParticipation
FinalStrike_2

ConstantRedemptionLevel_FRA_1

Scenario 2:
If on Valuation Date(1), AverageBasketLevel(1) is lower than i

| then:
1
| Final Redemption Amount = Specified Denomination x §094|
v A
26. (i) Underlying(s): ConstantRedemptionLevel FRA_2
k =1:Index 1
k =2: Index 2
k = 3: Index 3
k = 4: Index 4

-» 27. (i) Definitions relating to dates:

Valuation Date(0): [DD/MM/YYYY]
Valuation Date(1): [DD/MM/YYYY]

27. (ii) Definitions relating to the Product: Applicable, subject to the provisions of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae

AverageBasketLevel(1) means the Arithmetic Average, for k from 1 to 4, of Level(i, k).as
defined in Condition 4.3 of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae.

Level(1,k) (k from 1 to 4) means (S(1,k) / S(0,k)) as defined in Condition 4.1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae.

S(i,k) (i from 0 to 1) (k from 1 to 4) means in respect of any Valuation Date(i) the relevant

Closing Price as defined in Condition 4.0 of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae.
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Product identified by its
Reference of the Product

CASE STUDY #2: ATHENA, APOLLON

----p 9. (iv) Reference of the Product: 3.3.4 with Option 1 applicable

v

~—-9 15 (i) Structured Interest Amount: Not Applicable

3 possible Product Amounts:

Structured Interest Amount
(if any)

Automatic Early Redemption
Amount (if any)

Final Redemption Amount

Expressed as = Specified
Denomination x Product Formula

» 19. (i) Automatic Early Redemption Amount: Applicable

1
1
i Unless previously redeemed, if an Automatic Early Redemption Event has occurred, then
the Issuer shall redeem early the Notes on Automatic Early Redemption Date(i) (i from 1

to 7), in accordance with the following provisions in respect of each Note:

Automatic Early Redemption Amount(i) = Specified Denomination x [#00% -+9i25%Xi]

A A
ConstantRedemptionLevel AERA(i | Coupon_AERA(i)

Unless previously redeemed, the Issuer shall redeem the Notes on the Maturity Date, in

accordance with the following provisions in respect of each Note:
or eﬁual toﬁy then:
0

- 20. Final Redemption Amount:
1
1
1

Scenario 1:
If on Valuation Date(8), Performance(8) is higher than
Final Redemption Amount = Specified Denomination x

Other information

Underlying pos

Dates -

ConstantRedemptionLevel FRA_1 Coupon_FRA
Scenario 2: <

If on Valuation Date(8), Performance(8) is lower than ‘ then:
Final Redemption Amount = Specified Denomination x + Performance(8)]

: A
|

| :
| ConstantRedemptionLevel FRA
!

I

I

1

1

1

1

---p 26. (i) Underlying(s):
Share 1

---p 27. (i) Definitions relating to dates:
Valuation Date(0): [DD/MM/YYYY]

Valuation Date(i) (i from 1 to 8):i = 1: [DD/MM/YYYY], ....,i = 8: [DD/MM/YYYY]

Each Product Formula is based
on reference performances or
levels (Reference Formulae)

27. (ii) Definitions relating to the Product: Applicable, subject to the provisions of

> the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae

Automatic Early Redemption Event is deemed to have occurred, as determined by the
Calculation Agent, if on a Valuation Date(i) (i from 1 to 7), Performance(i) is higher than

orequal to‘ """" BarrierAutocall(i)
Performance(i) (i from 1 to 8) means (S(i) / S(0)) — 100 % as defined in Condition 4.1 of

i
1
1
1
1
1
1

the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae.

S(i) (i from 0 to 8) means in respect of any Valuation Date(i) the Closing Price of the
Underlying as defined in Condition 4.0 of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae.
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION

This Base Prospectus is established pursuant to Article 8 of Regulation 2017/1129/EU dated as of 14 June 2017, as amended (the
Prospectus Regulation) and for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuers, the Guarantor and the Notes which is
necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profit and losses and
prospects of the Issuers and the Guarantor.

Certain information contained in this Base Prospectus and/or documents incorporated herein by reference have been extracted from
sources specified in the sections where such information appears. The Issuers confirm that such information has been accurately
reproduced and that, so far as they are aware, and are able to ascertain from information published by the relevant third party, no
facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. Final Terms will (if applicable)
specify the nature of the responsibility (if any) taken by the Issuer for any information relating to any underlying to which the Notes
may be linked.

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with any Supplement thereto and all documents which are deemed to be
incorporated herein by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference"). This Base Prospectus shall be read and construed
on the basis that such documents are incorporated by reference and form part of this Base Prospectus.

None of the Arranger or any Dealer has independently verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no representation,
warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility is accepted by the Arranger or any Dealer as to the accuracy
or completeness of the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any other information provided
by either of the Issuers or the Guarantor in connection with the Programme or the Notes. None of the Arranger or any Dealer accepts
any liability in relation to the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any other information
provided by either of the Issuers or the Guarantor in connection with the Programme or the Notes.

No person is or has been authorised by any of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any of the Dealers to give any information
or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Base Prospectus or any other information supplied in
connection with the Programme or the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as
having been authorised by any of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any of the Dealers.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes (a) is intended to
provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (b) should be considered as a recommendation or a statement of opinion (or a
report on either of those things) by any of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any of the Dealers that any recipient of this Base
Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes should purchase any Notes. Each
investor contemplating purchasing any Notes should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs,
and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the relevant Issuer and (if applicable) the Guarantor. Neither this Base Prospectus
nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the issue of any Notes constitutes an offer or invitation by or
on behalf of any of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any of the Dealers to any person to subscribe for or to purchase any
Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall in any circumstances imply that the
information contained herein concerning any of the Issuers or the Guarantor is correct at any time subsequent to the date hereof or
that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes is correct as of any time subsequent to the date
indicated in the document containing the same. The Arranger or any of the Dealers expressly do not undertake to review the financial
condition or affairs of any of the Issuers or the Guarantor during the life of the Programme or to advise any investor in the Notes of
any information coming to their attention. Investors should review, inter alia, the most recently published documents incorporated by
reference into this Base Prospectus when deciding whether or not to purchase any Notes.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND OFFER OF NOTES GENERALLY

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any Notes in any jurisdiction to any
person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction. The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the
offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. None of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealers
represent that this Base Prospectus may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any
applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assume
any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering.

In particular, unless specifically indicated to the contrary in the applicable Final Terms, no action has been taken by the Issuers, the
Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealers which is intended to permit a public offering of any Notes_outside the European Economic
Area (EEA) or distribution of this Base Prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes
may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Base Prospectus nor any advertisement or other offering material may
be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and
regulations. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus or any Note comes must inform themselves about, and observe,
any such restrictions on the distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offering and sale of Notes (see "Subscription, Sale and
Transfer Restrictions").
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Each prospective investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular,
each prospective investor may wish to consider, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other professional advisers
whether it:

(i) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the
Notes and the information contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this Base Prospectus or any applicable Supplement and in
the applicable Final Terms;

(ii) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an
investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(i) has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including Notes with principal
or interest in respect of which amounts are payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for principal or interest payments
is different from the prospective investor's currency;

(iv) understands thoroughly the terms of the Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of any relevant underlying and financial markets;
and

(v) is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to
bear the applicable risks.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal
investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each prospective investor should consult its legal
advisers to determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various
types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their
legal advisors or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital
or similar rules.

INDEPENDENT REVIEW AND ADVICE

Each prospective investor in the Notes must determine, based on its own independent review and such professional advice as it
deems appropriate under the circumstances, that its acquisition of the Notes is fully consistent with its financial needs, objectives and
condition, complies and is fully consistent with all investment policies, guidelines and restrictions applicable to it and is a fit, proper
and suitable investment for it, notwithstanding the clear and substantial risks inherent in investing in or holding the Notes.

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain
authorities. Each prospective investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (i) Notes are legal
investments for it, (i) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase or
pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate
treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules. Prospective investors should also conduct such
independent investigation and analysis regarding the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Notes and all other relevant market and economic
factors as they deem appropriate to evaluate the merits and risks of an investment in Notes.

A prospective investor may not rely on the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealer(s) or any other member of the Group in
connection with its determination as to the legality of its acquisition of the Notes or as to the other matters referred to above.

ASSESSMENT OF INVESTMENT SUITABILITY

Each prospective investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own financial circumstances and
investment objectives, and only after careful consideration with its financial, legal, tax and other advisers. In particular, each
prospective investor should:

(i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the
Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any applicable Supplement;

(i) bhave access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an
investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(iii) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes;

(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices and financial markets;
and

(v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other
factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

The Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not purchase complex financial
instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with
an understood, measured and appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A prospective investor should not invest in Notes
which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes
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will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the
prospective investor's overall investment portfolio. Some Notes which are complex financial instruments may be redeemable at an
amount below par in which case investors may lose the value of part or their entire investment.

NO LEGAL AND TAX ADVICE

Neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor are giving legal or tax advices to the investors. Each prospective investor should consult its own
advisers as to legal, tax and related aspects relating to an investment in the Notes. A Noteholder’s effective yield on the Notes may
be diminished by the tax on that Noteholder of its investment in the Notes.

LEGALITY OF PURCHASE

None of the Issuer, the Agents or any of their respective affiliates has or assumes responsibility for the lawfulness of the acquisition
of the Notes by a prospective purchaser of the Notes, whether under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or the jurisdiction
in which it operates (if different), or for compliance by that prospective purchaser with any law, regulation or regulatory policy applicable
to it.

TAXATION

Potential purchasers and sellers of the Notes should be aware that they may be required to pay taxes or documentary charges or
duties in accordance with the laws and practices of the jurisdiction where the Notes are transferred or other jurisdictions. In some
jurisdictions, no official statements of the tax authorities or court decisions may be available in relation to the tax treatment of financial
instruments such as the Notes. The tax legislation of the investor’'s Member State and of the Issuer’s country of incorporation
may have an impact on the income received from the securities. Prospective investors are advised to ask for their own tax
adviser's advice on their individual taxation with respect to the acquisition, holding, disposal and redemption in respect of Notes . Only
such adviser is in a position to duly consider the specific situation of the prospective investor.

NO GROSS-UP RISK

If a withholding or deduction is required by the Tax Jurisdiction and if the applicable Final Terms specify that the Gross-up provision
is not applicable, the Issuer will not be required to pay such additional amounts. In this case, neither the Issuer nor any paying agent
nor any other person will be required to pay additional amounts to cover the amounts so withheld or deducted. Consequently, investors
will receive such payments net of such withholding tax. In such case, investors should note that they will take the risk of any applicable
withholding tax and each Noteholder shall be responsible for supplying or filing (as applicable) in a timely manner any documentary
evidence or forms as the investor may be entitled to and as may be required in order to obtain relief or reduction of taxes imposed by
way of withholding or deduction on payments under the Notes.

In addition, neither the Issuer nor any paying agent nor any other person will be required to pay additional amounts to cover any
amounts withheld or deducted on account of any United States withholding taxes, including taxes under FATCA and Section 871(m)
as discussed below. Consequently, investors will receive payments net of any applicable United States withholding taxes.

UNITED STATES IMPORTANT NOTICE

The Notes and any guarantee thereof have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or under the securities law of
any state or political sub-division of the United States, and trading in the Notes has not been approved by the CFTC under the CEA.
No person has registered and no person will register as a "commodity pool operator" of any Issuer under the CEA and the CFTC
Rules, and no Issuer has been and no Issuer will be registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. Other
than with respect to certain U.S. Exempt Securities, the Notes are being offered and sold in reliance on an exemption from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Regulation S.

Accordingly, except for U.S. Exempt Securities, the Notes may only be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred in an “offshore
transaction” (as defined under Regulation S) to or for the account or benefit of a person who (a) is not a U.S. Person, as defined in
the General Terms and Conditions; and (b) is not a person who comes within any definition of U.S. person for the purposes of the
CEA or any CFTC Rule, guidance or order proposed or issued under the CEA (for the avoidance of doubt, any person who is not a
“Non-United States person” defined under CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv), but excluding, for purposes of subsection (D) thereof, the
exception for qualified eligible persons who are not “Non-United States persons”, shall be considered a U.S. person) and (c) is not a
"U.S. person" for purposes of the final rules implementing the credit risk retention requirements of Section 15G of the U.S. Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the U.S. Risk Retention Rules) (a Risk Retention U.S. Person) (such a person or account, as
described herein a Permitted Transferee). With the exception of U.S. Exempt Securities, the Notes are available only to Permitted
Transferees.

Information specific to U.S. Exempt Securities (including information on the form of the Notes and applicable selling and transfer
restrictions) shall be set out in the applicable Offering Circular in connection with the offer and sale of such U.S. Exempt Securities.

THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED WITH, OR APPROVED BY, ANY
UNITED STATES FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES OR COMMODITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY.
FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT PASSED UPON OR ENDORSED THE MERITS OF THIS
OFFERING OR THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY
IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE IN THE UNITED STATES.
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This Base Prospectus is not a prospectus for the purposes of Section 12(a)(2) or any other provision of or rule under the Securities
Act.

Notes in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or
its possessions or to United States persons, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. Treasury regulations. Terms used in this
paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the Code) and the U.S. Treasury regulations
promulgated thereunder.

This Base Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that, except to the extent subparagraph (ii) below may apply, any offer of Notes
in any Member State of the EEA (each, a Relevant State) will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Regulation
from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer in that
Relevant State of Notes which are the subject of an offering contemplated in this Base Prospectus as completed by final terms in
relation to the offer of those Notes may only do so (i) in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to
publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Regulation or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the
Prospectus Regulation, in each case, in relation to such offer, or (ii) if a prospectus for such offer has been approved by the competent
authority in that Relevant State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant State and notified to the competent authority in
that Relevant State and (in either case) published, all in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation, provided that any such
prospectus has subsequently been completed by final terms which specify that offers may be made other than pursuant to Articles 1
(4) and/or 3 (2) of the Prospectus Regulation in that Relevant State, such offer is made in the period beginning and ending on the
dates specified for such purpose in such prospectus or final terms, as applicable and the Issuer has consented in writing to its use for
the purpose of such offer. Except to the extent subparagraph (ii) above may apply, neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has authorised,
nor does it authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in circumstances in which an obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to
publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer.

SWITZERLAND IMPORTANT NOTICE

The Notes described in this Base Prospectus and related offering documents do not constitute a participation in a collective investment
scheme within the meaning of the Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes (CISA). Therefore, the Notes are not subject
to authorization and supervision by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA (FINMA) and investors in the Notes
issued under this Programme will not benefit from protection under the CISA or supervision by FINMA. Investors in the Notes will bear
a credit risk on the Issuer of the Notes or in the case of guaranteed Notes, on the Guarantor.

KINGDOM OF BAHRAIN IMPORTANT NOTICE

In relation to investors in the Kingdom of Bahrain, Notes issued in connection with the Base Prospectus, together with any Final Terms
and related offering documents must be in registered form and must only be marketed to existing account holders and accredited
investors as defined by the Central Bank of Bahrain ("CBB") in the Kingdom of Bahrain where such investors make a minimum
investment of at least U.S.$ 100,000, or any equivalent amount in other currency or such other amount as the CBB may determine.

This offer does not constitute an offer of securities in the Kingdom of Bahrain in terms of Article (81) of the Central Bank and Financial
Institutions Law 2006 (decree Law No. 64 of 2006). The Base Prospectus, together with any Final Terms and related offering
documents have not been and will not be registered as a prospectus with the CBB. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered, sold or
made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase nor will the Base Prospectus, together with any Final Terms or any other
related documents or material be used in connection with any offer, sale or invitation to subscribe or purchase securities, whether
directly or indirectly, to persons in the Kingdom of Bahrain, other than as marketing to accredited investors for an offer outside Bahrain.

The CBB has not reviewed, approved or registered the Base Prospectus, together with any Final Terms or related offering documents
and it has not in any way considered the merits of the securities to be marketed for investment, whether in or outside the Kingdom of
Bahrain. Therefore, the CBB assumes no responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the statements and information
contained in this document and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from reliance upon the
whole or any part of the content of this document.

No offer of Notes will be made to the public in the Kingdom of Bahrain and the Base Prospectus, together with any Final Terms or
related offering documents must be read by the addressee only and must not be issued, passed to, or made available to the public
generally.

The CBB and the Bahrain Bourse assume no responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the statements and information
contained in this Base Prospectus and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from reliance upon
the whole or any part of the contents of this Base Prospectus.

Each of the responsible persons (as defined in "important information" below) accepts responsibility for the information given in this
Base Prospectus and confirms that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this
Base Prospectus is, to the best of its knowledge, in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect its import.

Any offer of Notes to investors in the Kingdom of Bahrain will be made by way of private placement. For the avoidance of doubt, no
offer of Notes will be made to the public in the Kingdom of Bahrain. All offers of Notes to investors in the Kingdom of Bahrain are
therefore intended for "Accredited Investors" only.

"Accredited Investors” are defined as:
individuals holding financial assets (either singly or jointly with their spouse) of U.S.$ 1,000,000 or more, excluding that person's
principal place of residence;
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companies, partnerships, trusts or other commercial undertakings, which have financial assets available for investment of not less
than U.S.$ 1,000,000; or

governments, supranational organisations, central banks or other national monetary authorities, and state organisations whose main
activity is to invest in financial instruments (such as state pension funds).

All offers of Notes to investors in the Kingdom of Bahrain will be made by way of private placement and may only be offered to
investors in the Kingdom of Bahrain in minimum subscriptions of U.S.$ 100,000 (or equivalent in other currencies).

WITHHOLDING TAX IN FRANCE

The statements herein regarding withholding tax considerations in France are based on the laws in force in France as of the date of
this Base Prospectus and are subject to any changes in law.

The following information is of a general nature only, is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice, and
does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the French tax considerations which may be relevant to a decision to
purchase, own or dispose of the Notes. The information contained herein is limited to French withholding tax issues and prospective
investors in the Notes should therefore consult their own professional advisers as to the effects of state, local or foreign laws, including
French tax law, to which they may be subject and as to their tax position, as a result of the purchase, ownership and disposal of the
Notes.

Payments made by Societe Generale as Issuer
The following may be relevant to holders of the Notes who do not concurrently hold shares in Societe Generale.

Payments of interest and other income made by Societe Generale with respect to the Notes

will not be subject to the withholding tax provided by Article 125 A Ill of the French tax code (FTC) unless such payments are made
outside France in a non-certain non-cooperative State or territory within the meaning of Article 238-0 A of the FTC (a Non-Cooperative
State) other than those mentioned in 2° of 2 bis of the same Atrticle 238-0 A. If such payments under the Notes are made outside
France in a Non-Cooperative State other than those mentioned in 2° of 2 bis of the same Article 238-0 A, a 75 per cent. withholding
tax will be applicable (subject to certain exceptions and to the more favourable provisions of an applicable double tax treaty) by virtue
of Article 125 A Ill of the FTC. The list of Non-Cooperative States is published by a ministerial executive order and is updated on
annual basis.

Furthermore, according to Article 238 A of the FTC, interest and other income on such Notes will not be deductible from Societe
Generale’s taxable income if they are paid or accrued to persons domiciled or established in a Non-Cooperative State or paid to an
account held with a financial institution established in such a Non-Cooperative State (the Deductibility Exclusion). Under certain
conditions, any such non-deductible interest and other income may be recharacterised as constructive dividends pursuant to Articles
109 et seq. of the FTC, in which case such non-deductible interest and other income may be subject to the withholding tax provided
by Article 119 bis 2 of the FTC (i) at a rate of 12.8 per cent. for payments benefiting individuals who are not French tax residents, (ii)
the standard corporate income tax rate set forth in the second paragraph of Article 219-1 of the FTC (i.e. 25 per cent. for fiscal years
beginning as from 1 January 2022) for payments benefiting legal persons who are not French tax residents or (iii) a rate of 75 per
cent. for payments made outside France in a Non-Cooperative State other than those mentioned in 2° of 2 bis of the same Article
238-0 A (subject to certain exceptions and to the more favourable provisions of an applicable double tax treaty).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the 75 per cent. withholding tax provided by Article 125 A Il of the FTC nor the Deductibility
Exclusion will apply in respect of an issue of Notes if Societe Generale can prove that the main purpose and effect of such issue of
Notes was not that of allowing the payments of interest and other income to be made in a Non-Cooperative State (the Exception).
Pursuant to the Bulletin Officiel des Finances Publiques-Imp6ts BOI-INT-DG-20-50-30, no. 150 and BOI-INT-DG-20-50-20, no. 290,
an issue of Notes will benefit from the Exception without the Issuer having to provide any proof of the purpose and effect of such issue
of Notes, if such Notes are:

(i) offered by means of a public offer within the meaning of Article L. 411-1 of the French monetary and financial code for which the
publication of a prospectus is mandatory or pursuant to an equivalent offer in a State other than a Non-Cooperative State. For this
purpose, an "equivalent offer" means any offer requiring the registration or submission of an offer document by or with a foreign
securities market authority; and/or

(i) admitted to trading on a French or foreign regulated market or multilateral securities trading system provided that such market or
system is not located in a Non-Cooperative State, and the operation of such market is carried out by a market operator or an
investment services provider or any other similar foreign entity, provided further that such market operator, investment services
provider or entity is not located in a Non-Cooperative State; or

(iif) admitted, at the time of their issue, to the operations of a central depositary or of a securities delivery and payment systems
operator within the meaning of Article L. 561-2 of the French monetary and financial code, or of one or more similar foreign depositaries
or operators provided that such depositary or operator is not located in a Non-Cooperative State.

Payments made to individuals fiscally domiciled in France

Pursuant to Article 125 A | of the FTC, where the paying agent (établissement payeur) is established in France and subject to certain
exceptions, interest and other assimilated income received by individuals who are fiscally domiciled (domiciliés fiscalement) in France
are subject to a 12.8 per cent. withholding tax, which is deductible from their personal income tax liability in respect of the year in
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which the payment has been made. Social contributions (CSG, CRDS and solidarity levy) are also levied by way of withholding at a
global rate of 17.2 per cent. on such interest and other assimilated income received by individuals who are fiscally domiciled (domiciliés
fiscalement) in France, subject to certain exceptions.

WITHHOLDING TAX IN LUXEMBOURG

The statements herein regarding withholding tax considerations in Luxembourg are based on the laws in force in the Grand Duchy of
Luxembourg as of the date of this Base Prospectus and are subject to any changes in law.

The following information is of a general nature only, is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice, and
does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the Luxembourg tax considerations which may be relevant to a decision to
purchase, own or dispose of the Notes. The information contained herein is limited to Luxembourg withholding tax issues and
prospective investors in the Notes should therefore consult their own professional advisers as to the effects of state, local or foreign
laws, including Luxembourg tax law, to which they may be subject and as to their tax position, as a result of the purchase, ownership
and disposal of the Notes.

Please be aware that the residence concept used under the respective headings below applies for Luxembourg income tax
assessment purposes only. Any reference in the present herein to a withholding tax or a tax of a similar nature, or to any other
concepts, refers to Luxembourg tax law and/or concepts only.

Non-resident holders of Notes issued by SG Issuer

Under Luxembourg general tax laws currently in force, there is no Luxembourg withholding tax on payments of principal, premium or
interest made to non-resident holders of Notes, nor on accrued but unpaid interest in respect of the Notes, nor is any Luxembourg
withholding tax payable upon redemption or repurchase of the Notes held by non-resident holders of the Notes.

Resident holders of Notes issued by SG Issuer

Under Luxembourg general tax laws currently in force and subject to the law of 23 December 2005, as amended (the "Relibi Law"),
there is no Luxembourg withholding tax on payments of principal, premium or interest made to Luxembourg resident holders of Notes,
nor on accrued but unpaid interest in respect of the Notes, nor is any Luxembourg withholding tax payable upon redemption or
repurchase of the Notes held by Luxembourg resident holders of the Notes.

Under the Relibi Law payments of interest or similar income made or ascribed by a paying agent established in Luxembourg to an
individual beneficial owner who is a resident of Luxembourg will be subject to a withholding tax of 20 %. Such withholding tax will be
in full discharge of income tax if the beneficial owner is an individual acting in the course of the management of his/her private wealth.
Responsibility for the withholding of the tax will be assumed by the Luxembourg paying agent.

SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

The Issuers are corporations organised under the laws of Luxembourg and France, respectively (each a Relevant Jurisdiction). All
of the officers and directors named herein reside outside the United States and all or a substantial portion of the assets of the relevant
Issuer and of such officers and directors are located outside the United States. As a result, it may not be possible for investors to
effect service of process in connection with a cause of action under the laws of a jurisdiction other than England and Wales outside
the Relevant Jurisdiction upon the relevant Issuer or such persons, or to enforce judgments against them obtained in courts outside
the Relevant Jurisdiction predicated upon civil liabilities of the relevant Issuer or such directors and officers under laws other than
those of the Relevant Jurisdiction, including any judgment predicated upon United States federal securities laws.

IMPORTANT — EEA RETAIL INVESTORS

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes states "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" as Applicable, the Notes, are not
intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail
investor in the EEA. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point
(11) of Article 4(1) of MIFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2016/97/EU (as amended or superseded, the
Insurance Distribution Directive), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article
4(1) of MIFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation. Consequently no key information document
required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the EU PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling those Notes or otherwise
making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling those Notes or otherwise
making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the EU PRIIPs Regulation.

IMPORTANT — UK RETAIL INVESTORS

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes states "Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors" as Applicable, the Notes are not intended
to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor
in the UK. For these purposes, a “retail investor” means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of
Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA,; or (ii) a customer within the meaning
of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive,
where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014
as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA, or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU)
2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation
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(EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the UK PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the
Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes
or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

Each Issuer maintains its financial books and records and prepares its financial statements in accordance with financial reporting
standards which differ in certain important respects from generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (U.S. GAAP).

OTHER INFORMATION
Credit ratings

The Issuer may ask one or more independent credit rating agencies (established in the EU and registered under the Regulation (EC)
No 1060/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council dated 16 September 2009, as amended (the CRA Regulation) and
such registration has not been withdrawn or suspended) to assign credit ratings to a Series of Notes. The ratings may not reflect the
potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value
of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating
agency at any time.

In general, European regulated investors should only base their investment decision on credit ratings assigned by credit rating
agencies that are on the list of registered and certified rating agencies published by the European Securities and Markets Authority
(ESMA) on its website in accordance with the CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the status of the relevant rating agency
included in such list, as there may be delays between certain supervisory measures being taken against a relevant rating agency and
the publication of the updated ESMA list.

Structured Notes Linked to SGI Indices

The roles of the various teams involved within Societe Generale in the design, maintenance and replication of indices have been
strictly defined. The replication of any index is carried out in the same way by a single team within Societe Generale, whether for
hedging of a product held by external investors or for positions held by Societe Generale acting as co-investors alongside external
investors.

Eurosystem eligibility for New Global Notes and Registered Global Notes

New Global Notes and Registered Global Notes issued under the new safekeeping structure (NSS) may be issued with the intention
that such Notes be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem,
either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility
criteria as specified by the European Central Bank. However, there is no guarantee that such Notes will be recognised as eligible
collateral, or that, even if recognised, the eligibility will continue during the life of the Notes. Any other Notes are not intended to be
recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem.

Notes where denominations involve integral multiples: Definitive Bearer Notes

In relation to any issue of English Law Bearer Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified Denomination plus
one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that such Bearer Notes may be traded in amounts that
are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts,
holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the
relevant time may not receive a Definitive Bearer Note in respect of such holding (should Definitive Bearer Notes be printed) and
would need to purchase a principal amount of Bearer Notes such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.

If Definitive Bearer Notes are issued, holders should be aware that Definitive Bearer Notes which have a denomination that is not an
integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

Notes containing limited events of default
The Notes of a Series will only become immediately due and repayable following the occurrence of a limited nhumber of events of
default (in compliance with Condition "Events of Default" of the General Terms and Conditions).

Use of Proceeds related to Positive Impact Notes

The Final Terms of the Notes may provide that the Issuer intends to apply an amount equivalent to the net proceeds of the issue to
finance or refinance, in part or in full, eligible activities (such activities the Eligible Activities), which serve to deliver a positive
contribution to one or more of the three pillars of sustainable development (economic, environmental and social), once any potential
negative impacts and mitigation actions have been duly identified as defined in the sustainable and positive impact bond framework,
as amended and supplemented from time to time (the Framework) which is available on the website of Societe Generale (
https://www.societegenerale.com/sites/default/files/documents/2021-11/20211104_Societe-Generale-Sustainable-and-Positive-
Impact-Bond-Framework.pdf ) and as specified in the Final Terms (the Positive Impact Notes).

Positive Impact Notes can be either green (the Green Positive Impact Notes), social (the Social Positive Impact Notes) or
sustainability (the Sustainability Positive Impact Notes) if an amount equivalent to the net proceeds will be applied to finance or
refinance Eligible Activities in the green categories, social categories or in both categories (in case of Sustainability Positive Impact
Notes) pursuant to the Framework.
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Prospective investors should have regard to the information set out in the Final Terms and the Framework regarding such use of
proceeds and must determine for themselves the relevance of such information for the purpose of any investment in such Positive
Impact Notes together with any other investigation such investor deems necessary.

The definition (legal, regulatory or otherwise) of, and market consensus as to what constitutes or may be classified as, a sustainable,
green or equivalently-labelled project or a loan that may finance such activity, and the requirements of any such label are currently
under development. There can be no assurance by the Issuer, the Arranger or the Dealers that the use of proceeds of the Positive
Impact Notes identified in the Final Terms will satisfy, whether in whole or in part, any future legislative or regulatory requirements, or
any present or future investor expectations or requirements with respect to investment criteria or guidelines with which any investor
or its investments are required to comply whether by any present or future applicable law or regulation or under its own by-laws or
other governing rules or investment portfolio mandates.

No assurance or representation is given as to the suitability or reliability for any purpose whatsoever of any second party opinion or
certification of any other third party (whether or not solicited by the Issuer) that may be made available in connection with the issue of
any Positive Impact Notes and in particular with any activity to fulfill any environmental, social and/or other criteria.

Currently, the providers of such second party opinion which is available on the website of Societe Generale
(https://www.societegenerale.com/sites/default/files/documents/2021-11/20211104_Societe-Generale-SPO-update-ISS.pdf) and as
specified in the Final Terms and certifications are not subject to any specific regulatory or other regime or oversight. Any such second
party opinion or certification is not, nor should be deemed to be, a recommendation by the Issuer or any other person to buy, sell or
hold any such Positive Impact Notes.

The Arranger or the Dealers do not make any representation as to the suitability of the Positive Impact Notes to fulfil "positive impact"
criteria required by prospective investors. The Arranger or the Dealers have not undertaken, nor are responsible for, any assessment
of the eligibility criteria, any verification of whether the Positive Impact Notes meet the eligibility criteria, or the monitoring of the use
of proceeds. Investors should refer to Societe Generale's website ( https://www.societegenerale.com/en/measuring-our-
performance/investors/debt-investors ) or any third party opinion.

INTERPRETATION

1. Capitalised terms which are used but not defined in any particular section of this Base Prospectus shall have the meaning attributed
thereto in the relevant General Terms and Conditions or any other section of this Base Prospectus.

2. All references in this Base Prospectus and any applicable Final Terms to:

(a) "U.S. dollars" or "U.S.$" refer to the lawful currency of the United States, those to "Sterling" or "£" refer to the lawful currency of
the United Kingdom, those to "Australian dollars" or "A$" refer to the lawful currency of Australia, those to "Swiss Francs" refer to the
lawful currency of Switzerland, those to "Japanese Yen" or "¥" refer to the lawful currency of Japan, those to "euro”, "Euro” or "€" refer
to the lawful currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on
the Functioning of the European Union, as amended and those to "CNY", "CNH”, "Yuan" or "RMB" or "Renminbi" refer to the lawful
currency of the People's Republic of China (the PRC), which for the purpose of this document, excludes Taiwan and the Special
Administrative Regions of the PRC: Hong Kong and Macau;

any three letter alphabetic currency codes, including but not limited to the three letter alphabetic currency codes set out below, shall
have the meaning given to them pursuant to 1ISO 4217 (the international standard currency code established by the International
Organization for Standardization):

Alphabetic code Country Currency
AED UNITED ARAB United
EMIRATES Arab
Emirates
Dirham
ARS ARGENTINA Argentine
Peso
AUD AUSTRALIA Australian
Dollar
BGN BULGARIA Bulgarian
Lev
BHD BAHRAIN Bahraini
Dinar
BWP BOTSWANA Botswana
Pula
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BRL BRAZIL Brazilian
Real
CAD CANADA Canadian
Dollar
CHF SWITZERLAND | Swiss
Franc
CLP CHILE Chilean
Peso
CNY CHINA Onshore or
Offshore
Chinese
Yuan
Renminbi
(CNH is
also code
used to
refer to
Offshore
Chinese
Yuan
Renminbi)
CZK CZECH Czech
REPUBLIC Koruna
DKK DENMARK Danish
Krone
EUR EUROPEAN Euro
MEMBER
STATES !
GBP UNITED Pound
KINGDOM Sterling
GHS GHANA New
Ghanaian
cedi
HKD HONG KONG Hong Kong
Dollar
HUF HUNGARY Forint
ILS ISRAEL New Israeli
Shekel
IDR INDONESIA Indonesian
Rupiah
ISK ICELAND Icelandic
Krona
JOD JORDAN Jordanian
Dinar
JPY JAPAN Yen
KES KENYA Kenyan
Shilling

1 European Member States that have adopted the Euro pursuant to the third stage of European economic and monetary union
pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.
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KWD KUWAIT Kuwaiti
Dinar
KZT KAZAKHSTAN Kazakhstan
Tenge
LBP LEBANON Lebanese
Pound
LVL LATVIA Latvian
Lats
MAD MOROCCO Moroccan
Dirham
MUR MAURITIUS Mauritian
Rupee
MXN MEXICO Mexican
Peso
MYR MALAYSIA Malaysian
Ringgit
NAD NAMIBIA Namibian
Dollar
NGN NIGERIA Nigerian
Naira
NOK NORWAY Norwegian
Krone
OMR OMAN Omani Rial
NzD NEW New
ZEALAND Zealand
Dollar
PEN PERU Peruvian
Nuevo Sol
PHP PHILIPPINES Philippine
Peso
PLN POLAND Zloty
QAR QATAR Qatari Riyal
RON ROMANIA Leu
RUB RUSSIA Russian
Ruble
SAR SAUDI ARABIA Saudi
Arabian
Riyal
SEK SWEDEN Swedish
Krona
SGD SINGAPORE Singapore
Dollar
THB THAILAND Thai Baht
TND TUNISIA Tunisian
Dinar
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TRY TURKEY Turkish Lira

usDbD UNITED U.S. Dollar
STATES

ZAR SOUTH Rand
AFRICA

(b) the "Notes" shall be to the English Law Notes and/or the French Law Notes, as appropriate. For the avoidance of doubt, in "General
Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes", references to the "Notes" shall be to the English Law Notes, and in "General Terms
and Conditions of the French Law Notes", references to the "Notes" shall be to the French Law Notes;

(c) the "General Terms and Conditions" or the "Conditions" shall be to the General Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes
and/or the General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as appropriate;

(d) an "English Law Condition" shall be to the relevant condition in the General Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes;
(e) the "Final Terms" shall be to the final terms document prepared based on the "Form of Final Terms"; and

(f) a "French Law Condition" shall be to the relevant condition in the General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes.
STABILISATION

IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE OF ANY TRANCHE OF NOTES, THE DEALER OR DEALERS (IF ANY) NAMED AS THE
STABILISING MANAGER(S) (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY STABILISING MANAGER(S)) IN THE APPLICABLE
FINAL TERMS MAY OVER-ALLOT NOTES OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WITH A VIEW TO SUPPORTING THE MARKET PRICE
OF THE NOTES AT A LEVEL HIGHER THAN THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL. HOWEVER STABILISATION MAY
NOT NECESSARILY OCCUR. ANY STABILISATION ACTION MAY BEGIN ON OR AFTER THE DATE ON WHICH ADEQUATE
PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF THE TERMS OF THE OFFER OF THE RELEVANT TRANCHE OF NOTES IS MADE AND, IF BEGUN,
MAY CEASE AT ANY TIME, BUT IT MUST END NO LATER THAN THE EARLIER OF 30 DAYS AFTER THE ISSUE DATE OF
THE RELEVANT TRANCHE OF NOTES AND 60 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THE ALLOTMENT OF THE RELEVANT TRANCHE
OF NOTES. ANY STABILISATION ACTION OR OVER-ALLOTMENT MUST BE CONDUCTED BY THE RELEVANT STABILISING
MANAGER(S) (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY STABILISING MANAGER(S)) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL
APPLICABLE LAWS AND RULES.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor (the Responsible Persons) accept responsibility for the information contained in, or
incorporated by reference into, this Base Prospectus and for the information contained in the applicable Final Terms for each Tranche
of Notes issued under the Programme. To the best of the knowledge and belief of each Issuer and the Guarantor (each having taken
all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this Base
Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.
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REGULATORY INFORMATION

French and Luxembourg law and European legislation regarding the resolution of financial institutions may require the
write-down or conversion to equity of the Notes or other resolution measures if the Issuers are deemed to meet the
conditions for resolution

Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union dated 15 May 2014 establishing a
framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms (the BRRD) entered into force on 2 July 2014.
The BRRD has been implemented into Luxembourg law by, among others, the Luxembourg act dated 18 December 2015 on the
failure of credit institutions and certain investment firms, as amended (the BRR Act 2015). Under the BRR Act 2015, the competent
authority is the Luxembourg financial sector supervisory authority (Commission de surveillance du secteur financier, the CSSF) and
the resolution authority is the CSSF acting as resolution council (conseil de résolution).

Moreover, Regulation (EU) No. 806/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 July 2014 establishing uniform rules
and a uniform procedure for the resolution of credit institutions and certain investment firms in the framework of a Single Resolution
Mechanism (SRM) and a Single Fund Framework (the SRM Regulation) has established a centralised power of resolution entrusted
to a Single Resolution Board (the SRB) in cooperation with the national resolution authorities.

Since November 2014, the European Central Bank (ECB) has taken over the prudential supervision of significant credit institutions in
the member states of the Eurozone under the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM). In addition, the SRM has been put in place to
ensure that the resolution of credit institutions and certain investment firms across the Eurozone is harmonised. As mentioned above,
the SRM is managed by the SRB. Under Article 5(1) of the SRM Regulation, the SRM has been granted those responsibilities and
powers granted to the EU Member States’ resolution authorities under the BRRD for those credit institutions and certain investment
firms subject to direct supervision by the ECB. The ability of the SRB to exercise these powers came into force at the beginning of
2016.

Societe Generale has been, and continues to be, designated as a significant supervised entity for the purposes of Article 49(1) of
Regulation (EU) No 468/2014 of the ECB of 16 April 2014 establishing the framework for cooperation within the SSM between the
ECB and national competent authorities and with national designated authorities (the SSM Regulation) and is consequently subject
to the direct supervision of the ECB in the context of the SSM. This means that Societe Generale and SG Issuer (being covered by
the consolidated prudential supervision of Societe Generale) are also subject to the SRM which came into force in 2015. The SRM
Regulation mirrors the BRRD and, to a large part, refers to the BRRD so that the SRB is able to apply the same powers that would
otherwise be available to the relevant national resolution authority.

The stated aim of the BRRD and the SRM Regulation is to provide for the establishment of an EU-wide framework for the recovery
and resolution of credit institutions and certain investment firms. The regime provided for by the BRRD is, among other things, stated
to be needed to provide the resolution authority designated by each EU Member State (the Resolution Authority) with a credible set
of tools to intervene sufficiently early and quickly in an unsound or failing institution so as to ensure the continuity of the institution’s
critical financial and economic functions while minimising the impact of an institution’s failure on the economy and financial system
(including taxpayers’ exposure to losses).

In accordance with the provisions of the SRM Regulation, when applicable, the SRB, has replaced the national resolution authorities
designated under the BRRD with respect to all aspects relating to the decision-making process and the national resolution authorities
designated under the BRRD continue to carry out activities relating to the implementation of resolution schemes adopted by the SRB.
The provisions relating to the cooperation between the SRB and the national resolution authorities for the preparation of the
institutions’ resolution plans have applied since 1 January 2015 and the SRM has been fully operational since 1 January 2016.

The SRB is the Resolution Authority for the Issuers (Societe Generale and SG Issuer).

The powers provided to the Resolution Authority in the BRRD and the SRM Regulation include write-down/conversion powers to
ensure that capital instruments (including subordinated debt instruments and/or Unsecured Notes (issued by SG Issuer)) and eligible
liabilities (including senior debt instruments, such as the Senior Notes, if junior instruments prove insufficient to absorb all losses)
absorb losses of the issuing institution that is subject to resolution in accordance with a set order of priority (the Bail-in Power). The
conditions for resolution under the SRM Regulation are deemed to be met when: (i) the Resolution Authority determines that the
institution is failing or is likely to fail, (ii) there is no reasonable prospect that any measure other than a resolution measure would
prevent the failure within a reasonable timeframe, and (iii) a resolution measure is necessary for the achievement of the resolution
objectives (in particular, ensuring the continuity of critical functions, avoiding a significant adverse effect on the financial system,
protecting public funds by minimizing reliance on extraordinary public financial support, and protecting client funds and assets) and
winding up of the institution under normal insolvency proceedings would not meet those resolution objectives to the same extent.

The Resolution Authority could also, independently of a resolution measure or in combination with a resolution measure, fully or
partially write-down or convert capital instruments (including subordinated debt instruments such as the Unsecured Notes (issued by
SG Issuer)) into equity when it determines that the institution or its group will no longer be viable unless such write-down or conversion
power is exercised or when the institution requires extraordinary public financial support (except when extraordinary public financial
support is provided in Article 10 of the SRM Regulation. The terms and conditions of the Notes contain provisions giving effect to the
Bail-in Power in the context of resolution and write-down or conversion of capital instruments at the point of non-viability.

The Bail-in Power could result in the full (i.e., to zero) or partial write-down or conversion of the Notes into ordinary shares or other
instruments of ownership, or the variation of the terms of the Notes (for example, the maturity and/or interest payable may be altered
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and/or a temporary suspension of payments may be ordered). Extraordinary public financial support should only be used as a last
resort after having assessed and applied, to the maximum extent practicable, the resolution measures. No support will be available
until a minimum amount of contribution to loss absorption and recapitalization of 8% of total liabilities including own funds has been
made by shareholders, holders of capital instruments and other eligible liabilities through write-down, conversion or otherwise.

In addition to the Bail-in Power, the BRRD provides the Resolution Authority with broader powers to implement other resolution
measures with respect to institutions that meet the conditions for resolution, which may include (without limitation) the sale of the
institution’s business, the creation of a bridge institution, the separation of assets, the replacement or substitution of the institution as
obligor in respect of debt instruments, modifications to the terms of debt instruments (including altering the maturity and/or the amount
of interest payable and/or imposing a temporary suspension on payments), removing management, appointing an interim
administrator, and discontinuing the listing and admission to trading of financial instruments.

Before taking a resolution measure, including implementing the Bail-in Power, or exercising the power to write down or convert
relevant capital instruments, the Resolution Authority must ensure that a fair, prudent and realistic valuation of the assets and liabilities
of the institution is carried out by a person independent from any public authority.

The BRRD, the BRR Act 2015 and the SRM Regulation however also state that, under exceptional circumstances , if the bail-in
instrument is applied, the SRB, in cooperation with the CSSF, may completely or partially exclude certain liabilities from the application
of the impairment or conversion powers under certain conditions.

Since 1 January 2016, EU credit institutions (such as Societe Generale) and certain investment firms have to meet, at all times, a
minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL) pursuant to Article 12 of the SRM Regulation. The MREL, which is
expressed as a percentage of the total liabilities and own funds of the institution, aims at preventing institutions from structuring their
liabilities in a manner that impedes the effectiveness of the Bail-in Power in order to facilitate resolution.

The regime has evolved as a result of the changes adopted by the EU legislators. On 7 June 2019, as part of the contemplated
amendments to the so-called EU Banking Package, the following legislative texts were published in the Official Journal of the EU 14
May 2019:

* Directive (EU) 2019/879 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending the BRRD as regards the loss-
absorbing and recapitalisation capacity of credit institutions and investment firms (BRRD II) and

* Regulation (EU) 2019/877 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending the SRM Regulation as regards
the loss-absorbing and recapitalisation capacity (TLAC) of credit institutions and investment firms (the SRM Il Regulation and,
together with the BRRD II, the EU Banking Package Reforms).

The EU Banking Package Reforms introduced, among other things, the TLAC standard as implemented by the Financial Stability
Board's TLAC Term Sheet (FSB TLAC Term Sheet), by adapting, among other things, the existing regime relating to the specific
MREL with aim of reducing risks in the banking sector and further reinforcing institutions’ ability to withstand potential shocks will
strengthen the banking union and reduce risks in the financial system.

The TLAC has been implemented in accordance with the FSB TLAC Term Sheet, which impose a level of Minimum TLAC that will be
determined individually for each global systemically important bank (G-SIB), such as Societe Generale, in an amount at least equal
to (i) 16%, plus applicable buffers, of risk weight assets since January 1, 2022 and 18%, plus applicable buffers, thereafter and (ii)
6% of the Basel Il leverage ratio denominator since January 1, 2022 and 6.75% thereafter (each of which could be extended by
additional firm-specific requirements).

Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for credit
institutions and investment firms (the CRR), as amended by Regulation (EU) 2019/876 as regards the leverage ratio, the net stable
funding ratio, requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities, counterparty credit risk, market risk, exposures to central
counterparties, exposures to collective investment undertakings, large exposures, reporting and disclosure requirements (the CRR
I1), EU G-SIBs, such as Societe Generale, have to comply with TLAC requirements, on top of the MREL requirements, since the entry
into force of the CRR II. As such, G-SIBs, such as Societe Generale have to comply with both the TLAC and MREL requirements.

Consequently, the criteria for MREL-eligible liabilities have been closely aligned with the criteria for TLAC-eligible liabilities under CRR
I, but subject to the complementary adjustments and requirements introduced in the BRRD II. In particular, certain debt instruments
with an embedded derivative component, such as certain structured notes, will be eligible, subject to certain conditions, to meet MREL
requirements to the extent that they have a fixed or increasing principal amount repayable at maturity that is known in advance with
only an additional return permitted to be linked to that derivative component and dependent on the performance of a reference asset.

The level of capital and eligible liabilities required under MREL is set by the SRB for Societe Generale on an individual and/or
consolidated basis based on certain criteria including systemic importance and may also be set for SG Issuer. Eligible liabilities may
be senior or subordinated, provided, among other requirements, that they have a remaining term of at least one year and, they
recognise contractually the Resolution Authority's power to write down or convert the liabilities governed by non-EU law.

The scope of liabilities used to meet MREL includes, in principle, all liabilities resulting from claims arising from ordinary unsecured
creditors (non-subordinated liabilities) unless they do not meet specific eligibility criteria set out in BRRD, as amended by BRRD II.
To enhance the resolvability of institutions and entities through an effective use of the bail-in tool, the SRB should be able to require
that MREL be met with own funds and other subordinated liabilities, in particular where there are clear indications that bailed-in
creditors are likely to bear losses in resolution that would exceed the losses that they would incur under normal insolvency
proceedings. Moreover the SRB should assess the need to require institutions and entities to meet the MREL with own funds and
other subordinated liabilities where the amount of liabilities excluded from the application of the bail- in tool reaches a certain threshold
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within a class of liabilities that includes MREL-eligible liabilities. Any subordination of debt instruments requested by the SRB for the
MREL shall be without prejudice to the possibility to partly meet the TLAC requirements with non-subordinated debt instruments in
accordance with the CRR, as amended by the CRR I, as permitted by the TLAC standard. Specific requirements apply to resolution
groups with assets above EUR 100 billion (top-tier banks, including Societe Generale).

The regulation and reform of "benchmarks"

Interest rates and indices which are deemed to be "benchmarks", (including the London interbank offered rate (LIBOR) and the euro
interbank offered rate (EURIBOR)) are the subject of recent national and international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform.
Some of these reforms are already effective whilst others are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause such benchmarks to
perform differently than in the past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such
consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Notes linked to or referencing such a benchmark.

The EU Benchmarks Regulation was published in the Official Journal of the EU on 29 June 2016 and has mostly applied, subject to
certain transitional provisions, from 1 January 2018. The EU Benchmarks Regulation applies to the provision of benchmarks, the
contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark within the EU. Among other things, it (i) requires benchmark
administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if non-EU-based, to be subject to an equivalent regime or otherwise recognised or
endorsed) and (ii) prevents certain uses by EU supervised entities (such as Societe Generale) of benchmarks of administrators that
are not authorised or registered (or, if non-EU based, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed). The applicable Final Terms
will specify whether the benchmark is provided by an administrator included in the register referred to in Article 36 of the EU
Benchmarks Regulation.

Each benchmark specified in this Base Prospectus is listed in the table below, with the name of the relevant Administrator providing
such benchmark.

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the relevant Administrator appears/ does not appear, as the case may be, on the register of
administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the European Securities and Markets Authority pursuant to Article 36
of the EU Benchmarks Regulation, as specified in the table below.

If “Does not appear and exempted” is specified in the table below, it means that the relevant Administrator does not fall within the
scope of the EU Benchmarks Regulation by virtue of Article 2 of that regulation.

If “Does not appear and non-exempted” is specified in the table below, it means that, as far as the Issuer is aware, the transitional
provisions in Article 51 of the EU Benchmarks Regulation apply, such that the relevant Administrator is not currently required to obtain
authorisation or registration.

Benchmark Administrator ESMA Register
USD-LIBOR ICE Benchmark Administration Does not appear and non-exempted
Limited
EURIBOR European Money Markets Appears
Institute (EMMI)
EUR-EURIBOR ICE Benchmark Administration Does not appear and non-exempted
Swap Rate 11:00 Limited
EONIA European Money Markets Appears
Institute (EMMI)
EUR-CMS ICE Benchmark Administration Does not appear and non-exempted
Limited
USD-CMS ICE Benchmark Administration Does not appear and non-exempted

Limited

USD-LIBOR- ICE
Swap Rate 11:00

ICE Benchmark Administration
Limited

Does not appear and non-exempted

SHIBOR People's Bank of China Does not appear and exempted
CIBOR Danish Financial Benchmark Appears

Facility ApS
NIBOR Norske Finansielle Referanser Appears

AS (NoRe)
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STIBOR Swedish Financial Benchmark Does not appear and non-exempted
Facility
SONIA Bank of England Does not appear and exempted
SOFR CME Group Benchmark Does not appear and non-exempted
Administration Limited
€STR ECB Does not appear and exempted
SARON SIX Swiss Exchange Does not appear and non-exempted
TONA Refinitiv Benchmark Services Does not appear and non-exempted
(UK) Limited
SORA ABS Benchmarks Administration Appears
Co Pte Ltd
HONIA Treasury Markets Association Does not appear and non-exempted
(TMA)
AONIA ASX Benchmarks Limited Appears
CORRA Bank of Canada Does not appear and exempted
OBFR Federal Reserve Bank of New Does not appear and exempted

York

FOMC Target Rate

Federal Reserve Bank of New
York

Does not appear and exempted

FTSE MIB index

FTSE International Limited

Does not appear and non-exempted

SGMDGPPB Index
- SGI Global 85%
Progressive
Protection Bond
Index

Societe Generale

Appears

IND1GMAS Index -
Global Multi Asset
Strategy EUR
Index

Societe Generale

Appears

SGMDPP90 Index
- SGI Progressive
Protection 90
Index

Societe Generale

Appears

SGITEGD Index -
SGI European
Green Deal Index

Societe Generale

Appears

SGI World Travel
and Leisure Index

Societe Generale

Appears

SGITGAMA Index
- SGI Greener
America Ahead
Index

Societe Generale

Appears

ERIX Index -
European
Renewable Energy
Total Return Index
in EUR

Societe Generale

Appears

SGIXROBO Index
- Rise Of The
Robots Index

Societe Generale

Appears

54




(USD - Net Total
Return)

Regulatory Information

SGMDDP95 - SGI
Dynamic
Protection 95%
Index (EUR — Total
Return)

Societe Generale

Appears

SGMDPP85 — SGI
ESG 85%
Progressive
Protection Bond
Index (EUR — Total
Return)

Societe Generale

Appears

SGITEGDA - SGI
European Green
Deal AR 5% Index
(EUR — Adjusted
Return)

Societe Generale

Appears

SGMDMC95 - SGI
Moorea
Sustainable
Crescendo 95%
Index (EUR — Total
Return)

Societe Generale

Appears

SGMDMJ22 - SGI
Multi Asset Janvier
2022 90% Index
(EUR - Total
Return)

Societe Generale

Appears

SGMDROBT - SG
Rise Of The
Robots VT 9 Index
(Excess Return -
usD)y’

Societe Generale

Appears

SGMDGP85 - SGI

Global Progressive

Protection 85 (SEK
— Total Return)

Societe Generale

Appears

SGIXINFL - SGI
Inflation Proxy
Index

Societe Generale

Appears

SGDEINFL - SGI
Inflation Proxy
Index CNTR

Societe Generale

Appears

SGIXFMLY - SGI
Offices run by
families Index

Societe Generale

Appears

WOWAX - World
Water Total Return
Index in EUR

Societe Generale

Appears

WOWAXPC -
World
Water Price
Index in EUR
Market Cap
Adjusted

Societe Generale

Appears
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AL London Metal Exchange Limited Does not appear and non-exempted
(LME)
AL3 London Metal Exchange Limited Does not appear and non-exempted
(LME)
CuU London Metal Exchange Limited Does not appear and non-exempted
(LME)
Ccu3 London Metal Exchange Limited Does not appear and non-exempted
(LME)
Gl European Energy Exchange Appears
(EEX)
GOA ICE Benchmark Administration Does not appear and non-exempted
Limited (IBA)
MCU London Metal Exchange Limited Does not appear and non-exempted
(LME)
NI London Metal Exchange Limited Does not appear and non-exempted
(LME)
NI3 London Metal Exchange Limited Does not appear and non-exempted
(LME)
PB London Metal Exchange Limited Does not appear and non-exempted
(LME)
PB3 London Metal Exchange Limited Does not appear and non-exempted
(LME)
GO ICE Benchmark Administration Does not appear and non-exempted
Limited (IBA)
PDA London Metal Exchange Limited Does not appear and non-exempted
(LME)
PD London Metal Exchange Limited Does not appear and non-exempted
(LME)
PTA London Metal Exchange Limited Does not appear and non-exempted
(LME)
PT London Metal Exchange Limited Does not appear and non-exempted
(LME)
Sl ICE Benchmark Administration Does not appear and non-exempted
Limited (IBA)
ZN London Metal Exchange Limited Does not appear and non-exempted
(LME)
ZN3 London Metal Exchange Limited Does not appear and non-exempted
(LME)

Regulation (EU) 2019/2089 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019 has amended the existing provisions
of the EU Benchmarks Regulation by extending the transitional provisions applicable to material benchmarks and third-country
benchmarks until the end of 2021. The existing provisions of the EU Benchmarks Regulation were further amended by the Amending

Regulation.

The Amending Regulation introduced a harmonised approach to deal with the cessation or wind-down of certain benchmarks by
conferring the power to designate a statutory replacement for certain benchmarks on the Commission, such replacement being limited
to contracts and financial instruments. In addition, the transitional provisions applicable to third-country benchmarks were extended
until the end of 2023. The Commission is empowered to further extend this period until the end of 2025, if necessary. The Amending

Regulation applied as of 13 February 2021.
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The sustainability of LIBOR has been questioned as a result of the absence of relevant active underlying markets and possible
disincentives (including possibly as a result of benchmark reforms) for market participants to continue contributing to such
benchmarks. The UK Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) has subsequently confirmed that it would no longer persuade or compel
banks to submit rates for the calculation of the LIBOR benchmark after 2021. As such, all euro, Swiss franc and certain Japanese
yen settings, all sterling LIBOR settings other than 1-,

3-and 6-month sterling LIBOR, and the 1-week and 2-month U.S. dollar settings of LIBOR were discontinued on 31 December 2021.
Synthetic sterling and Japanese yen LIBOR for 1-, 3- and 6-month settings have been published since 4 January 2022, although
these LIBOR settings were deemed no longer to be representative of the relevant underlying market. The continued publication of the
Japanese yen LIBOR settings will cease permanently at the end of 2022.

The remaining U.S. dollar settings will cease or no longer be representative immediately after 30 June 2023.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential risks imposed by EU
Benchmarks Regulation or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as the case may be, or any of the international or national reforms in
making any investment decision with respect to any Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark.

Financial Transactions Tax (FTT)

A proposal of the European Commission (the Commission’s Proposal) published on 14 February 2013 for a common FTT in
Belgium, Germany, Greece, Estonia, Spain, France, ltaly, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the participating Member
States) could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside of the participating Member States and primarily to
"financial institutions". However, Estonia has since stated that it will not participate.

However, the Commission's Proposal remains subject to negotiation between the participating Member States. It may therefore be
altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains uncertain. Additional EU Member States may also decide to participate
and/or participating Member States may decide to withdraw.

At the ECOFIN Council meeting of 14 June 2019, a state of play of the work on the FTT was presented on the basis of a note prepared
by Germany on 7 June 2019 indicating a consensus among the participating Member States (excluding Estonia) to continue
negotiations on the basis of a joint French-German proposal based on the French financial transactions tax model which in principle
would only concern shares of listed companies whose head office is in a member state of the European Union. However, such
proposal is still subject to change until a final approval.

Prospective holders of the Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.
Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act Withholding

Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (FATCA) may impose a 30% withholding tax on certain
payments made to certain financial institutions and other entities that do not comply with the requirements under FATCA or to investors
that fail to provide their broker or custodian with any information, forms, other documentation, or consents (FATCA Documentation)
that may be necessary for the payments to be made free of FATCA withholding.

U.S. Withholding Tax under Section 871(m)

Section 871(m) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and the U.S. Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder (Section
871(m)) generally impose a 30% withholding tax on dividend equivalent amounts paid or deemed paid to non-U.S. holders with
respect to certain financial instruments linked to U.S. equities or indices that include U.S. equities. Section 871(m) provides certain
exceptions to this withholding regime, in particular for instruments linked to certain broad-based indices that meet requirements set
forth in the applicable Treasury regulations (such an index, a Qualified Index). Additionally, IRS guidance excludes from the scope
of Section 871(m) instruments issued prior to January 1, 2023 that are not "delta-one" instruments with respect to underlying securities
that could pay U.S.-source dividends for U.S. federal income tax purposes (each an Underlying Security). If the Issuer has
determined withholding under Section 871(m) applies, it will generally apply withholding at a 30% rate without regard to any applicable
treaty rate(s) or any investor’s individual tax situation.

Investors should consult their tax adviser regarding the potential application of Section 871(m) Regulations to their
investment in the Notes.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the European Market Infrastructure Regulation

Passage of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank Act) in 2010 in the United States and of
the European Regulation 648/2012, known as the European Market Infrastructure Regulation (EMIR) which entered into force on 16
August 2012 and took direct effect in the Member States of the European Union, has led to significant structural reforms affecting the
financial services industry. The Dodd-Frank Act also contains prohibitions, commonly called, together with the implementing
regulations, the Volcker Rule, which regulate the ability of banking entities to engage as principal in proprietary trading activities and
sponsoring or investing in hedge, private equity or similar funds. Even though some modifications to the Volcker Rule implementing
regulations took effect in 2020, the Volcker Rule continues to operate as a constraint on these activities.

Both Title VII (Title VII) of the Dodd-Frank Act and EMIR establish comprehensive regulatory regimes for a broad range of derivatives
contracts including swaps, security-based swaps and mixed swaps (collectively referred to in this section as Covered Swaps).
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In particular, under Title VII of the Dodd-Frank Act and under EMIR, swaps entered into by any Issuer may be required to be cleared
through a central counterparty, executed on a trading venue, and subject to additional margin and capital, reporting and recordkeeping
requirements that could result in additional regulatory burdens, costs and expenses (including extraordinary, non-recurring expenses
of such Issuer).

In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act, amending the CEA, expanded the definition of a "commaodity pool" to include any form of enterprise
operated for the purpose of trading in commodity interests, including swaps. Each Issuer has imposed certain restrictions on sales in
order to fall outside the scope of the CEA. In addition, if any Issuer were deemed to be a "commodity pool”, it would be required to
register as such with the CFTC and the National Futures Association and would have to comply with a number of reporting
requirements that are designed to apply to traded commodity pools. It is presently unclear how such Issuer could comply with certain
of these reporting requirements on an ongoing basis.

Investment Company Act

SG Issuer has not registered with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) as an investment company
pursuant to the Investment Company Act. Investors in the Notes will not have the protections of the Investment Company Act.

If the SEC or a court of competent jurisdiction were to find that the relevant Issuer is required, but in violation of the Investment
Company Act, has failed, to register as an investment company, possible consequences include, but are not limited to, the following:
(i) the SEC could apply to a district court to enjoin the violation; (ii) investors in the relevant Issuer could sue such Issuer and recover
any damages caused by the violation; and (iii) any contract to which the relevant Issuer is party that is made in, or whose performance
involves, a violation of the Investment Company Act would be unenforceable by any party to the contract unless a court were to find
that under the circumstances enforcement would produce a more equitable result than non-enforcement and would not be inconsistent
with the purposes of the Investment Company Act.

Fundamental Review of the Trading Book regulation

For (A) an Index or SGI Index in respect of which the Index Components comprise, without limitation, one or more Equity Instruments
that is a Fund Unit or an Underlying Index composed of Funds, ETF Share or an Underlying Index composed of ETF, (B) a Fund or
(C) ETP or ETF, if from 1 January 2023, the related Fund, Fund Provider of the underlying Fund, ETF or ETF Service Provider of the
underlying ETF, ETP or ETP Issuer of the underlying ETP, as the case may be, does not make publicly available information or does
not provide information (either spontaneously or as required pursuant to laws and regulations or contractual arrangements) enabling
Societe Generale or its affiliates to calculate its market risks as holder of Fund Units, ETF or ETP, as the case may be, to hedge the
obligations of the Issuer under the Notes, as if it were holding directly the assets of the underlying Fund, ETF or ETP, as the case
may be (the FRTB Information), Societe Generale or its affiliates may be subject to significantly higher capital requirements under the
Fundamental Review of the Trading Book as implemented into French law.
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO NON-EXEMPT OFFERS OF NOTES

Certain Tranches of Notes may be offered in circumstances where there is no exemption from the obligation under the
Prospectus Regulation to publish a prospectus. Any such offer is referred to below as a Non-exempt Offer.

If, in the context of a Non-exempt Offer, you are offered Notes by any entity, you should check that such entity has been
given consent to use this Base Prospectus for the purposes of making its offer before agreeing to purchase any Notes.

The following entities have consent to use this Base Prospectus in connection with a Non-exempt Offer:
- any entity named as a Dealer in the applicable Final Terms;
- if the clause "Type of Consent" is stated as being "Individual Consent" in the applicable Final Terms:

(a) any financial intermediary specified in the applicable Final Terms as having been granted specific consent to use the
Base Prospectus; or

(b) any financial intermediary named on the relevant website(s) of the Issuer as an Authorised Offeror in respect of the
Non-exempt Offer (if that financial intermediary has been appointed after the date of the applicable Final Terms); and

(c) if the clause "Type of Consent" is stated as being "General Consent" in the applicable Final Terms, any financial
intermediary authorised to make such offers under MiFID Il who has published the Acceptance Statement (as defined
below) on its website.

The consent referred to above only relates to Offer Periods (if any) occurring within 12 months from the date of this Base
Prospectus.

The entities listed above have been given consent to use the Base Prospectus only during the Offer Period specified in the
applicable Final Terms and only in the Non-exempt Offer Jurisdictions.

For Non-exempt Offers which will close after the validity of this Base Prospectus, investors should refer to the succeeding
base prospectus which will be available on the relevant website(s) of the Issuer and the section “Ongoing Non-exempt
Offers”.

Other than as set out above, the Issuer has not authorised the making of any Non-exempt Offer by any person and the Issuer
has not consented to the use of this Base Prospectus by any other person in connection with any Non-exempt Offer of
Notes.

1. CONSENT GIVEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE 5(1) OF THE PROSPECTUS REGULATION

In the context of any offer of Notes that is not within an exemption from the requirement to publish a prospectus under the Prospectus
Regulation (a Non-exempt Offer), each of the Issuer and the Guarantor accepts responsibility, in each Relevant State (as defined
below) for which it has given its consent (each a Non-exempt Offer Jurisdiction) as specified below, for the content of the Base
Prospectus under Article 11 of the Prospectus Regulation in relation to any person (an Investor) to whom any offer of Notes is made
by any financial intermediary to whom it has given its consent to use the Base Prospectus (an Authorised Offeror), where the offer
is made during the period for which that consent is given in a Non-exempt Offer Jurisdiction for which that consent was given and is
in compliance with all other conditions attached to the giving of the consent. The consent and conditions attached to it are set out
under "Type of Consent” and "Conditions to Consent" below.

None of the Issuers, the Guarantor or any relevant Dealer makes any representation as to the compliance by an Authorised Offeror
with any applicable conduct of business rules or other applicable regulatory or securities law requirements in relation to any Non-
exempt Offer and none of the Issuers, the Guarantor or any relevant Dealer has any responsibility or liability for the actions of that
Authorised Offeror.

However, neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the relevant Dealer has any responsibility for any of the actions of any
Authorised Offeror, including the non-compliance by an Authorised Offeror with applicable conduct of business rules or other local
regulatory requirements or other securities law requirements in relation to such offer.

Neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the relevant Dealer authorises the use of the Base Prospectus in the case of a Non-
exempt Offer of Notes in a Member State of the EEA (each, a Relevant State) other than a Non-exempt Offer Jurisdiction or in a
Non-exempt Offer Jurisdiction but made by a financial intermediary to which the relevant Issuer has not given its consent. Such
unauthorised Non-exempt Offers are not made by or on behalf the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor or the relevant Dealer and neither
the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the relevant Dealer accepts any responsibility for the actions of any person making such offers
and the related consequences.

Save as provided above, neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the relevant Dealer authorises that any Non-exempt Offers
of Notes may be made in circumstances which would require a relevant Issuer to publish a prospectus or a Supplement to the Base
Prospectus.

If, in the context of a Non-exempt Offer, a prospective investor is offered Notes by a person which is not an Authorised Offeror, such
prospective investor should check with that person whether anyone is responsible for this Base Prospectus for the purposes of the
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relevant Non-exempt Offer and, if so, who that person is. If the prospective investor is in any doubt about whether it can rely on this
Base Prospectus and/or who is responsible for its contents it should take legal advice.

2. TYPE OF CONSENT

Subject to the conditions set out below under "Conditions to Consent" and if it is specified in the applicable Final Terms relating to
any Tranche of Notes, the Issuer consents to the use of the Base Prospectus in relation to a Non-exempt Offer of such Notes during
the offer period specified in the applicable Final Terms (the Offer Period).

The consent given by the Issuer may be an individual consent (an Individual Consent) and/or a general consent (a General
Consent), each as further described below and as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

2.1 Individual Consent

If the clause "Type of Consent" is stated as being "Individual Consent" in the applicable Final Terms, it means that the Issuer consents
to the use of the Base Prospectus in relation to an Non-exempt Offer of such Notes by the relevant Dealer and by:

(i) any financial intermediary (other than a Dealer) acting in association with the Issuer named Initial Authorised Offeror, whose
name and address are specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(i) any financial intermediary acting in association with the Issuer, appointed after the date of the applicable Final Terms, and named
Additional Authorised Offeror, whose name and address will be published on the relevant website(s) of the Issuer.

2.2 General Consent

If the clause "Type of Consent" is stated as being "General Consent" in the applicable Final Terms, it means that the Issuer consents
to the use of the Base Prospectus in relation to an Non-exempt Offer of Notes to any financial intermediary acting independently from
the Issuer named General Authorised Offeror which:

(i) holds all necessary licences, consents, approvals and permissions required by any laws, rules, regulations and guidance (including
from any regulatory body), applicable to the Non-exempt Offer of the Notes to be authorised to do such offer under the applicable
laws of the Non-exempt Offer Jurisdiction, in particular the applicable law implementing MiFID II; and

(i) publishes on its website a statement that it makes such Non-exempt Offer of Notes based on the General Consent given by the
Issuer for the use of the Base Prospectus (the Acceptance Statement):

"We, [insert legal name of financial intermediary], refer to the offer of [insert title of relevant Notes] (the Notes) described in the Final
Terms dated [insert date] (the Final Terms) published by [Societe Generale/SG Issuer] (the Issuer) [and Societe Generale (the
Guarantor)]. We hereby accept the offer by the Issuer [and the Guarantor] of its consent to our use of the Base Prospectus (as defined
in the Final Terms) in connection with the offer of the [insert title of relevant Notes] in accordance with the terms and subject to the
conditions to such consent, each as specified in the Base Prospectus, and confirm that we are using the Base Prospectus
accordingly."

Through this publication on its website, the General Authorised Offeror commits itself to respect the following conditions:

(a) it acts in accordance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidance (including from any regulatory body applicable to the
Non-exempt Offer of the Notes in the Non-exempt Offer Jurisdiction, in particular the applicable law implementing MiFID Il (hereinafter
the Rules) and makes sure that (i) any investment advice in the Notes by any person is appropriate, (ii) the information to prospective
investors including the information relating to any expenses (and any commissions or benefits of any kind) received or paid by this
General Authorised Offeror under the offer of the Notes is fully and clearly disclosed prior to the investment in the Notes;

(b) it complies with the restrictions set out under the section "Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions" in the Base Prospectus
related to the Non-exempt Offer Jurisdiction as if it acted as a Dealer in the Non-exempt Offer Jurisdiction and considers the relevant
manufacturer's target market assessment and distribution channels identified under the "MiFID Il product governance" legend set out
in the applicable Final Terms;

(c) ensure that the existence of any fee (and any other commissions or benefits of any kind) or rebate received or paid by the relevant
financial intermediary in relation to the offer or sale of the Notes does not violate the Rules, is fully and clearly disclosed to Noteholders
or prospective investors prior to their investment in the Notes and to the extent required by the Rules, provides further information in
respect thereof ;

(d) it complies with the Rules relating to anti-money laundering, anti-corruption, anti-bribery and "know your customer" rules (including,
without limitation, taking appropriate steps, in compliance with such rules, to establish and document the identity of each prospective
investor prior to initial investment in any Notes by the Investor), and will not permit any application for Notes in circumstances where
the financial intermediary has any suspicions as to the source of the application monies; it retains investor identification records for at
least the minimum period required under applicable Rules, and shall, if so requested, make such records available to the relevant
Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer or directly to the competent authorities with jurisdiction over the relevant Issuer and/or the relevant
Dealer in order to enable the relevant Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer to comply with anti-money laundering, anti-corruption, anti-
bribery and "know your customer" rules applying to the relevant Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer, as the case may be;

(e) co-operate with the Issuer and the relevant Dealer in providing relevant information (including, without limitation, documents and
records maintained pursuant to paragraph (d) above ) and such further assistance as reasonably requested upon written request from
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the Issuer or the relevant Dealer in each case, as soon as is reasonably practicable and, in any event, within any time frame set by
any such regulator or regulatory process. For this purpose, relevant information that is available to or can be acquired by the relevant
financial intermediary:

(i) in connection with any request or investigation by any regulator in relation to the Notes, the Issuer or the relevant Dealer; and/or

(i) in connection with any complaints received by the Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer relating to the Issuer and/or the relevant
Dealer or another Authorised Offeror including, without limitation, complaints as defined in rules published by any regulator of
competent jurisdiction from time to time; and/or

(iii) which the Issuer or the relevant Dealer may reasonably require from time to time in relation to the Notes and/or as to allow the
Issuer or the relevant Dealer fully to comply with its own legal, tax and regulatory requirements;

(f) it does not, directly or indirectly, cause the Issuer or the relevant Dealers to breach any Rule or any requirement to obtain or make
any filing, authorisation or consent in any jurisdiction;

(9) it meets any other condition specified under the clause "General Consent/Other conditions to consent” in the applicable Final
Terms;

(h) it commits itself to indemnify the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the relevant Dealer, Societe Generale and each
of its affiliates for any damage, loss, expense, claim, request or loss and fees (including reasonable fees from law firms) incurred by
one of these entities because of, or in relation with, any failure by this General Authorised Offeror (or any of its sub-distributors) to
respect any of these obligations above;

(i) it has knowledge of, and is committed to complying with the laws and regulations relating to anti-bribery, corruption and Influence
Peddling, including any changes thereto, applicable to its activities;

() neither it nor, to the best of its knowledge, any of the persons whom it controls (including its directors, officers or employees, each
a “Controlled Person”), nor any sub-distributor or intermediary it has mandated for the purposes of its activities, has committed or
will commit any Corrupt Act or Influence Peddling directly or indirectly, in each case to or for the use or benefit of, any person or any
government official (which shall include any official, employee or representative of, or any other person acting in an official capacity
for or on behalf of any government of any jurisdiction, any public international organisation, any political party, or any quasi-
governmental body).

Where:

“Corrupt Act” shall mean the deliberate act (i) of giving, offering or promising directly or indirectly through others such as third party
intermediaries, or (ii) soliciting or accepting, directly or indirectly through others such as third party intermediaries, any offer, donation,
gift, invitation, reward or anything of value to any person (including any Public Official), for themselves or for a third party, that would
or could be perceived either as an inducement to commit an act of corruption or as a deliberate act of corruption, in each case with a
view to inducing any person (including a Public Official) to perform their functions improperly or dishonestly and/or getting any undue
benefit.

“Influence Peddling” shall mean the deliberate act of (i) giving, offering or promising to any person (including any Public Official), or
(ii) yielding to any person (including any Public Official) who solicits, at any time, directly or indirectly, any offer, donation, gift, invitation,
reward, or anything of value, for themselves or for others, in each case to abuse or for having abused their real or supposed influence
with a view to obtaining from a Public Official any favourable decision or undue benefit.

“Public Official” shall mean elected officials, dignitaries, candidates for public office, members of royal families, magistrates, officials
or employees, regardless of their grade, or any person belonging to or acting on behalf of (i) a government (foreign, national or local)
including any department, agency, regulator or one if their bodies or instrumentalities, (ii) a government department or public authority
(including but not limited to customs or tax authorities, embassies and all bodies issuing permits, (iii) a local or regional public service,
(iv) a State-owned or controlled enterprise (public hospitals, universities, sovereign investment funds or any other state-sponsored
entity), (v) a political party, or (vi) an international court or public organisation (e.g. the UN);

(k) it has put in place appropriate rules and procedures, in a form and manner mandated by law and/or appropriate for a business of
its size and resources, aiming at (i) preventing any Corrupt Act and Influence Peddling from being committed by itself, its Controlled
Persons and — if any — its sub-distributor or other intermediaries it has mandated for the purpose of its activities and (ii) ensuring that
any evidence or suspicion of a Corrupt Act or Influence Peddling is investigated and handled with the appropriate diligence. Any
Corrupt Act or Influence Peddling related to its Activities shall be promptly reported to Societe Generale or the relevant Issuer to the
extent permitted by applicable law and acted upon accordingly;

(I) neither it nor any of its agents, sub-distributors or Controlled Persons is ineligible or treated by any governmental or international
authority as ineligible to tender for any contract or business with, or to be awarded any contract or business by, such authority on the
basis of any actual or alleged Corrupt Act or Influence Peddling;

(m) It has kept adequate reasonably detailed books, adequate records and accounts in respect of its activities, in a form and manner
appropriate for a business of its size and resources;
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(n) it represents and warrants that it shall not distribute financial instruments to, or enter into any arrangement with respect to financial
instruments with, Sanctioned Persons. It shall implement and maintain appropriate safeguards designed to prevent any action that
would be contrary to this section.

Where:

“Sanctioned Person” means any individual or entity that is a designated target of Sanctions or is otherwise subject of Sanctions,
including without limitation, as a result of being (a) owned or controlled directly or indirectly by any person/entity or persons/entities
which is or are a designated target of Sanctions, or (b) organized under the laws of, or a resident of, any country or territory that is
subject to comprehensive or country-wide Sanctions;

“Sanctions” means any economic or financial sanctions, trade embargoes or similar measures enacted, administered or enforced by
any of the following (or by any agency of any of the following):

(@) the United Nations;

(b) the United States of America;

(c) the United Kingdom; or

(d) the European Union or any present or future member state thereof;

(o) it undertakes to promptly inform Societe Generale or the relevant Issuer of (a) any complaint received in relation to its activities
or the financial instruments; or (b) any event affecting it, including but not limited to any of: (i) a regulatory investigation or audit of it
or its affiliates, partners or agents; (ii) legal proceedings initiated by a competent regulatory authority against it or its affiliates, partners
or agents; or (ii) a judgment rendered or penalty levied against it or its affiliates, partners or agents, which in each case might
reasonably involve a reputational risk for Societe Generale or the relevant Issuer; and

(p) it acknowledges that its commitment to respect the obligations above is governed by English law if the applicable Notes are English
Law Notes, or French law if the applicable Notes are French Law Notes and agrees that any related dispute is brought before the
courts of England if the applicable Notes are English Law Notes or the courts of Paris (tribunaux de Paris, France), if the applicable
Notes are French Law Notes.

Any General Authorised Offeror who wishes to use the Base Prospectus for a Non-exempt Offer of Notes in accordance with
this General Consent and the related conditions is required, during the time of the relevant Offer Period, to publish on its
website the Acceptance Statement.

3. CONDITIONS TO CONSENT

The consent by the Issuer to the use of the Base Prospectus in the context of the relevant Non-exempt Offer are (in addition to the
conditions described in paragraph "Type of Consent" above if the clause "Type of Consent" is stated as being "General Consent" in
the applicable Final Terms) that such consent:

(a) is only valid during the Offer Period specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(b) only extends to the use of this Base Prospectus to make Non-exempt Offers of the relevant Tranche of Notes in Austria, Belgium,
Bulgaria, Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, Norway, Poland,
Portugal, Romania, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden and The Netherlands, as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

The only Relevant States for which each of the Issuer and the Guarantor has given a consent for the making of Non-exempt Offers
and which may be so specified in the applicable Final Terms as indicated in the paragraph 3(b) as Non-exempt Offer Jurisdictions will
be Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg,
Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden and The Netherlands.

4. ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN INVESTORS AND AUTHORISED OFFERORS

A prospective investor intending to acquire or acquiring any Notes from an Authorised Offeror will do so, and offers and sales of the
Notes to an Investor by an Authorised Offeror will be made, in accordance with any terms and other arrangements in place between
such Authorised Offeror and such Investor including as to price, allocation and settlement arrangements (the Terms and Conditions
of the Non-exempt Offer). The relevant Issuer and the Guarantor will not be a party to any such arrangements with Investors
(other than the Dealer) in connection with the offer or sale of the relevant Notes and, accordingly, the Base Prospectus and the
applicable Final Terms will not contain such information.

The information relating to the Terms and Conditions of the Non-exempt Offer shall be provided to the Investors by the
Authorised Offeror at the time such Non-exempt Offer is made. None of the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor or any Dealer
(except where such Dealer is the relevant Authorised Offeror) has any responsibility or liability to an Investor in respect of
such information.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

1. LIST OF THE DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents, which have previously been published or are published simultaneously with this Base Prospectus and have
been filed with the CSSF and SIX Swiss Exchange, shall be incorporated by reference into, and form part of, this Base Prospectus.

(a) the previous Base Prospectuses (i.e their General Terms and Conditions, Form of Final Terms and Additional Terms and
Conditions) which means collectively the 29 April 2014 Base Prospectus, the 28 October 2014 Base Prospectus, the 6 July 2016
Base Prospectus, the 27 June 2017 Base Prospectus, the 20 June 2018 Base Prospectus, the 14 June 2019 Base Prospectus, the
5 June 2020 Base Prospectus and the 4 June 2021 Base Prospectus, as supplemented (the “Previous Base Prospectuses”). The
supplements to the Previous Base Prospectuses which are incorporated by reference are listed in section 2.3 below, and

(b) the documents mentioned in section 1.1 and 1.2 below.

The cross-reference table in relation to the Previous Base Prospectuses appears in paragraph 2.3. To the extent that each of the
Previous Base Prospectuses incorporates itself documents by reference, such documents shall not be deemed incorporated by
reference herein.

Where the Form of Final Terms that appears in a Previous Base Prospectus is incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus,
the introduction paragraph of such previous Form of Final Terms is no longer valid and the introduction paragraph of the Form of Final
Terms as set out in this Base Prospectus must be used.

The documents incorporated by reference in paragraph 1.1 below are direct and accurate translations into English of the original
version of such documents issued in French. Societe Generale as Issuer accepts responsibility for such translations.

Copies of the documents incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus can be obtained from the office of Societe Generale
and the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent and the specified office of each of the Paying Agents, in each case at the
address given at the end of this Base Prospectus.

This Base Prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference hereinto are available on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange website (http://www.bourse.lu).

1.1 Documents incorporated by reference relating to Societe Generale

To the extent that each of the documents incorporated by reference relating to Societe Generale incorporates itself documents by
reference, such documents shall not be deemed incorporated by reference herein. Any reference to documents incorporated by
reference relating to Societe Generale shall be deemed to exclude the parts referred to in (i), (ii) and (iii) in the paragraphs 1.1.1 to
1.1.3 below.

1.1.1 2021 Universal Registration Document

The expression "2021 Universal Registration Document” means the English version of the Document d’Enregistrement Universel
2021 of Societe Generale, the French version of which was filed with the AMF on 17 March 2021 under no. D. 21-0138, except for (i)
the cover page containing the AMF textbox, (ii) the statement of the person responsible for the universal registration document and
the annual financial report made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chief Executive Officer of Societe Generale, page 628 and (iii) the cross-
reference tables, pages 629 to 632.

The cross-reference table in relation to the 2021 Universal Registration Document appears in the paragraph 2.1.1 below.

The 2021 Universal Registration Document is available on the Societe Generale website
(https://lwww.societegenerale.com/sites/default/files/documents/2021-03/2021%20Universal%20Registration%20Document.pdf).
1.1.2 2022 Universal Registration Document

The expression "2022 Universal Registration Document" means the English version of the Document d’Enregistrement Universel
2022 of Societe Generale, the French version of which was filed with the AMF on 9 March 2022 under no. D. 22-0080, except for (i)
the cover page containing the AMF textbox, (ii) the statement of the person responsible for the universal registration document and
the annual financial report made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chief Executive Officer of Societe Generale, page 646 and (iii) the cross
reference tables, pages 648 to 656.

The cross-reference table in relation to the 2022 Universal Registration Document appears in the paragraph 2.1.2 below.

The 2022 Universal Registration Document is available on the Societe Generale website
(https://lwww.societegenerale.com/sites/default/files/documents/2022-03/Universal-Registration-Document-2022.pdf).

63



Documents incorporated by reference

1.1.3 First Amendment to the 2022 Universal Registration Document

The expression "First Amendment to the 2022 Universal Registration Document" means the English version of the Premier
amendement du Document d’Enregistrement Universel 2022 of Societe Generale, the French version of which was filed with the AMF
on 6 May 2022 under no. D.22-0080-A01, except for (i) the cover page containing the AMF textbox, (ii) the statement of the person
responsible for the first amendment to the universal registration document made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chief Executive Officer of
Societe Generale, page 39 and (iii) the cross reference tables, pages 41 to 42.

The cross-reference table in relation to the First Amendment to the 2022 Universal Registration Document appears in the paragraph
2.1.3 below.

The First Amendment to the 2022 Universal Registration Document is available on the Societe Generale website
(https://lwww.societegenerale.com/sites/default/files/documents/2022-05/Societe-Generale-URD-1st-amendment-06-05-2022.pdf).

1.2 Documents incorporated by reference relating to SG Issuer

To the extent that each of the documents incorporated by reference relating to SG Issuer incorporates itself documents by reference,
such documents shall not be deemed incorporated by reference herein.

1.2.1 2020 Annual Financial Statements
The expression "2020 Annual Financial Statements" means the English version of the audited annual financial statements of SG
Issuer for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 prepared in accordance with international financial reporting standards

(IFRS), the related appendix and notes and the statutory auditor's report for the year.

The 2020 Annual Financial Statements are available on prospectus.socgen.com website
(https://prospectus.socgen.com/issuerdoc_search/2020%20-%20SG%20ISSUER%20Annual%20Financial%20Statements).

The cross-reference table in relation to the 2020 Annual Financial Statements appears in paragraph 2.2.1 below.

1.2.2 2021 Annual Financial Statements

The expression "2021 Annual Financial Statements” means the English version of the audited annual financial statements of SG
Issuer for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 prepared in accordance with international financial reporting standards

(IFRS), the related appendix and notes and the statutory auditor's report for the year.

The 2021 Annual Financial Statements are available on prospectus.socgen.com website (https://prospectus.socgen.com/
issuerdoc_search/2021%20-%20SG%20ISSUER%20Annual%20Financial%20Statements).

The cross-reference table in relation to the 2021 Annual Financial Statements appears in paragraph 2.2.2 below.

2. CROSS REFERENCE TABLES OF THE DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The parts of the documents incorporated by reference which are not specified in the cross-reference tables below are not incorporated
by reference as they are either not relevant for an investor or are covered elsewhere in the Base Prospectus. References to pages
appearing in each of the cross-reference tables are to those of each document incorporated by reference.

2.1 Cross reference tables relating to Societe Generale

2.1.1 2021 Universal Registration Document

Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980 2021 Universal Registration Document

FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ASSETS
AND LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS
AND LOSSES OF THE ISSUER

Historical financial information 138 ; 168-171; 179-180 ; 190 ; 192-196 ; 204-205 ;
208-218; 224-234 ; 243-247; 352-522 ; 529-592
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financial statements

Financial statements 352-593
Consolidated Balance sheet 352-353
Consolidated income statement 354

Accounting policies and explanatory notes on the 359-522
consolidated financial statements

Cash flow statement 357

Changes in shareholders's equity 356

Parent Company Balance sheet 536

Parent Company income statement 537

Accounting policies and explanatory notes on the annual 538-592

Auditing of the historical annual financial information

523-528 ; 593-598

2.1.2 2022 Universal Registration Document

Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980

2022 Universal Registration Document

RISK FACTORS 148-160
Risks related to the macroeconomic, geopolitical, market and 148-154
regulatory environments

Credit and counterparty risks 154-155
Market and structural risks 155-156
Operational risks (including risk of inappropriate conduct) and 156-159
model risks

Liquidity and funding risks 159-160
Risks related to insurance activities 160
INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER

History and development of the company 7-8
Legal and commercial name of the Issuer 625
Place of registration, registration number and legal entity identifier 625
(LEI) of the Issuer

Date of incorporation and the length of life of the Issuer 625
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Domicile and legal form of the Issuer, applicable legislation, 625
country of incorporation, address and telephone number of its

registered office and website

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Principal activities 8-10; 47-49

Principal markets

8-15; 16-25 ; 28-29 ; 482-487

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

Summary description of the Group and the Issuer's position within 8-10; 28-29
it

TREND INFORMATION 56-57 ; 14-15
ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY

BODIES AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Board of Directors and senior management 64-95
Administrative bodies and senior management's conflicts of 142
interest

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

Control of the Issuer 621-622 ; 624

FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND
LOSSES OF THE ISSUER

Historical financial information

10, 30-51; 146 ; 349-615

Consolidated Balance sheet 350-351
Consolidated income statement 352
Changes in shareholders’ equity 354
Cash flow statement 355
Accounting policies and explanatory notes on the consolidated 357-537
financial statements

Financial statements 350-615
Parent Company Balance sheet 551-552
Parent Company income statement 552
Accounting policies and explanatory notes on the annual financial 553-608

statements

Auditing of the historical annual financial information

538-543 ; 609-615
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Documents incorporated by reference

259 ; 534-537 ; 606-608

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

56
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2.1.3 First Amendment to the 2022 Universal Registration Document

Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980 First Amendment to the 2022
Universal Registration Document

RISK FACTORS 30-32

Risks related to the macroeconomic, geopolitical, market and regulatory environments 30-31

Operational risks (including risk of inappropriate conduct) and model risks 32

INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER

Legal and commercial name of the Issuer 1

Domicile and legal form of the Issuer, applicable legislation, country of incorporation, 1

address and telephone number of its registered office and website

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Principal markets 7-27
TREND INFORMATION 3-27
IADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT

Board of Directors and senior management 29

FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES,
FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES OF THE ISSUER

Historical financial information 5-28
Legal and arbitration proceedings 37-38
Significant changes in the Issuer's financial position 3-27

2.2 Cross reference tables relating to SG Issuer

2.2.1 2020 Annual Financial Statements

Statement of comprehensive income 17
Statement of financial position 16
Statement of changes in equity 18
Statement of cash-flows 19
Notes to the financial statements (including accounting principles) 20-56
Report of the Réviseur d’Entreprises agréé 12-15

2.2.2 2021 Annual Financial Statements

Statement of comprehensive income 18
Statement of financial position 17
Statement of changes in equity 19
Statement of cash-flows 20
Notes to the financial statements (including accounting principles) 21-55
Report of the Réviseur d’Entreprises agréé 12-16

2.3 Cross reference tables relating to Previous Base Prospectuses

The hyperlinks relating to the Previous Base Prospectuses and to the supplements to the Previous Base Prospectuses appear in
blue in the table below.

Previous Base Prospectuses Section Pages
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29 April 2014 Base Prospectus

Documents incorporated by reference

Base Prospectus Terms and Conditions 182-294
Additional Terms and 295-802
Conditions
Form of Final Terms 131-181

Supplement 4 June 2014 Additional Terms and | 6-8
Conditions

Supplement 24 June 2014 Additional Terms and | 4-5
Conditions
Form of Final Terms 4

Supplement 13 August 2014 Additional Terms and | 5-9
Conditions

28 October 2014 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus Form of Final Terms 144-195
Terms and Conditions 196-312
Additional Terms and | 313-854
Conditions

Supplement dated 6 November 2014 Terms and Conditions 3

Supplement dated 18 December 2014 Additional Terms and | 3
Conditions

Supplement dated 23 January 2015 Additional Terms and 34
Conditions

Supplement dated 19 March 2015 Additional Terms and 6-8
Conditions

Supplement dated 9 June 2015 Form of Final Terms 8-9
Terms and Conditions of | 9-10
the English Law Notes and
the Uncertificated Notes
Additional Terms and 11
Conditions  relating to
Formulae
Additional Terms and 12-13
Conditions for Structured
Notes

Supplement dated 19 August 2015 Additional Terms and 5
Conditions for Commodity
Linked Notes

06 July 2016 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus Form of Final Terms - 147-203
European Economic Area
Terms and Conditions 213-343

69




Documents incorporated by reference

Additional Terms and 344-885
Conditions

Supplement dated 9 August 2016 Form of the Final Terms — | 4
European Economic Area
Terms and Conditions for | 4-5
English Law Notes
Terms and Conditions of | 5-6
the French Law Notes
Additional Terms and 8
Conditions  relating to
Formulae
Additional Terms and | 8
Conditions for ETF Linked
Notes
Additional Terms and | 9-12
Conditions for Portfolio
Linked Notes

Supplement dated 18 October 2016 Form of Final Terms 8-9

Supplement dated 2 December 2016 Additional Terms and 34
Conditions for Preference
Share Linked Notes

Supplement dated 23 December 2016 Form of the Final Terms — | 3-4
European Economic Area

27 June 2017 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus Form of Final Terms - 136-186
European Economic Area
Terms and Conditions 187-305
Additional Terms and | 439-723
Conditions

Supplement dated 31 July 2017 Form of Final Terms - | 2
European Economic Area
Terms and Conditions for | 2-3
English Law Notes
Terms and Conditions of | 2-3
the French Law Notes
Additional Terms and 3-5
Conditions

Supplement dated 13 September 2017 Terms and Conditions of | 3

the French Law Notes

70




Additional Terms and

Documents incorporated by reference

Conditions 3-5
Supplement dated 20 October 2017 Terms and Conditions of | 7
the French Law Notes
Additional Terms and
Conditions 7-8
Supplement dated 20 March 2018 Form of Final Terms 2-3
Additional Terms and 3-5
Conditions
20 June 2018 Base Prospectus
Base Prospectus Form of Final Terms 139-195
Terms and Conditions 196-323
Additional Terms and | 324-744
Conditions
Supplement dated 24 August 2018 Form of Final Terms 6
Additional Terms and | 6-10
Conditions for Secured
Notes
Supplement dated 3 December 2018 Terms and Conditions of | 15
the English Law Notes
Terms and Conditions of 15
the French Law Notes
Additional Terms and 15-16
Conditions for Structured
Notes
Additional Terms and 16-17
Conditions for Commodity
Linked Notes
Supplement dated 28 February 2019 Form of Final Terms 4
Additional Terms and 4-5
Conditions for Commodity
Linked Notes
Additional Terms and | 5
Conditions for Inflation
Linked Notes
14 June 2019 Base Prospectus
Base Prospectus Form of Final Terms 131-189
Terms and Conditions 190-317
318-770

71




Additional Terms and
Conditions

Documents incorporated by reference

Supplement dated 19 August 2019 Form of Final Terms 3; 23-24
Terms and Conditions of | 3-9; 24-25
the English Law Notes
Terms and Conditions of | 25
the French Law Notes
Additional Terms and 25-26
Conditions for Index Linked
Notes
Additional Terms and | 26-28
Conditions for SGI Index
Linked Notes

Supplement dated 11 October 2019 Terms and Conditions of | 2;8-11
the English Law Notes
Terms and Conditions of | 11-13
the French Law Notes
Additional Terms and
Conditions  relating to | 13-24
Formulae
Additional Terms and
Conditions  relating to | 24
Secured Notes

Supplement dated 29 November 2019 Form of Final Terms 6-7
Terms and Conditions of | 7-11
the English Law Notes

11-13
Terms and Conditions of
the French Law Notes

13-15
Additional Terms and
Conditions  for  Credit
Linked Notes

Supplement dated 14 April 2020 Form of Final Terms 12-13
Terms and Conditions of
the French Law Notes 13-14

05 June 2020 Base Prospectus

Base Prospectus Form of Final Terms 92-151
General Terms and 152-282
Conditions
Additional Terms and | 283-703
Conditions

Supplement dated 17 July 2020 Description of Societe | 3
Generale Indices (“SGI
Indices”)

Supplement dated 20 August 2020 Form of Final Terms 4-5

6

72




General Terms and
Conditions of the English

Documents incorporated by reference

Law Notes 7
Additional Terms and
Conditions for Index Linked
Notes 7
Additional Terms and
Conditions  for  Credit
Linked Notes

Supplement dated 21 September 2020 Description of Societe | 6
Generale Indices (“SGI
Indices”)

Supplement dated 11 December 2020 Description of Societe | 4
Generale Idices (“SGI
Indices”)
Additional Terms and | 4-6
Conditions  relating to
Formulae

4 June 2021 Base Prospectus

Base Prospectus Form of Final Terms 74-133
General Terms and 134-256
Conditions
Additional Terms and | 257-616
Conditions

Supplement dated 14 January 2022 Description of Societe | 3
Generale Idices (“SGI
Indices”)
Additional Terms and 21-22
Conditions  relating to
Portfolio Linked Notes
General Terms and | 6-12
Conditions of the English
Law Notes
General Terms and 12-17
Conditions of the French
Law Notes

17-20

Form of Final Terms

Supplement dated 26 April 2022 Form of Final Terms 5

73




Final Terms or Drawdown Prospectus

FINAL TERMS OR DRAWDOWN PROSPECTUS

In this section the expression "necessary information" means, in relation to any Tranche of Notes, the information necessary to
enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and prospects of
the Issuers and the Guarantor and of the rights attaching to the Notes. In relation to the different types of Notes which may be issued
under the Programme, the Issuers and the Guarantor have endeavoured to include in this Base Prospectus all of the necessary
information except for information relating to the Notes which is not known at the date of this Base Prospectus and which can only be
determined at the time of an individual issuance of a Tranche of Notes and except for certain information specific to U.S. Exempt
Securities set out in the applicable Offering Circular.

Any information relating to the Notes which is not included in this Base Prospectus and which is required in order to complete the
necessary information in relation to a Tranche of Notes will therefore be contained either in the applicable Final Terms or in a
Drawdown Prospectus. Such information will be contained in the applicable Final Terms unless any of such information constitutes a
significant new factor relating to the information contained in this Base Prospectus in which case such information, together with all
of the other necessary information in relation to the relevant Tranche of Notes will be contained in a Drawdown Prospectus. Information
specific to any issue of U.S. Exempt Securities (including information on the form of the Notes and applicable selling and transfer
restrictions) shall be set out in the applicable Offering Circular in connection with the offer and sale of such U.S. Exempt Securities.
In case of any issue of U.S. Exempt Securities, all references herein to “Final Terms” shall include, or be interpreted to mean, the
applicable Offering Circular.

For a Tranche of Notes, which is the subject of Final Terms, those Final Terms will, for the purposes of such Tranche of Notes only,
complete the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and must be read in conjunction with this Base Prospectus. The terms and conditions
applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes which is the subject of Final Terms are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as
completed to the extent described in the applicable Final Terms or Drawdown Prospectus, as the case may be. The terms and
conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a Drawdown Prospectus will be the Conditions as
supplemented to the extent described in the relevant Drawdown Prospectus. In the case of a Tranche of Notes which is the subject
of a Drawdown Prospectus, each reference in this Base Prospectus to information being specified or identified in the applicable Final
Terms shall be read and construed as a reference to such information being specified or identified in the relevant Drawdown
Prospectus unless the context requires otherwise. In the case of a Tranche of U.S. Exempt Securities which is the subject of an
Offering Circular, each reference in this Base Prospectus to information being specified or identified in the applicable Final Terms
shall be read and construed as a reference to such information being specified or identified in the relevant Offering Circular unless
the context requires otherwise.

An Issuer and, if applicable, the Guarantor, may agree with any Dealer that Notes may be issued, offered to the public, and/or admitted
to trading on a regulated market in a form not contemplated by the Terms and Conditions of the Notes described in this Base
Prospectus, in which event a Drawdown Prospectus will be submitted for approval to the relevant competent authority and will be
made available. In the case of a Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a Drawdown Prospectus, each reference in this Base
Prospectus to information being specified or identified in the applicable Final Terms shall be read and construed as a reference to
such information being specified or identified in the relevant Drawdown Prospectus unless the context requires otherwise. The terms
and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a Drawdown Prospectus will be the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes as supplemented, amended and/or replaced to the extent described in the relevant Drawdown Prospectus.

In accordance with Article 6(3) of the Prospectus Regulation, the Drawdown Prospectus will be drawn up as a single document,
incorporating by reference, if applicable, the relevant parts of the Base Prospectus.
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Supplement to the Base Prospectus

SUPPLEMENT TO THE BASE PROSPECTUS

If at any time the Issuers shall be required to prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the Prospectus
Regulation, the Issuers will prepare and make available an appropriate supplement to this Base Prospectus or a further Base
Prospectus which, in respect of any subsequent issue of Notes to be listed and admitted to trading on a regulated market shall
constitute a supplement to the Base Prospectus (or a new Base Prospectus, as applicable) as required (for supplements) by Article
23 of the Prospectus Regulation and shall supply each Dealer with such number of copies of such supplement hereto or new Base
Prospectus as such Dealer may reasonably request.

Each Issuer has given an undertaking to the Dealers that if at any time during the duration of the Programme there is a significant
new factor, material mistake, material inaccuracy or omission relating to information contained in this Base Prospectus which is
capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes and whose inclusion in or removal from this Base Prospectus is necessary, for the
purpose of allowing an investor to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and
prospects of the Issuer, the Group and the rights attaching to the Notes, the Issuer shall prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus
or publish a replacement Base Prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent offering of the Notes, and shall supply each
Dealer with such number of copies of such supplement hereto as such Dealer may reasonably request.

Following the publication of this Base Prospectus, the Issuers and the Guarantor will, in the event of any significant new factor,
material mistake or material inaccuracy relating to information included in this Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting the
assessment of any Notes, prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus (a Supplement) in accordance with Article 23 of the
Prospectus Regulation or publish a new prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent issue of Notes. Such Supplement as
prepared will have to be approved by the CSSF. Statements contained in any such Supplement (or contained in any document
incorporated by reference therein) shall, to the extent applicable (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise), be deemed to modify
or supersede statements contained in this Base Prospectus or in a document which is incorporated by reference in this Base
Prospectus. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Base
Prospectus.

In the case of Notes subject to a Non-exempt Offer to the public, in accordance with Article 23(2) bis of the Prospectus Regulation,

investors who have already agreed to purchase or subscribe for Notes before any Supplement is published have the right, exercisable
within three working days after the publication of this Supplement, to withdraw their acceptances.
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Form of Final Terms

FORM OF FINAL TERMS

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Notes that are not U.S. Exempt Securities
issued under the Programme where:

* will apply if the minimum denomination is less than €100,000
** will apply if the minimum denomination is at least €100,000

[To be included on front of the Final Terms if following the ICMA 1 "all bonds to all professionals" target market approach:

MIFID Il product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market — Solely for the purposes of [the/each]
manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the
target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as
amended, MiFID IN][MIFID II]; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are
appropriate. [Consider any negative target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a
distributor) should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s’] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID
Il is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the
manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[The legend may not be necessary if the managers in relation to the Notes are not subject to UK MiFIR and therefore there are no UK
MiFIR manufacturers. Depending on the location of the manufacturers, there may be situations where either the MiFID Il product
governance legend or the UK MiFIR product governance legend or where both are included:

UK MIFIR product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market — Solely for the purposes of [the/each]
manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the
target market for the Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook (COBS),
and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (UK MiFIR); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients
are appropriate. [Consider any negative target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a
distributor) should take into consideration the manufacturer[’'s/s’] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the
FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules) is
responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the
manufacturer['s/s’] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

OR

[To be included on front of the Final Terms if following the ICMA 2 approach:

MIFID Il product governance / Retail investors, professional investors and ECPs — Solely for the purposes of [the/each]
manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i)
the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties, professional clients and retail clients, each as defined in [Directive
2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID 11)][MIFID Il]; EITHER 2 [and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate,
including investment advice, portfolio management, non-advised sales and pure execution services] OR 3 [(ii) all channels for
distribution to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate; [and (iii) the determination of the appropriate channels
for distribution of the Notes to retail clients has been made and is available on the website
http://regulatory.sgmarkets.com/#/mifid2/emt ][, subject to the distributor's suitability and appropriateness obligations under MiFID
I, as applicable]]. [Consider any negative target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a
distributor) should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID
Il'is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the
manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels[, subject to the distributor's
suitability and appropriateness obligations under MiFID I, as applicable] 411

[The legend may not be necessary if the managers in relation to the Notes are not subject to UK MiFIR and therefore there are no UK
MiFIR manufacturers. Depending on the location of the manufacturers, there may be situations where either the MiFID Il product
governance legend or the UK MiFIR product governance legend or where both are included:

UK MIFIR product governance / Retail investors, professional investors and ECPs target market — Solely for the purposes of
[the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion
that: (i) the target market for the Notes is retail clients, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms
part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA), and eligible counterparties, as defined in the
FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook (COBS), and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it
forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (UK MIFIR); EITHER ° [and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes are

2 Include for bonds that are not ESMA complex.
3 Include for certain ESMA complex bonds. This list may need to be amended, for example, if advised sales are deemed necessary.
If there are advised sales, a determination of suitability will be necessary. In addition, if the Notes constitute "complex" products, pure
execution services are not permitted to retail without the need to make the determination of appropriateness.
4 If the Notes constitute "complex" products, pure execution services are not permitted to retail without the need to make the
determination of appropriateness. If there are advised sales, a determination of suitability will be necessary.
5 Include for bonds that are not ESMA complex (in the UK context, as reflected in COBS).
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appropriate, including investment advice, portfolio management, non-advised sales and pure execution services] OR ¢ [(ii) all
channels for distribution to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate; [and (iii) the determination of the
appropriate channels for distribution of the Notes to retail clients has been made and is available on the website
http://regulatory.sgmarkets.com/#/mifid2/emt ] [, subject to the distributor’s suitability and appropriateness obligations under COBS,
as applicable]]. [Consider any negative target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a
distributor) should take into consideration the manufacturer[’'s/s’] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the
FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules) is
responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the
manufacturer[‘s/s’] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels][, subject to the distributor’s suitability
and appropriateness obligations under COBS, as applicable] 7] 8]

[Information specific to any issue of U.S. Exempt Securities shall be set out in an Offering Circular in connection with the offer and
sale of such U.S. Exempt Securities.]

APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS
Dated [e]

[The following language applies if the Notes are listed on SIX Swiss Exchange or distributed in Switzerland:

The Notes described in these Final Terms do not constitute a participation in a collective investment scheme within the
meaning of the Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes (CISA). Therefore, the Notes are not subject to
authorisation and supervision by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA (FINMA), and investors in the
Notes will not benefit from protection under the CISA or supervision by FINMA. Investors in the Notes will bear a credit risk
on [the Issuer of the Notes] [the Guarantor].]

[Legend to be included if the Notes potentially constitute "packaged" products and no key information document will be prepared or
the issuer wishes to prohibit offers to EEA retail investors for any other reason, in which case the selling restriction should be specified
to be "Applicable™: PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the
European Economic Area (EEA). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail
client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID Il); or (ii) a customer within the
meaning of Directive 2016/97/EU (as amended or superseded, the Insurance Distribution Directive), where that customer
would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MIFID Il; or (iii) not a qualified investor as
defined in the Prospectus Regulation. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014
(as amended, the EU PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail
investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to
any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the EU PRIIPs Regulation.]

[Legend to be included if the Notes potentially constitute "packaged" products and no key information document will be prepared or
the issuer wishes to prohibit offers to UK retail investors for any other reason, in which case the selling restriction should be specified
to be "Applicable": PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS - The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United
Kingdom (UK). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in
point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000, as amended (the FSMA) and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97,
where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No
600/2014 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of
Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently, no key information
document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the UK
PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been
prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may
be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.]

[To be included if Notes are offered in Singapore and the classification differs from that specified on the cover page of this Base
Prospectus:

Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from
time to time (the SFA) - In connection with Section 309B of the SFA and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products)
Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the CMP Regulations 2018), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as

6 Include for certain ESMA complex bonds (in the UK context, as reflected in COBS). This list may need to be amended, for example,
if advised sales are deemed necessary. If there are advised sales, a determination of suitability will be necessary. In addition, if the
Notes constitute "complex" products, pure execution services are not permitted to retail without the need to make the determination
of appropriateness.
7 If the Notes constitute "complex” products, pure execution services are not permitted to retail without the need to make the
determination of appropriateness. If there are advised sales, a determination of suitability will be necessary.
8 Please note that non-exempt offers in the UK require a FCA approval. Since the Base Prospectus is not approved by the FCA, an
approval of this document or a drawdown prospectus approved by the FCA should be required before any sales to UK retail investors
on a non-exempt basis.
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defined in Section 309(A)(1) of the SFA), that the Notes are prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations
2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and
MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products)]

[SOCIETE GENERALE] [SG ISSUER]
Legal entity identifier (LEI): [02RNESIBXP4R0OTD8PU41/ 549300QNMDBVTHX8H127]

Issue of [up to] [ [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]
[Unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by Societe Generale]
under the Debt Instruments Issuance Programme

PART A — CONTRACTUAL TERMS

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth under the heading [“General
Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes”] [General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes”] in the Base Prospectus
dated 1 June 2022 [,which constitutes a base prospectus for the purposes of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the Prospectus
Regulation)]. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein [for the purposes of Article 8(4) of the
Prospectus Regulation] and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus [and the supplement[s] to such Base Prospectus
[dated [@]] [and any [other] supplement] published prior to the Issue Date (as defined below) (the Supplement(s))]; provided,
however, that to the extent such Supplement (i) is published after these Final Terms have been signed or issued and (ii) provides for
any change to the Conditions as set out under the heading [“General Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes”] [“General
Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes”], such change shall have no effect with respect to the Conditions of the Notes to
which these Final Terms relate. Full information on the Issuer[, the Guarantor] and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis
of the combination of these Final Terms, the Base Prospectus and any Supplement(s). Prior to acquiring an interest in the Notes
described herein, prospective investors should read and understand the information provided in these Final Terms, the Base
Prospectus and any Supplement(s) and be aware of the restrictions applicable to the offer and sale of such Notes in the United States
or to, or for the account or benefit of, persons that are not Permitted Transferees. [A summary of the issue of the Notes is annexed to
these Final Terms.] Copies of the Base Prospectus, any Supplement(s) and these Final Terms are available for inspection from the
head office of the Issuer[, the Guarantor], the specified offices of the Paying Agents and, in the case of Notes admitted to trading on
the Regulated Market or on the Euro MTF of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
(http://www.bourse.lu ) and, in the case of Non-exempt Offers; on the website of the Issuer

( http://prospectus.socgen.com ) ]

[The following alternative language applies if the first Tranche of Notes which is being increased was issued under a prospectus with
an earlier date which was incorporated by reference in this prospectus:

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions under the heading “General Terms and
Conditions of the English Law Notes”/ “General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes”] in the Base Prospectus dated [29
April 2014][28 October 2014][6 July 2016][27 June 2017][20 June 2018] [14 June 2019] [5 June 2020] [4 June 2021] as supplemented
by [for Base Prospectus dated 29 April 2014: the supplement dated 4 June 2014, the supplement dated 24 June 2014 and the
supplement dated 13 August 2014] [for Base Prospectus dated 28 October 2014: the supplement dated 6 November 2014, the
supplement dated 18 December 2014, the supplement dated 23 January 2015, the supplement dated 19 March 2015, the supplement
dated 9 June 2015 and the supplement dated 19 August 2015] [for Base Prospectus dated 6 July 2016: the supplement dated 9
August 2016, the supplement dated 18 October 2016, the supplement dated 2 December 2016 and the supplement dated 23
December 2016][for the Base Prospectus dated 27 June 2017: the supplement dated 31 July 2017, the supplement dated 13
September 2017, the supplement dated 20 October 2017 and the supplement dated 20 March 2018][for Base Prospectus dated 20
June 2018: the supplement dated 24 August 2018, the supplement dated 3 December 2018 and the supplement dated 28 February
2019] [for the Base Prospectus dated 14 June 2019: the supplement dated 19 August 2019, the supplement dated 11 October 2019,
the supplement dated 29 November 2019 and the supplement dated 14 April 2020] [for the Base Prospectus date 5 June 2020: the
supplement dated 17 July 2020, the supplement dated 20 August 2020, the supplement dated 21 September 2020 and the supplement
dated 11 December 2020] [for the Base Prospectus dated 4 June 2021: the supplement dated 14 January 2022 and the supplement
dated 26 April 2022] which are incorporated by reference in the Base Prospectus dated 1 June 2022. This document constitutes the
Final Terms of the Notes described herein [for the purposes of Article 8(4) of the Prospectus Regulation]® and must be read in
conjunction with the Base Prospectus dated 1 June 2022 [which constitutes a base prospectus for the purposes of Regulation (EU)
2017/1129, as amended (the Prospectus Regulation)] to the extent that such amendments have been implemented in a Member
State) [and the supplement[s] to such Base Prospectus dated [ @] [and any other supplement] published prior to the Issue Date (as
defined below) (the Supplement(s))]. Full information on the Issuer [, the Guarantor] and the offer of the Notes is only available on
the basis of the combination of these Final Terms, the Base Prospectus and any Supplement(s) thereto. [A summary of the issue of
the Notes is annexed to these Final Terms.] Copies of the Base Prospectus, any Supplement(s) and these Final Terms are available
for inspection from the head office of the Issuer, [the Guarantor,] the specified offices of the Paying Agents and, in the case of Notes
admitted to trading on the Regulated Market or on the Euro MTF of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, on the website of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange ( http://www.bourse.lu )] [, and, in the case of Non-exempt Offers, on the website of the Issuer (
http://prospectus.socgen.com ).]

[In case of a public offer continuing after the validity of the Base Prospectus: The Base Prospectus is valid until 1 June 2023. The
succeeding base prospectus will be available on http://prospectus.socgen.com ).]

9 Delete in the case of any issue of Private Placement Notes or any Notes to be issued pursuant to a unitary prospectus.
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[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable". Note that the numbering should remain as set out below,
even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs. Italics denote guidance for completing the Final
Terms. If "Not Applicable" is specified in respect of a paragraph, the remaining sub-paragraph(s) shall be deleted.]

[If the Notes are governed by English Law. Any reference in these Final Terms to “General Terms and Conditions” is deemed to be a
reference to “General Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes”.] [If the Notes are governed by French Law. Any reference in
these Final Terms to “General Terms and Conditions” is deemed to be a reference to “General Terms and Conditions of the French
Law Notes”.]

[When completing final terms, consideration should be given as to whether such terms or information constitute "significant new
factors" and consequently trigger the need for a Supplement to the Base Prospectus under Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation.]

[When the context requires, any reference to “Notes” and "Noteholders" in these Final Terms may be replaced by "Certificates” and
"Certificateholders".]

[If the Notes have a maturity of less than one year from the date of issue, the minimum denomination may need to be £100,000 or its
equivalent in any other currency in order to comply with United Kingdom selling restrictions.]

[Any reference in the applicable Final Terms to any date expressed under the form « DD/MM/YYYY » shall be deemed to be a
reference to any date expressed under the form "Day/Month/Year"]

1. (i) Series Number: [Insert the series number]
(i) Tranche Number: [Insert the tranche number]
(iii) Date on which the Notes become fungible: [Not Applicable]

[The Notes shall be assimilated and form a single
series with the [Insert title of the Notes related to
the previous tranche number of the series] on
[Insert date] [the Issue Date] [issue date plus forty
days]]

2. Specified Currency: [Insert the currency of the Notes] [Renminbi
Currency Event applicable as per Condition 5.15]
[Relevant Currency: [Insert the relevant currency]]

3. Aggregate Nominal Amount:

@) Tranche: [up to] [Insert the aggregate nominal amount of the
tranche]

(i) Series: [up to] [Insert the aggregate nominal amount of
the series]*°

4. Issue Price: [[Insert the percentage]% of the Aggregate
Nominal Amount] [[Insert the currency and the
amount] per Note of [Insert the currency and the
amount] Specified Denomination] [plus an amount
equal to the interest accrued from and including
[Insert date] to but excluding [Insert date] [the
Issue Date] (which is equal to [Insert the number
of days] days' accrued interest)] [Offer Price]

5. [ Specified Denomination: [Insert the currency and the amount]

[In respect of any Exempt Offer, the €100,000
minimum denomination is not required.]**

[Only if the Notes are Notes other than Registered,
Uncertificated Notes or French Law Notes, if the
Specified Denomination is expressed to be
€100,000 or its equivalent in another currency and
multiples of a lower principal amount (for example

10 For French Law Notes only, the Series must comprise at least five Notes.
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€1,000 or its equivalent in another currency), insert
the additional wording as follows:

€100,000 and integral multiples of [€1,000] in
excess thereof up to and including €199,000. No
Notes in definitive form will be issued with a
denomination exceeding €199,000.]*

[NB: Dematerialised Notes shall be issued in one
denomination only]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes which are Single
Name Notes or First-to-Default  Notes:
(in relation to each Note, and subject to Condition
of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes, the Nominal Amount)]

[NB: The following apply for Definitive Bearer Notes and Definitive Registered Notes only:

Calculation Amount: [Not Applicable] [Insert the currency and the
amount]

[NB: Only applicable to English Law Notes.

The applicable Calculation Amount (which is used for the calculation of interest and redemption
amounts) will be (i) if there is only one Specified Denomination, the Specified Denomination of the
relevant Notes or (ii) if there are several Specified Denominations or the circumstances referred to
in paragraph 5(i)apply (e.g. Specified Denominations of €100,000 and multiples of €1,000), the
highest common factor of those Specified Denominations Note that there must be a common factor
in the case of two or more Specified Denominations. If "Calculation Amount" is to be used in the
applicable Final Terms, corresponding references to the Calculation Amount for interest, put and
call options and redemption amount calculation purposes should be included in the terms and
conditions set out in the Base Prospectus. Note that a Calculation Amount of less than 1,000 units
of the relevant currency may result in practical difficulties for paying agents and/or ICSDs who
should be consulted if such an amount is proposed.]

[NB: For Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant Linked Notes the Calculation Amount must
be calculated on the basis of the Issue Price.]

Adjusted Specified Denomination: [Insert the currency and the amount]
[NB: Only applicable to Instalment Notes.]

Issue Date: [Insert the date]
[(DD/MM/YYYY)]

[NB: For Preference Share Linked Notes, the Preference Shares shall have been issued at least
one Business Day prior to the Issue Date. For Warrant Linked Notes, the Warrants shall have been
issued at least one Business Day prior to the Issue Date]

Interest Commencement Date: [Not Applicable] [Issue Date] [specify]
[(DD/IMMIYYYY)]

[NB: An Interest Commencement Date will not be relevant for certain Notes, for example for Zero
Coupon Notes]

Maturity Date [In the case of Italian Certificates  [Insert the date] [If Interest is unadjusted: [Insert

only: Final Exercise Date]: the date]] [If Interest is adjusted: The Interest

[(DD/IMM/YYYY)] Payment Date scheduled to fall in or nearest to
[Insert a month and a year]]

[For Preference Share Linked Notes: [Insert the
scheduled maturity date] (such date being the
Scheduled Maturity Date), subject to the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Preference Share
Linked Notes.]

[In case of Open-ended Notes: Open-ended.]

[In respect of Fund Linked Notes: [Insert the date],
subject to postponement upon the occurrence of a
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Maturity Disruption Event, as provided in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked
Notes.]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: [Insert the scheduled maturity date] (such
date being the Scheduled Maturity Date), subject
to the provisions of paragraph [24(iv)/24(v)]
"[Credit] [Bond] Linked Notes Provisions" and the
Additional Terms and Conditions for [Credit]
[Bond] Linked Notes.]

[[English] [French] law]

[NB: If the Notes are U.S. Exempt Securities, SIS Notes, EUI Notes, ECF Notes or Uncertificated
Nordic Notes, the governing law must always be English law]

Status of the Notes:

Date of corporate authorisation obtained for

the issuance of Notes:

Type of Structured Notes:

Reference of the Product:
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[Unsecured [Eligible Notes - [Eligible Non
Structured Notes/Eligible Structured Notes]]] [In
case of Secured Notes Issued by SG Issuer only:
Secured. See paragraph 26 “Secured Notes
Provisions” below.]

[Not Applicable] [Insert the date]

[Not Applicable]

[Share Linked Notes] [Index Linked Notes] [SGI
Index Linked Notes] [Depositary Receipts Linked
Notes] [ETF Linked Notes] [Reference Rate
Linked Notes] [Foreign Exchange Rate Linked
Notes] [Commodity Linked Notes] [Fund Linked
Notes] [Credit Linked Notes] [Inflation Linked
Notes] [Bond Linked Notes] [ETP Linked Notes]
[Non Equity Security Linked Notes] [Preference
Share Linked Notes] [Warrant Linked Notes]
[Future Linked Notes] [Portfolio Linked Notes]
[Dividend Linked Notes].

The provisions of the following Additional Terms
and Conditions apply:

[Additional Terms and Conditions for Share Linked
Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Index Linked
Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for SGI
Index Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Reference Rate Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Foreign
Exchange Rate Linked Notes] [Additional Terms
and Conditions for Commodity Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked
Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions
for Inflation Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Bond Linked Notes] [Additional
Terms and Conditions for ETP Linked Notes and
for ETF Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Non Equity Security Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Preference
Share Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Warrant Linked Notes] [Additional
Terms and Conditions for Future Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Portfolio
Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions
for Dividend Linked Notes].

[Not Applicable]
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[[Insert the Reference of the Product as per
Condition 3 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae] [with Option
[Insert the reference of the Option] applicable], as
described in the Additional Terms and Conditions
relating to Formulae.]

[If one or more than one Add-on is/are applicable
for a particular Product:

[With Add-on relating to Automatic Early
Redemption Amount applicable as per Condition
1.4.1 of the Additional Terms and Conditions
relating to Formulae: the [[“Automatic Early
Redemption Amount” ] [Final Redemption Amount]
of the Product [Insert the Reference of the Product
from the Additional Terms and Conditions relating
to Formulae]] [Option [Insert the reference of the
Option] as described in Condition 3] is applicable]
[With Add-on relating to Structured Interest
Amount applicable as per Condition 1.4.2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae: the Structured Interest Amount of the
Product [Insert the Reference of the Product from
the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae] is applicable] [With Add-on relating to
Credit Linked or Bond Linked Products applicable
as per Condition 1.4.3 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae] [With Add-on
relating to Memory Coupon(s) applicable as per
Condition 1.4.4 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae] [With Add-on
relating to Global Factors applicable as per
Condition 1.4.5 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae] [with Option
[Insert the reference of the Option] applicable]
[With Add-on relating to Foreign Exchange Rates
applicable as per Condition 1.4.6 of the Additional
Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae] [with
Option [Insert the reference of the Option]
applicable] [With Add-on relating to Capitalisation
Rate applicable as per Condition 1.4.7 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae] [With Add-on relating to hedging fees
applicable to a Product Formula applicable as per
Condition 1.4.8 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae.] [With Add-on
relating to Optional Redemption Amount
applicable as per Condition 1.4.9 of the Additional
Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae: the
[Final Redemption Amount of the Product [Insert
the Reference of the Product from the Additional
Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae]]
[Option [Insert the reference of the Option] as
described in Condition 3] is applicable]

[With Add-on relating to Variable Data applicable
as per Condition 1.4.10 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions relating to Formulae.]

[With Add-on relating to EU Allowance applicable
as per Condition 1.4.11 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions relating to Formulae.]

[With Add-on relating to Automatic Early
Redemption Amount applicable pursuant to
Condition 1.4.1 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae: the "Automatic
Early Redemption Amount" is modified as "Not
Applicable"] [With Add-on relating to Structured
Interest Amount applicable pursuant to Condition
1.4.2 of the Additional Terms and Conditions
relating to Formulae: the "Structured Interest
Amount" is modified as "Not Applicable"]]



10. Interest Basis:
11. Redemption/Payment Basis:
12. Issuer’s/Noteholders’ redemption option:
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[Not Applicable] [[Insert the percentage]% Fixed
Rate] [[Specify the reference rate] [plus (+)] [minus
()] [Insert the percentage]% Floating Rate]
[Fixed/Floating Rate] [Reverse Floating Rate]
[Zero Coupon] [Dual Currency] [See section
“‘PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF
ANY) PAYABLE” below]

[Redemption at [par] [Final Redemption Amount]]
[Physical Delivery. See paragraph 21 below]
[Partly Paid. See paragraph 31 below] [Instalment.
See paragraph 32 below] [Dual Currency] [[Credit]
[Bond] Linked. Redemption at Final Redemption
Amount on the Scheduled Maturity Date, subject
as otherwise provided in these Final Terms and to
the provisions of Condition 1 of the Additional
Terms and Conditions for [Credit] [Bond] Linked
Notes] [See section “PROVISIONS RELATING
TO REDEMPTION” below ]

[Not Applicable] [Redemption at the option of the
Issuer] [Redemption at the option of the
Noteholders] [See section “PROVISIONS
RELATING TO REDEMPTION” below]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

13. Fixed Rate Note Provisions:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 4.1
of the General Terms and Conditions]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: Applicable as per Condition 4.1 of the
General Terms and Conditions subject to the
provisions of the paragraph [24(iv)/24(v)] "[Credit]
[Bond] Linked Notes Provisions® and the
Additional Terms and Conditions for [Credit]
[Bond] Linked Notes.]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

0] Rate(s) of Interest:

(i) Specified Period(s) / Interest
Date(s):
[(DDIMM/YYYY)]

Payment

[Insert the percentage] [[Insert the percentage]%
[per annum] [payable [annually] [semi-annually]
[quarterly] [monthly] in arrear [at Maturity Date].]
[up to and including [insert date] [In case of Non-
exempt Offer to the public only: A percentage
(indicatively [Insert the percentage] % subject to a
minimum of [Insert the percentage]%) to be
published by the Issuer on
http://prospectus.socgen.com on [insert the date
of the publication].

[Insert the interest payment date(s)] [[Insert the
day and the month] in each year up to and
including the Maturity Date]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: [[Insert the day and the month] in each year
from and including [Insert the date] to and
including the Scheduled Maturity Date]

[NB: In the case of long or short coupons, insert the relevant Specified Period(s) ]

(iii) Business Day Convention:
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[In respect of Unadjusted Fixed Rate Notes: Not
Applicable]

[In respect of Adjusted Fixed Rate Notes, insert
one of the following business day convention:
[Following Business Day Convention] [Preceding
Business Day Convention] [Modified Following
Business Day Convention]]

[Or: [Following Business Day Convention]
[Preceding Business Day Convention] [Modified



(iv)

Fixed Coupon Amount(s):
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Following Business Day Convention]
[(adjusted/unadjusted)]

[Unless previously redeemed, on [each] [the]
Interest Payment Date, the Issuer shall pay to the
Noteholders, for each Note, an amount
determined by the Calculation Agent as follows:]
[[Insert the currency and the amount] per Note of
[Insert the currency and the amount] Specified
Denomination] [[Insert the currency and the
amount] per Calculation Amount] [Rate of Interest
x Specified Denomination [x Day Count Fraction]]
[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest" is stated as being "Not Applicable" in
paragraph 24(iv) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”
and the Notes are Single Name Notes or First-to-
Default Notes:

Rate of Interest x [Nominal Amount] [If "Accrual of
Interest upon Credit Event" is stated as being
"Guaranteed Coupon" in paragraph 24(iv) “Credit
Linked Notes Provisions”: Specified
Denomination] [x Day Count Fraction]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest" is stated as being "Not Applicable" in
paragraph 24(iv) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”
and the Notes are Basket Notes or Tranche Notes:
Rate of Interest x [Relevant Proportion of the
Interest Calculation Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest
upon Credit Event" is stated as being "Guaranteed
Coupon" in paragraph 24(iv) “Credit Linked Notes
Provisions”: Specified Denomination] [x Day Count
Fraction]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest" is stated as being "Applicable" in
paragraph 24(iv) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”
and the Notes are Single Name Notes or First-to-
Default Notes:

The aggregate of the Observed Interest in respect
of each Interest Period, each Observed Interest
being equal to: Rate of Interest x [Nominal
Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest upon Credit Event”
is stated as being "Guaranteed Coupon" in
paragraph 24(iv) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions™.
Specified Denomination] [x Day Count Fraction]]
[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest" is stated as being "Applicable" in the
paragraph 24(iv) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”
and the Notes are Basket Notes or Tranche Notes:
The aggregate of the Observed Interest in respect
of each Interest Period, each Observed Interest
being equal to: Rate of Interest x [Relevant
Proportion of the Interest Calculation Amount] [If
"Accrual of Interest upon Credit Event" is stated as
being "Guaranteed Coupon" in paragraph 24(iv)
“Credit Linked Notes Provisions” Specified
Denomination] [x Day Count Fraction]]

[In respect of Bond Linked Notes and the Notes
are Single Bond Linked Notes:

Rate of Interest x Specified Denomination [x Day
Count Fraction]]

[In respect of Bond Linked Notes and the Notes
are Basket Bond Linked Notes:

Rate of Interest x [Relevant Proportion of the
Interest Calculation Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest
upon Bond Event" is stated as being "Guaranteed
Coupon" in paragraph 24(v) “Bond Linked Notes
Provisions”. Specified Denomination] [x Day Count
Fraction]]



V)

(vi)

(vii)

14.
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Day Count Fraction:

Broken Amount(s):

Determination Date(s):

[Not Applicable] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360
convention] [Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/365
(Fixed)] [Actual/365 (Sterling)] [Actual/360]
[360/360 convention] [Bond Basis] [30E/360
(ISDA)]

[[Insert the currency and the amount] per
Specified Denomination] [[Insert the currency and
the amount] per Calculation Amount], payable on
the Interest Payment Date falling on [Insert the
date] [In case of a long or short Interest Period
(with regard to paragraph 13(ii)) "Specified
Period(s) / Interest Payment Date(s)" above, the
amount of interest will be calculated in accordance
with the formula specified in paragraph
13(iv)"Fixed Coupon Amount(s)" above.]

[Not Applicable] [[Insert the determination date(s)]
[in each year]]

[NB: Insert regular Interest Payment Dates, ignoring the Issue Date or Maturity Date in the case
of a long or short first or last coupon. Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual

(ICMA)]

[NB: In the case of regular Interest Payment Dates which are not of equal duration, indicate each
of the applicable Determination Date]

Floating Rate Note Provisions:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 4.2
of the General Terms and Conditions]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: Applicable as per Condition 4.2 of the
General Terms and Conditions, subject to the
provisions of the paragraph [24(iv)/24(v)] "[Credit]
[Bond] Linked Notes Provisions" and the
Additional Terms and Conditions for [Credit]
[Bond] Linked Notes.]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Floating Coupon Amount:
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[Unless previously redeemed, on [each] [the]
Interest Payment Date, the Issuer shall pay to the
Noteholders, for each Note, an amount
determined by the Calculation Agent as follows:]

[Specified Denomination x [Max((insert the
relevant percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Reference Rate] [x insert the
relevant leverage factor] [+/- insert the relevant
percentage][))][x Day Count Fraction]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest" is stated as being "Not Applicable" in
paragraph 24(iv) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”
and the Notes are Single Name Notes or First-to-
Default Notes: [Nominal Amount] [If "Accrual of
Interest upon Credit Event" is stated as being
"Guaranteed Coupon" in paragraph 24(iv) “Credit
Linked  Notes  Provisions” [Specified
Denomination x [Max((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Reference Rate] [x insert the
relevant leverage factor] [+/- insert the relevant
percentage][))][x Day Count Fraction]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest" is stated as being "Not Applicable" in
paragraph 24(iv) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”
and the Notes are Basket Notes or Tranche Notes:
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[Relevant Proportion of the Interest Calculation
Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest upon Credit Event"
is stated as being "Guaranteed Coupon" in
paragraph 24(iv) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions™.
[Specified Denomination x [Max((insert the
relevant percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Reference Rate] [x insert the
relevant leverage factor] [+/- insert the relevant
percentage][))][x Day Count Fraction]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest" is stated as being "Applicable" in
paragraph 24(iv) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”
and the Notes are Single Name Notes or First-to-
Default Notes: The aggregate of the Observed
Interest in respect of each Interest Period, each
Observed Interest being equal to: [Nominal
Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest upon Credit Event”
is stated as being "Guaranteed Coupon" in
paragraph 24(iv) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”:
[Specified Denomination x [Max((insert the
relevant percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Reference Rate] [x insert the
relevant leverage factor] [+/- insert the relevant
percentage][))][x Day Count Fraction]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest" is stated as being "Applicable" in
paragraph 24(iv) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”
and the Notes are Basket Notes or Tranche Notes:
The aggregate of the Observed Interest in respect
of each Interest Period, each Observed Interest
being equal to: [Relevant Proportion of the Interest
Calculation Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest upon
Credit Event" is stated as being "Guaranteed
Coupon" in paragraph 24(iv) “Credit Linked Notes
Provisions™. [Specified Denomination X
[Max((insert the relevant percentage);] [Min((insert
the relevant percentage);] [Reference Rate] [x
insert the relevant leverage factor] [+/- insert the
relevant percentage][))][x Day Count Fraction]]

[In respect of Bond Linked Notes and the Notes
are Single Bond Linked Notes:

[Specified Denomination x [Max((insert the
relevant percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Reference Rate] [x insert the
relevant leverage factor] [+/- insert the relevant
percentage][))][x Day Count Fraction]]

[In respect of Bond Linked Notes and the Notes
are Basket Bond Linked Notes:

[Relevant Proportion of the Interest Calculation
Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest upon Bond Event”
is stated as being "Guaranteed Coupon" in
paragraph 24(v) “Bond Linked Notes Provisions™.
[Specified Denomination x [Max((insert the
relevant percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Reference Rate] [x insert the
relevant leverage factor] [+/- insert the relevant
percentage][))][x Day Count Fraction]]

[Or the following formula, which may be adapted
in respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes:

[Specified Denomination x  [Max((Floor(i));]
[Min((Cap(i);] [Reference Rate] [x Leverage
Factor(i)] [+/- Spread(i)][))][x Day Count Fraction]
Where:



(i)

(iii)

(iv)
v)
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[Cap(i)] [Floor(i)] [Leverage Factor(i)] [Spread(i)]
means [insert the relevant percentage] on the
[insert the relevant Interest Period]]

[In case of Non-exempt Offer to the public only:
[Cap] [Floor] [Leverage Factor] [Spread] means a
percentage (indicatively [Insert the percentage] %
subject to a minimum of [Insert the percentage]%)
to be published by the Issuer on
http://prospectus.socgen.com on [insert the date
of the publication].

Specified Period(s) / Interest Payment [Insert the interest payment date(s)] [In respect of

Date(s): Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked Notes: [Insert

[(DDIMM/YYYY)] the day and the month] in each year from and
including [Insert the date] to and including the
Scheduled Maturity Date.]

Business Day Convention: [Floating Rate Convention] [Following Business
Day Convention] [Preceding Business Day
Convention] [Modified Following Business Day
Convention] [adjusted] [unadjusted]

[NB: Insert "unadjusted" if the application of the relevant business day convention is not intended
to affect the Interest Amount. See Condition 4.7.1 of the General Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes or the General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case
may be]

Business Centre(s): [Not Applicable] [Insert the business centre(s)]

Method of determination of the Rate of [ISDA Determination] [Standard Screen Rate

Interest and Interest Amount: Determination] [Compounded RFR Screen Rate
Determination] [Averaged RFR Screen Rate
Determination] ]J[RFR Compounding Method -
[Compounding with Lookback] [Compounding with
Observation Shift] [Compounding with
Lockout][OIS Compounding]] [RFR Averaging
Method - [Averaging with Lookback][Averaging
with  Observation  Shift] [Averaging  with
Lockout][Overnight Averaging] ]

[If ISDA Determination is applicable as per Condition 4.2.3.1 of the General Terms and Conditions
of the English Law Notes or the General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the
case may be:

Floating Rate Option: [Insert the floating rate option][If the Rate of
Interest is determined by linear interpolation in
respect of an interest period (as per Condition
4.2.3.1), insert the relevant interest period(s) and
the relevant two rates used for such determination]

Designated Maturity: [Insert the designated maturity]

Reset Date: [Insert the reset date]

[If Standard Screen Rate Determination is applicable as per Condition 4.2.3.2 of the General
Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes or the General Terms and Conditions of the French
Law Notes, as the case may be]:

Reference Rate: [Insert the reference rate] [If the Rate of Interest is
determined by linear interpolation in respect of an
interest period (as per Condition 4.2.3.2), insert
the relevant interest period(s) and the relevant two
rates used for such determination]

Interest Determination Date(s): [Insert the interest determination date(s)]

Specified Time: [Insert the specified time]
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Relevant Screen Page:

[Insert the relevant screen page]

[If Compounded RFR Screen Rate Determination or Averaged RFR Screen Rate Determination is
applicable as per Condition 4.2.3.3 of the General Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes
or the General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case may be:

Reference Rate:

Underlying Benchmark:
Interest Determination Date:
Specified Time:

Relevant Screen Page:

Tenor:

[RFR  Compounding Method] [RFR
Averaging Method]:

[Insert the reference rate]

[Insert the underlying benchmark]
[Insert the date(s)]

[Insert the specified time]

[Insert the relevant screen page]

[Specify]

[Compounding with Lookback] [Compounding with
Observation Shiftf] [Compounding with Lockout]
[OIS Compounding]

[Averaging with Lookback] [Averaging with
Observation Shift] [Averaging with Lockout]
[Overnight Averaging]

[If RFR Compounding Method - [Compounding with Lookback] [Compounding with Observation
Shift] [Compounding with Lockout][OIS Compounding] or if RFR Averaging Method - [Averaging
with Lookback][Averaging with Observation Shift] [Averaging with Lockout][Overnight Averaging]
applies as per as per Condition 4.2.3.4 of the English Law or French Law General Terms and

Conditions]
Underlying Benchmark:
Interest Determination Date(s):
Specified Time:
Relevant Screen Page:
Daily Capped Rate:
[If applicable:
Daily Capped Rate:
Daily Floored Rate:
[If applicable:

Daily Floored Rate:

[specify]
[specify]
[specify]
[specify]
[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[specify the Daily Capped Rate]]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[specify the Daily Floored Rate]

[If Compounding with Lookback or Averaging with Lookback applies

[Lookback r:]

[specify if different than 5]]

[If Compounding with Observation shift or Averaging with Observation Shift applies

[Observation Period Shift Additional
Business Day:]

[Observation Shift:]
Set-In-Advance Observation:

[If applicable:
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[specify financial center(s) or if none specified it
shall be deemed that no Observation Period Shift
Additional Business Day applies]

[specify if different from 5]]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]
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First Set-In Advance Observation Period: [From and including [ ] to but excluding [ 1]
(Both dates must be an Observation Period Shift
Business Day)]]

[If Compounding with Lockout or Averaging with Lockout applies:

[Lockout Period Business Day:] [Specify financial center][Applicable Business
Day]

[“t”:] [specify if different from 5]]

Margin(s)/Spread(s): [Not Applicable] [[Insert the percentage]% [Plus

(+)] [Minus (-)] [Insert the percentage]% per
annum] [If any, see formula in paragraph 14(i)
"Floating Coupon Amount" above]

Leverage Factor: [Not Applicable] [Insert Leverage Factor] [If any,
see formula in paragraph 14(i) "Floating Coupon
Amount:" above]

Minimum Rate of Interest: [Not Applicable] [[Insert the percentage]% [per
annum]] [If any, see formula in paragraph 14 (i)
"Floating Coupon Amount" above]

Maximum Rate of Interest: [Not Applicable] [[Insert the percentage]% [per
annum]] [If any, see formula in paragraph 14(i)
"Floating Coupon Amount" above]

Day Count Fraction: [Not Applicable] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360
convention] [Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/365
(Fixed)] [Actual/365 (Sterling)] [Actual/360]
[360/360 convention] [Bond Basis] [30E/360
(ISDA)]

Rate Multiplier: [Not Applicable] [Insert the rate multiplier]
[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]
Benchmark Rate: [Reference Rate USD-LIBOR] [Reference Rate
EURIBOR] [Reference Rate  EUR-CMS]
[Reference Rate USD-CMS] [Reference Rate
SHIBOR]

[NB: Benchmark for the purposes of Condition 4.2.4 of the General Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes or the General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case

may be]
Floating Rate Option: [Insert the floating rate option]
Designated Maturity: [Insert the designated maturity]
Upper Limit: [Insert the upper limit]
Lower Limit: [Insert the lower limit]
Structured Interest Note Provisions: [Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 4.3

of the General Terms and Conditions]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: Applicable as per Condition 4.3 of the
General Terms and Conditions, subject to the
provisions of paragraph [24(iv)/24(v)] “[Credit]
[Bond] Linked Notes Provisions” and the
Additional Terms and Conditions for [Credit]
[Bond] Linked Notes.]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Structured Interest Amount(s): Unless previously redeemed, on [each] [the]
Interest Payment Date[() (i from [@] to [@])], the
Issuer shall pay to the Noteholders, for each Note,
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an amount determined by the Calculation Agent as
follows:

[The sum of each Structured Interest Amount(i)
determined in respect of each Valuation Date(i) (i
from [@] to [@]) occurring before the Interest
Payment Date, each Structured Interest Amount(i)
being equal to:]

Specified Denomination x [Insert the Product
Formula described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae corresponding to
the Reference of the Product specified in
paragraph 9(iv) “Reference of the Product” above]

[Definitions relating to the Structured Interest
Amount are set out in paragraph 25(ii) “Definitions
relating to the Product”.]

Specified Period(s) / Interest Payment [Insert the interest payment date(s)]
Date(s) [(D]:
[(DD/IMM/YYYY)]

[NB: For Specified Period(s), see Condition 4.2.1(2) of the General Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes or the General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case
may be]

Business Day Convention: [Floating Rate Convention] [Following Business
Day Convention] [Preceding Business Day
Convention] [Modified Following Business Day
Convention] [adjusted] [unadjusted]

[NB: Insert "unadjusted" if the application of the relevant business day convention is not intended
to affect the Interest Amount. See Condition 4.7.1 of the General Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes or the General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case

may be]

Day Count Fraction: [Not Applicable] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360
convention] [Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/365
(Fixed)] [Actual/365 (Sterling)] [Actual/360]
[360/360 convention] [Bond Basis] [30E/360
(ISDA)]

Business Centre(s): [Insert the business centre(s)]

Zero Coupon Note Provisions: [Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 4.4

of the General Terms and Conditions]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Accrual Yield: [Insert the accrual yield] [[Insert the percentage]%
per annum]
Reference Price: [Insert the reference price]

Day Count Fraction in relation to Early [Not Applicable] [Applicable per Conditions 6.3
Redemption Amounts and late payment: and 6.1.3.7 of the General Terms and Conditions]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

Redemption at the option of the Issuer: [Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition
6.1.3.1.1 of the General Terms and Conditions]
[If applicable in respect of Credit Linked Notes or
Bond Linked Notes: Subject to the provision of
notice in accordance with subparagraph 17(iii), the
Issuer may redeem the Notes in whole, but not in
part, on [specify the date(s) or the type of date(s)]
[from but excluding the Issue Date to but excluding
the Scheduled Maturity Date].]
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[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

[NB: Optional Redemption Amount(s) as per Condition 6.1.3.1.3 of the General Terms and
Conditions of the English Law Notes or the General Terms and Conditions of the French Law
Notes, as the case may be]

(i) Optional Redemption Amount: Unless previously redeemed, at the option of the
Issuer, the Notes may be early redeemed on the
Optional Redemption Date[(i) (i from [@] to [@1)]
in accordance with the following provisions in
respect of each Note:
[Specified Denomination x [Insert percentage]%]
[Final Redemption Amount calculated on the
valuation date linked to the relevant Optional
Redemption Date]

[if the Notes are Open-ended Notes: Specified
Denomination x [insert the Product Formula of the
Final Redemption Amount in the Additional Terms
and Conditions relating to Formulae
corresponding to the Reference of the Product
specified in paragraph 9(iv) “Reference of the
Product” above but calculated on the valuation
date linked to the relevant Optional Redemption
Date.]

[Market Value]

[For Preference Share Linked Notes: Calculation
Amount x (Preference Share Value Optionall(i)] /
Preference Share Value Initial)

[For Warrant Linked Notes: Calculation Amount x
(Warrant Value Optional[(i)] / Warrant Value
Initial)]

[Definitions relating to the Optional Redemption
Amount are set out in paragraph 25(ii) “Definitions
relating to the Product”.]

(i) Optional Redemption Date(s) [(i)]: [Insert the optional redemption date(s)] [Specify
[(DD/MM/YYYY)] other]

[NB: Notice Period as per Condition 6.1.3.1.4 of the General Terms and Conditions of the English
Law Notes or the General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case may be.
When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of distribution of
information through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems and custodians, as well as any
other notice requirements which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Principal
Paying Agent]

(iii) Notice Period: [[Insert the number of days] days prior to the
Optional Redemption Date] [specify other]
[If applicable in respect of Credit Linked Notes or
Bond Linked Notes: The Issuer shall give not less
than [Insert the number of days] Business Days'
(as defined in Condition 2 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions for [Credit] [Bond] Linked Notes)
notice to the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 13 of the General Terms and Conditions
(which notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify
the date fixed for redemption)[, provided, however
that any such notice shall be deemed to be void
and of no effect, if a [Credit] [Bond] Event Notice
has been, or is, delivered to Noteholders in
accordance with the Conditions at any time on or
prior to 5.00 p.m. (Paris time) on the fourth
Business Day preceding the date fixed for
redemption in accordance with this paragraph 17].
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[and any such notice of redemption at the option
of the Issuer, along with the Optional Redemption
Amount[(i) (i from [@] to [@])], shall be deemed
to prevail in the following case][s]:

[(@)] a [Credit] [Bond] Event Notice has been
delivered prior to, or is delivered to the
Noteholders on the same day as, or after, any such
notice of redemption at the option of the Issuer [;]

[(b) a [Potential Failure to Pay] [and a] [Potential
Repudiation/Moratorium] [has] [have] already
occurred and [is] [are] continuing at the relevant
Optional Redemption Date[()] [;] [.]]

[If applicable in respect of Credit Linked Notes:
[(b)] [(c)] a Notice of Pending Credit Event was
delivered less than 100 Business Days prior to the
relevant Optional Redemption Date[(i)] and,
immediately prior to such Optional Redemption
Date[(i)], (x) no DC No Credit Event
Announcement has been published and (y) no
Credit Event Notice in relation to the pending event
has been delivered.]]]]

[NB: Redemption in part as per Condition 6.4.1.1.2 of the General Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes or the General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case
may be]

Redemption in part: [Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Minimum Redemption Amount: [Insert the minimum redemption amount]
Maximum Redemption Amount: [Insert the maximum redemption amount]
Redemption at the option of the [Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition
Noteholders: 6.1.3.1.2 of the General Terms and Conditions]

[NB: Optional Redemption Amount as per Condition 6.1.3.1.4 of the General Terms and
Conditions of the English Law Notes or the General Terms and Conditions of the French Law
Notes, as the case may be]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Optional Redemption Amount: Unless previously redeemed, at the option of the
Noteholders, the Notes held by the Noteholder
exercising the option may be early redeemed on
the Optional Redemption Date[(i) (i from [@] to
[@1)] in accordance with the following provisions
in respect of each Note:

[Specified Denomination x [Insert percentage]%]

[Final Redemption Amount calculated on the
valuation date linked to the relevant Optional
Redemption Date]

[if the Notes are Open-ended Notes or EU
Allowance Notes: Specified Denomination x [insert
the Product Formula of the Final Redemption
Amount in the Additional Terms and Conditions
relating to Formulae corresponding to the
Reference of the Product specified in the
paragraph 9(iv) “Reference of the Product” above
but calculated on the valuation date linked to the
relevant Optional Redemption Date.]]

[Market Value]
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Optional Redemption Date(s) [(i)]:
[(DD/IMM/YYYY)]

[For Warrant Linked Notes: Calculation Amount x
(Warrant Value Optional[(i)] / Warrant Value
Initial)]

[For Preference Share Linked Notes: Calculation
Amount x (Preference Share Value Optional[(i)] /
Preference Share Value Initial) ]

[Redemption of the Notes will be subject to a
maximum aggregate nominal amount to be
redeemed equal to [insert currency / amount] per
[insert frequency: day, other] as stated in the duly
completed Put Notice deposited by the Noteholder
with the Registrar or any Paying Agent.]

[Definitions relating to the Optional Redemption
Amount are set out in paragraph 25(ii) “Definitions
relating to the Product”.]

[Insert the optional redemption date(s)] [Specify
other]

[NB: Notice Period as per Condition 6.1.3.1.4.2 of the General Terms and Conditions of the English
Law Notes or the General Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case may be]

Notice Period:

Automatic Early Redemption:

[[Insert the number of days] days prior to the
Optional Redemption Date] [specify other]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition
6.1.3.2 of the General Terms and Conditions]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Automatic Early Redemption Amount(s):

Automatic Early Redemption Date(s) [(i)]:

Automatic Early Redemption Event:

[Final Redemption Amount] [In the case of
Italian Certificates only: Final Exercise
Amount]:
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Unless previously redeemed, if an Automatic Early
Redemption Event has occurred, then the Issuer
shall redeem early the Notes on Automatic Early
Redemption Date[(i) (i from [@] to [@])], in
accordance with the following provisions in respect
of each Note:

[Specified Denomination x [Insert the Product
Formula described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae corresponding to
the Reference of the Product specified in
paragraph 9 (iv) “Reference of the Product”
above]]

[For Warrant Linked Notes: Calculation Amount x
(Warrant Value Exercise[(i)] / Warrant Value Initial)
[Definitions relating to the Automatic Early
Redemption Amount are set out in paragraph 25(ii)
“Definitions relating to the Product”.]

[Insert the automatic early redemption date(s)]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if relevant:
[Insert the automatic early redemption date(s)]
(such date(s) being the Scheduled Automatic
Early Redemption Date), subject to the provisions
of paragraph 24(iv) “Credit Linked Notes
Provisions” and the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes.]

[insert the relevant Automatic Early Redemption
Event as per the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Formulae]

Unless previously redeemed, the Issuer shall
redeem the Notes on the [Maturity Date] [Final
Exercise Date], in accordance with the following
provisions in respect of each Note:
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[At par]

[[Insert the currency and the amount] per Note of
[Insert the currency and the amount] Specified
Denomination] [[Insert the currency and the
amount] per Calculation Amount]

[Specified  Denomination x  [Insert the
percentage]%)]

[Specified Denomination x [Insert the Product
Formula described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae corresponding to
the Reference of the Product specified in
paragraph 9(iv) “Reference of the Product” above]]
[In case of Open-ended Notes: Not Applicable, the
Notes are open-ended.]

[For Preference Share Linked Notes: Calculation
Amount x (Preference Share Value Final /
Preference Share Value Initial)

[For Warrant Linked Notes: Calculation Amount x
(Warrant Value Final / Warrant Value Initial)]
[Definitions relating to the Final [Redemption]
[Exercise] Amount are set out in paragraph 25(ii)
“Definitions relating to the Product”.]

[In case of ltalian Certificates only, insert the following subparagraphs:

[- Final Payment Date:

Physical Delivery Provisions:

[Insert the final payment date]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 5.17
of the General Terms and Conditions]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Deliverable Asset(s):

Physical Delivery Amount:

Provisions governing whether transfer of
Deliverable Asset(s) or payment of a cash
sum will apply:

Issuer’'s option to vary method of
settlement:

Method of transfer of Deliverable Asset(s) in
respect of Physical Delivery Amount (if
other than Delivery):
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[See paragraph "Underlying(s)"] [If the deliverable
assets) is/are different from the underlying
asset(s) specified in the paragraph
24(i)"Underlying(s)" below: [Insert the relevant
deliverable asset pursuant to the provisions of
Condition 5.17 of the General Terms and
Conditions]] [In respect of Credit Linked Notes:
Specified Deliverable Obligation(s)]

[See paragraph 25(ii) “Definitions relating to the
Product”.]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if
applicable:Applicable, as provided in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes]

[See paragraph 25(ii) “Definitions relating to the
Product”.]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if applicable:
Applicable, as provided in the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]

[No] [Applicable as per Condition 5.17.2 of the
General Terms and Conditions] [In respect of
Credit Linked Notes, if applicable: Applicable, as
provided in the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Credit Linked Notes]

[As per Condition 5.17.1 of the General Terms and
Conditions] [In respect of Credit Linked Notes:
Delivery through the relevant Clearing System
unless the Specified Deliverable Obligations are
not eligible for clearance by the relevant Clearing
System or otherwise as specified in Condition 1 of
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes, in which case transfer will take place
outside the relevant Clearing System as set out in
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Consequences of Settlement Disruption

Event(s):

Trigger redemption at the option of the

Issuer:

Condition 1 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]

As per Condition 5.17.4 of the General Terms and
Conditions

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition [In
respect of English law : 6.2.3] [In respect of French
law: 6.4.1.2] of the General Terms and Conditions]

[NB: Trigger redemption at the option of the Issuer will always be “Not Applicable” in respect of

Eligible Non Structured Notes]

[Insert the following subparagraph only if Trigger redemption at the option of the Issuer is
Applicable as per Condition 6.4.1.2 of the General Terms and Conditions]

Outstanding Amount Trigger Level:

Redemption for Tax Event, Special Tax
Event, Regulatory Event, Force Majeure

Event or Event of Default:
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[10% of the Aggregate Nominal Amount] [[Insert
other outstanding amount trigger level] % of the
Aggregate Nominal Amount]

[Early Redemption]
[Early Redemption or Monetisation until the
Maturity Date]

[Monetisation with Early Redemption at the option
of the Noteholders, except for Force Majeure
Event or Event of Default]

Early Redemption Amount: [[Insert the currency
and the amount] per Note of [Insert the currency
and the amount] Specified Denomination] [[Insert
the currency and the amount] per Calculation
Amount] [Market Value] [In the case of Preference
Share Linked Notes or Warrant Linked Notes: the
Early Redemption Amount as defined in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Preference
Share Linked Notes]

[Market Value except for Early Redemption
Amount payable on Event of Default in which case
such amount will be equal to [insert the currency
and the amount] per Note of [insert the currency
and the amount] Specified Denomination]]

[Early Redemption [for Tax Event] [or] [for Special
Tax Event] will not apply for the purpose of
[Condition 6.3, and Condition 7.2 is not applicable
to this Series of Notes][and for the purpose of the
Additional Terms and Conditions [specified in
paragraph 24 below] [and] [the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes] [and] [the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes]]

[Condition 6.5 of the General Terms and
Conditions will not apply for the purpose of
Condition 6.3 of the General Terms and
Conditions.]

[Condition 6.5 of the General Terms and
Conditions will not apply to Tax Event and Special
Tax Event for the purpose of Condition 6.3 of the
General Terms and Conditions.]

[In respect of Eligible Non Structured Notes:
Redemption for Regulatory Event, Force Majeure
Event or Event of Default will not apply as per
Condition 6.2 of the General Terms and
Conditions.]
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[In respect of Eligible Structured Notes:
Redemption for Event of Default will not apply as
per Condition 6.2 of the General Terms and
Conditions.]

[N.B.: there will always be an Early Redemption Amount]

[NB: The provisions of Early Redemption Amount payable following the occurrence of a Tax Event,
Special Tax Event and/or a Regulatory Event , or on Event of Default as per Condition 9 of the
General Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes or the General Terms and Conditions of
the French Law Notes, as the case may be]

[NB: In respect of Italian Certificates only, "Market Value" means the amount determined in good
faith and in a commercially reasonable manner by the Calculation Agent to be the fair market value
of the Certificates immediately prior (and ignoring the circumstances leading) to such early
termination]

PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE UNDERLYING(S)

0)

(i)

(iii)

Underlying(s): [Not Applicable] [If Credit Linked Notes or Bond
Linked Notes : As provided in paragraph [“Credit
Linked Notes Provisions”] [“Bond Linked Notes
Provisions”] below]

[Where the underlying is a security, include the
name of the issuer of the security and the
International Securities Identification Number
(ISIN) or other such security identification code.
Where the underlying is an index, include the name
of the index. If the index is not composed by the
Issuer, need to include details of where the
information about the index can be obtained. In
case of SGI Linked Notes, if Advised SGI Index is
applicable, need to specify.

Where the underlying is an interest rate, include a
description of the interest rate

Where the underlying does not fall within the
categories specified above, the applicable Final
Terms shall contain equivalent information.

Where the underlying is a Future or a Basket of
Futures, need to disclose the Future, the Next
Active Future Contract, the Exchange, the Future
Start Time, the Future End Time, the Future
Underlier, the relevant weightings of each
Underlying in the Basket.

Where the underlying is a Portfolio or a basket of
Portfolios: The [basket of] [Portfolio[s]] as
described in the Annex for Portfolio Linked Notes
attached hereto.]

[In the case of Notes listed on SIX: insert ISIN code
(if any) as well as initial effective value of the
Underlyings and insert the information on the
underlying instruments required by section 4 of
scheme F (for derivatives) or sections 2.5.2 and
2.5.3 of scheme E (for bonds) of SIX Swiss
Exchange, to the extent such information is not
already included elsewhere in the applicable Final
Terms.]

Information relating to the past and future  [Not Applicable] [Need to include details of the

performances of the Underlying(s) and relevant website or screen page where information

volatility: on past and future performance and volatility can
be obtained, as specified in item 24(i).]*

Provisions relating, amongst others, to the  [Not Applicable]

Market Disruption Event(s) and/or  The provisions of the following Additional Terms
Extraordinary Event(s) and/or any additional  and Conditions apply:

disruption event as described in therelevant  [Additional Terms and Conditions for Share Linked
Additional Terms and Conditions: Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked Notes]
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Credit Linked Notes Provisions:

[Additional Terms and Conditions for Index Linked
Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for SGI
Index Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Reference Rate Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Foreign
Exchange Rate Linked Notes] [Additional Terms
and Conditions for Commodity Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked
Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for
Inflation Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for ETP Linked Notes and for ETF
Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions
for Non Equity Security Linked Notes] [Additional
Terms and Conditions for Preference Share
Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions
for Warrant Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Future Linked Notes] [Additional
Terms and Conditions for Portfolio Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes [and Condition 3 “Additional Provisions
related to CDS Spread”]] Additional Terms and
Conditions for Bond Linked Notes] [Additional
Terms and Conditions for Dividend Linked Notes].

[Specify if Hedging Disruption is not applicable]

[Specify if Increased Cost of Hedging is not
applicable]

[Specify if Stop-Loss Event is not applicable]

[For Fund Linked Notes, specify if “Fund Linked
Notes_Events2” is applicable]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable, subject to the
provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Credit Linked Notes. [The provisions of the
“Additional Provisions related to CDS Spread” in
Condition 3 shall apply.]]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Type of Credit Linked Notes:

Terms relating to Settlement:
(A.) Settlement Type:

(B.) Settlement Method:

(C.) Final Value:
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[Single Name Notes] [First-to-Default Notes]
[Basket Notes] [Tranche Notes]

[American Settlement] [European Settlement]

[Cash Settlement, pursuant to Condition 1.1.3 of
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes] [Or but ONLY for Single Name
Notes and First-to-Default Notes and the
Settlement Type is American Settlement: Physical
Settlement, pursuant to Condition 1.1.1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes]

[Fixed Recovery: [Insert the percentage] per cent.]
[If Floating Recovery with Auction Method applies:
the Final Value is to be determined pursuant to a
Transaction Auction Settlement Terms and if a
Transaction Auction Settlement Terms s
published on or before 140 Business Days
following the Credit Event Determination Date, that
provides for the valuation of obligations of a
Reference Entity in respect of which a Credit Event
has occurred, subject to the occurrence of a
Fallback Settlement Event, means the Auction
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(D.) Unwind Costs:

Provisions relating to Basket Notes:

Final Price (as specified in the relevant
Transaction Auction Settlement Terms and
expressed as a percentage) determined, if any,
under such Transaction Auction Settlement Terms
and applicable to the seniority of the Reference
Obligation or if a Fallback Settlement Event occurs
or no Transaction Auction Settlement Terms is
published on or before 140 Business Days
following the Credit Event Determination Date,
means the amount determined by the Calculation
Agent on the Credit Valuation Date as follows:

(x) the Final Price if there is only one Selected
Obligation; or

(y) the weighted average of the Final Prices of the
Selected Obligations if the latter are a portfolio,

in each case, minus the Valuation Hedging Cost
for such Selected Obligation(s).]

[Floating Recovery with Quotation Dealers
Method: Final Value means the amount
determined by the Calculation Agent on the Credit
Valuation Date as follows:

(x) the Final Price if there is only one Selected
Obligation; or

(y) the weighted average of the Final Prices of the
Selected Obligations if the latter are a portfolio, in
each case, minus the Valuation Hedging Cost for
such Selected Obligation(s).

[If Physical Settlement: Not Applicable]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [Standard Unwind Costs Standard
Unwind Costs means in respect of each Note, an
amount, subject to a minimum of zero, determined
by the Calculation Agent equal to the sum of
(without duplication) all costs, expenses (including
break funding charges and loss of funding, which,
for the avoidance of doubt, represents the loss of
future interest amounts to be received under the
funding arrangement(s) entered into in relation to
the Notes), tax and duties incurred directly or
indirectly by Societe Generale or any of its
Affiliates in relation to the occurrence of a Credit
Event Determination Date and the related partial
or total termination, settlement or re-establishment
of any Hedge Position, such amount to be
apportioned pro rata amongst the outstanding
Notes.] [Not Applicable: the Unwind Costs in
respect of each Note will be equal to zero.]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[If (c) Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

(A.) Relevant Proportion:

(B.) Aggregate Loss Amount:
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As per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes.

[If the Notes are Basket Notes which are not
Tranche Notes: As per Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes, means at any time for a Basket Note that is
not a Tranche Note, the aggregate of the Loss
Amount in respect of all Reference Entities in
respect of which a Credit Event Determination
Date has occurred.] [If the Notes are Tranche
Notes: As per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes, means at
any time for a Tranche Note, the lowest of (i) the
Tranche Notional Amount; and (ii) the highest of
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(C.) Loss Amount:

(D.) Reference Entity Notional Amount:

(E.) Tranche Notes:

(x) zero and (y) the difference between (xx) the
aggregate of the Loss Amount for all Reference
Entities in respect of which a Credit Event
Determination Date has occurred and (xy) the
Tranche Subordination Amount.]

[In respect of Basket Notes and Tranche Notes if
the paragraph "N-to-M-to-Default" is stated as
being as "Not Applicable": In relation to each
Reference Entity in respect of which a Credit Event
Determination Date has occurred, an amount
equal to the product of:

(i) the Reference Entity Notional Amount and

(i) the difference between the Reference Price
and the Final Value, subject to a minimum of zero.]

[In respect of Tranche Notes if the paragraph "N-
to-M-to-Default" is specified as "Applicable": In
relation to each Reference Entity in respect of
which a Credit Event Determination Date has
occurred:

- which has a Ranking strictly lower than N: an
amount equal to the product of:

(i) the Reference Entity Notional Amount and
(ii) the Reference Price;

- which has a Ranking higher than or equal to N
and lower than or equal to M: an amount equal to
the product of:

(i) the Reference Entity Notional Amount and
(i) the difference between the Reference Price
and the Final Value, subject to a minimum of zero;
- which has a Ranking strictly higher than M: an
amount equal to zero.]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [For each Reference Entity comprised in
the Reference Portfolio: the amount equal to the
product of the Reference Entity Weighting and the
Reference Portfolio Notional Amount]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[If (E) Not Applicable, delete the remaining]

(1) Tranche Subordination Amount:

(2) Tranche Notional Amount:

(3) N-to-M-to-Default:

(4) Attachment Point:
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[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [The Reference Portfolio Notional Amount
multiplied by the Attachment Point]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [The Aggregate Nominal Amount]

[Not Applicable]

[N = [number corresponding to the Ranking
starting at which the Aggregate Loss Amount will
be an amount greater than zero]

M = [number corresponding to the Ranking above
which the Aggregate Loss Amount ceases to
increase]

P= [number of Reference Entities within the
Reference Portfolio]]

[If the Notes are Tranche Notes if the paragraph
"N-to-M-to-Default" is specified as "Not
Applicable": [Specify for the purposes of Condition
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(5) Detachment Point:

Reference Portfolio Notional Amount:

Reference Price:

Reference Entity Weighting:

Interest Recovery:

Transaction Type:

[Deliverable/Selected] Obligation(s):

[If (e) Not Applicable, delete the remaining]

(A.) [Deliverable/ Selected] Obligation

Category:
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2 of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes]%] [if the paragraph "N-to-M-to-
Default" is specified as "Applicable": [(N-1)/P]%]

[If the Notes are Tranche Notes with N-to-M-to-
Default is Not Applicable: [Specify for the
purposes of Condition 2 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]%]] [If N-
to-M-to-Default is specified as Applicable: [M/P]%)]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [If the Notes are Tranche Notes: An amount
equal to the Aggregate Nominal Amount divided
by the difference between the Detachment Point
and the Attachment Point] [If the Notes are Basket
Notes: An amount equal to the Aggregate Nominal
Amount]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [[Insert the percentage]%]

[For each Reference Entity comprised in the
Reference Portfolio: the percentage specified as
such in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes” hereto or,
if not specified, 100%.]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes]

[For Each Reference Entity comprised in the
Reference Portfolio: the proportion specified as
such in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes” hereto
which will be adjusted in accordance with the
provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Credit Linked Notes]

[Fixed Interest Recovery with an Interest Recovery
Rate of [Insert the percentage] %] [Floating
Interest Recovery]] [Not relevant. The Notes do
not bear interest] [Not relevant. The sub-
paragraph "Accrual of Interest upon Credit Event"
is specified as being "Guaranteed Coupon"]

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, as specified
in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[[If Cash Settlement and Fixed Recovery: Not
Applicable] [Applicable]]

[For Single Name Notes: The
[Deliverable/Selected] Obligation Category
specified in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes”
hereto]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the
[Deliverable] [Selected] Obligation Category
specified in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes”
hereto]
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(B.) [Deliverable/ Selected] Obligation
Characteristics:

Accrual of Interest upon Credit Event:

[For Single Name Notes: The
[Deliverable/Selected] Obligation Characteristics
specified in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes”
hereto]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the
[Deliverable] [Selected] Obligation Characteristics
specified in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes”
hereto]

[In respect of [Fixed Rate Note Provisions:]
[Floating Rate Note Provisions:] [Structured
Interest Note Provisions:]] [No Accrued Interest
upon Credit Event] [Accrued Interest upon Credit
Event] [Guaranteed Coupon] [If no coupon: Not
relevant. The Notes do not bear interest.]

[NB: Guaranteed Coupon only where "Settlement Type" is "European Settlement"]

Observed Interest:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 1.2
of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes]

[If (vii) Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraph]

[- Interest Observation Dates

First Credit Event Occurrence Date:

Scheduled Last Credit Event Occurrence
Date:

Reference Entity(ies):

[so far as the Issuer is aware and/or able to
ascertain from information published by the
Reference Entity:

Multiple Successor(s):

101

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes]]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [The [In respect of Uncertificated Swedish
Notes or Uncertificated Finnish Notes: 12th] [If the
Notes are neither Uncertificated Swedish Notes
nor Uncertificated Finnish Notes: 4th] Business
Day immediately preceding the Scheduled
Maturity Date.]

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto (or any Successor
thereto)]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: The Reference Entities comprised
in the Reference Portfolio as described in “Annex
for Credit Linked Notes” hereto (or any Successor
thereto)]

Information required under item 2.2.2 of Annex 17
to Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No
2019/980 to be provided]

[For Single Name Notes: [Not Applicable]
[Applicable (i.e. Condition 1.4 (“Multiple
Successors”) of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes apply to the
Notes to deal with the split, if any, of the Reference
Entity into several resulting entities).]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: Not relevant. The provisions of
Condition 1.4 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes do not apply.
For the avoidance of doubt, splits into several
resulting entities are dealt with in the definition of
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Reference Obligation(s):

Credit Events:

Notice of Publicly Available Information:

Obligation(s):

(A.) Obligation Category:

(B.) Obligation Characteristics:

All Guarantees:

Additional provisions relating to certain
specific Reference Entities:
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Successor as per Condition 2 of the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes.]

[CUSIP/ISIN: [Insert the identification number]
[None]]

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the
Reference Obligation(s) specified in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[(or any obligation replacing such original
Reference Obligation as per the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes).]

[For Single Name Notes: The Credit Event(s)
specified in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes”
hereto]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the Credit
Event(s) specified in “Annex for Credit Linked
Notes” hereto]

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, as specified
in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[For Single Name Notes: The Obligation Category
specified in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes”
hereto]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the
Obligation Category specified in “Annex for Credit
Linked Notes” hereto]

[For Single Name Notes: The Obligation
Characteristics specified in “Annex for Credit
Linked Notes” hereto]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the
Obligation Characteristics specified in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, as specified
in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable, if relevant, as per
Condition 1.8 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]
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Business Days (for the purposes of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes):

Reference Entities Switch and/or Maturity
Extension at the option of the Issuer:

(If (s) Not Applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraph)

Notice Period:

Other applicable options as per the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes:
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[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [The Business Days specified in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 1.11
of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes.

The Reference Portfolio as described in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto constitutes the
components of the [specify the Initial Index Name]
Serie [i] Version [j], as published by Markit on
[specify the Website link].

By no later than [specify the date], the Issuer will
have the right but not the obligation to apply
Reference Entities Switch [and  Maturity
Extension].

Amended Reference Portfolio: components of the
[specify the Initial Index Name] Series [i]+1,
Version 1, to be published by Markit on [specify the
Website link].

[Maturity Extension: Amended [Scheduled]
Maturity Date: [specify the Amended [Scheduled]
Maturity Date]).] ]

[Insert the number of days] days prior to the
effective date of the Reference Entities Switch
[and Maturity Extension].

[Not Applicable] [Specify the source of Publicly
Available Information which must be used when
the Public Source is different from the sources
specified in the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Credit Linked Notes] [Specify the Specified
Number if such number is different from the
Specified Number anticipated in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]

[If "Physical Settlement" applies: Specify if Include
Deliverable/Selected Obligation Accrued Interest
applies]

[If "Cash Settlement" applies and one of the
following options applies to the Notes; Specify if
[Include Deliverable/Selected Obligation Accrued
Interest] or [Exclude Deliverable/Selected
Obligation Accrued Interest] applies]

[Specify the [Excluded Obligation], [Excluded
Deliverable Obligation] [Excluded Selected
Obligation] if different from the provisions of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes]

[Specify if Non-Reference Entity Original Non-
Standard Reference Obligation is applicable]

[Specify if Substitution Event Early Redemption is
not applicable]

[Specify Trigger Percentage applicable to a
Reference Entity if applicable]
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Bond Linked Notes Provisions:

[If Basket Notes or Tranche Notes: Specify Interest
Credit Factor if different from 100%]

[If Basket Notes or Tranche Notes: Specify Interest
Loss Factor if different from 100%]

[Specify Principal Credit Factor if different from
100%]

[Specify Principal Loss Factor if different from
100%)]

[If Basket Notes or Tranche Notes: Specify if
Preliminary Cash Redemption is not applicable]

[Only if Condition 3 “Additional Provisions related
to CDS Spread” applies:
[Specify the External Provider Time if different
from 15.00 London time]

[Specify the Quotation Deadline Time if different
from 17.00 London time]

[Specify the Quotation Method if different from
Offer]

[Specify the Reference CDS Currency if different
from that specified in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]

[Specify the Reference CDS Maturity if different
from 5-year]

[Specify if Switch Option is not applicable]
[Specify if Credit Index Option is applicable]
[Specify if Limited Recourse Provisions are

applicable]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable, subject to the
provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Bond Linked Notes]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Type of Bond Linked Notes:

Terms relating to Settlement:

(A.) Settlement Type:

[Single Bond Linked Notes] [Basket Bond Linked
Notes]

[American Settlement] [European Settlement]

[NB: American Settlement only if Single Bond Linked Notes]

(B.) Bond Final Value:
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[Fixed Recovery: [Insert the percentage] per cent.]
[Floating Recovery: For each Bond, the
percentage determined by the Calculation Agent
as follows:

(i) the Bond Final Price;

(i) plus, if any, any partial or total repayment in
cash of the Bond which would have been paid to
the holders of the Bond under the Bond as of the
Bond Final Value Determination Date as
determined by the Calculation Agent, expressed
as a percentage of the Bond Notional Amount;

(i) plus, if any, the price (expressed as a
percentage of the Bond Notional Amount),
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Form of Final Terms

(C.) Auction Period for the purposes of the
Bond Final Price determination:

(D.) Bond Final Price Accrued Interest:

(E.) Breakage Cost Amount:

(F.) Relevant Proportion:

Provisions relating to Basket Bond Linked
Notes:

calculated using a method similar to that to
determine the Bond Final Price, of any securities
which would have been delivered to the holders of
the Bond under the Bond as of the Bond Final
Value Determination Date as determined by the
Calculation Agent;

(iv) minus the Valuation Hedging Cost;

(v) minus any amount due and payable under the
Bond in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the Bond as in force and effect as of the Issue
Date (expressed as a percentage of the Bond
Notional Amount) which is still unpaid at the Bond
Final Value Determination Date, as determined by
the Calculation Agent.

[The Bond Final Value is subject to a minimum of
zero per cent. and to a maximum of 100 per cent.]
[The Bond Final Value is subject to a minimum of
zero per cent. and may be higher than one
hundred per cent. (100%).]

[Specify number] consecutive Business Days
(as defined in paragraph 24(k) below)

[In the case of Fixed Recovery: Not Applicable] [In
the case of Floating Recovery: [Excluding Accrued
Interest] [Including Accrued Interest]]

[Not Applicable: the Breakage Cost Amount will be
equal to zero] [Applicable: means an amount
determined by the Calculation Agent expressed in
the Specified Currency of the Notes using the
Relevant Spot Exchange Rate on the relevant
calculation date(s), as determined by the
Calculation Agent, equal to the fees, costs and
expenses arising directly or indirectly, in
connection with (i) terminating, unwinding,
realizing or enforcing any repurchase transaction
(if any) with the Bond as underlying asset, the
purpose of which is to refinance the relevant Bond
and (ii) entering into, trading or increasing any
repurchase transaction (or any transaction with
similar purposes) with the Collateral Assets (if any)
as underlying asset, the purpose of which is to
refinance the Collateral Assets (if any). For the
avoidance of doubt, the Breakage Cost Amount
may be a positive amount (if to be received by
Societe Generale or any of its Affiliates) or a
negative amount (if to be paid by Societe Generale
or any of its Affiliates)]

[Specify as per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes.]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[If (c) Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

(A.) Aggregate Loss Amount:

(B.) Loss Amount:

(C.) Reference Portfolio Notional Amount:
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[Specify as per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes]

[Specify as per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes]
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(D.) Reference Price:

(E.) Bond Weighting:

(F.) Interest Recovery Rate:

Accrual of Interest upon Bond Event:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes] [For each Bond comprised in the
Reference Portfolio: the percentage specified as
such in paragraph “Tables” below]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes] [For each Bond comprised in the
Reference Portfolio: the proportion specified as
such in paragraph “Tables” below]

[Fixed Interest Recovery with an Interest Recovery
Rate of [Insert the percentage] per cent.] [Floating
Interest Recovery] [Not Applicable. The Notes do
not bear interest.] [Not Applicable. The sub-
paragraph "Accrual of Interest upon Bond Event"
is specified as "Guaranteed Coupon"]

[No Accrued Interest upon Bond Event] [Accrued
Interest upon Bond Event] [Guaranteed Coupon]
[If no coupon: Not relevant. The Notes do not bear
interest.]

[NB: Guaranteed Coupon only where "Settlement Type" is "European Settlement”]

First Bond Event Occurrence Date:

Bond(s):

[so far as the Issuer is aware and/or able to
ascertain from information published by the
Bond Issuer:

Bond Currency:

Bond Notional Amount:

Bond Events:
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[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes]

[For Single Bond Linked Notes: The Bond
described in paragraph “Tables” below]

[For Basket Bond Linked Notes: The Bonds
comprised in the Reference Portfolio as described
in paragraph “Tables” below]

Information required under item 2.2.2 of Annex 17
to Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No
2019/980 to be provided]

[For Single Bond Linked Notes: The Bond
Currency described in paragraph “Tables” below]
[For Basket Bond Linked Notes: The Bond
Currency described in respect of the Bonds
comprised in the Reference Portfolio as described
in paragraph “Tables” below]

[For Single Bond Linked Notes: On the Issue Date,
the Bond Notional Amount in the Bond Currency,
each as described in paragraph “Tables” below
and thereafter as modified in accordance with the
definition of "Bond Notional Amount" in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes.]

[For Basket Bond Linked Notes: On the Issue
Date, the Bond Notional Amount in the Bond
Currency described in respect of the Bonds
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, all as
described in paragraph “Tables” below and
thereafter as modified in accordance with the
definition of "Bond Notional Amount" in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes]

[For Single Bond Linked Notes: The Bond Event(s)
specified in paragraph “Tables” below]

[For Basket Bond Linked Notes: For each Bond
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the Bond
Event(s) specified in paragraph “Tables” below]
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Notice of Publicly Available Information:

Business Days (for the purposes of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond
Linked Notes):

Other applicable options as per the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond

Linked Notes

Tables:

[Applicable] / [Not Applicable]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes]

[Not Applicable]

[Specify the source of Publicly Available
Information which must be used when the Public
Source is different from the sources specified in
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond
Linked Notes]

[Specify the Specified Number if such number is
different from the Specified Number anticipated in
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond
Linked Notes]

[Specify the number of Business Days which must
be used in relation to the definition of First
Quotation Day if such number is different from the
number anticipated in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Bond Linked Notes]

[If Basket Bond Linked Notes: Specify if
Preliminary Cash Redemption Amount is Not
Applicable]

[Specify if Reference Transaction Price is Not
Applicable]
Price is

[Specify if Reference Transaction

Applicable]
[Specify if Market Trigger Event is Not Applicable]
[Specify if Market Trigger Event is Applicable]

[If Market Trigger Event is Not Applicable delete

the remaining subparagraphs]

- [Market Trigger Event Source means
[Specify]]

- [Market Trigger Event Percentage means:
[Specify]]

- [Specify the number of continuous Business
Days if different from five]

Insert the following table if “Type of Bond Linked Notes” is “Single Bond Linked Notes”:

Bond Issuer

Bond Guarantor

[if any [if none[Borrower [if any IAmount
then deletef[if none then

relevant delete relevant

column]] column]]

Underlying

Bond ISIN Code|

Bond Currency

Bond NotionalMaturity

[e]

[e]

[]

[e]

[e]

[e] [e]

[For the following tables, add as many lines as necessary:

[Insert the following table if "type of Bond Linked Notes" is "Basket Bond Linked Notes":

Reference Portfolio:

Bond
Issuer

Bond

Underlying

Bond IS

Guarantor [ifBorrower [if|Code

any [if nonelany [if

none|

INBond Bond Bond Maturity Reference
eighting |Currency [Notional Price
IAmount
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then

relevant relevant
column]] column]]

deletefthen delete

[¢]

[]

[o] [¢] [¢]

[]

[] [*] [¢]

[For all Basket Bond Linked Notes where there is more than one Bond, split the Bond ISIN Code column into the
relevant number of columns):

Terms applicable to a Bond are the ones specified in the table below.

In the table below, "X" means "Applicable" (conversely, when left in blank, means "Not Applicable").

Bond Events
Bond Acceleration X]
Bond Default [X]
Bond Early Redemption [X]
Bond Governmental Intervention [X]
Bond Issuer ISDA Event X]
Bond Restructuring [X]
Bond Failure to Pay X]

DEFINITIONS APPLICABLE TO INTEREST (IF ANY), REDEMPTION AND THE UNDERLYING(S) IF ANY

25.

26.

0]

(i)

Definitions relating to date(s):
[- Insert any relevant date(s):

Definitions relating to the Product:

[- Insert any relevant defined term(s)
applicable to interest (if any), redemption
and the underlying(s) (if any), from the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae:

PROVISIONS RELATING TO SECURED NOTES

0]

(i)

(iii)

Secured Notes Provisions:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]
[Insert date(s)]]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable, subject to the
provisions of Condition 4 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions relating to Formulae] [Applicable.
All or part of the definitions relating to the Product
being those used in the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae.]]

[Insert the relevant definition(s) corresponding to
the reference of the product in the Additional Terms
and Conditions relating to Formulae and
mentioned in paragraph 9(iv) “Reference of the
Product” abovel]]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable, subject to the
provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions
relating to Secured Notes]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Collateral Pool:

Type of Collateral Pool:

Type of Collateralisation:

Collateral Valuation at Nominal Value:
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[Specify for the purposes of Condition 1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Secured Notes]

[Single Series Collateral Pool] [Multiple Series
Collateral Pool]

[MV Collateralisation] [NV Collateralisation] [Max
(MV, NV) Collateralisation] [Min (MV, NV)
Collateralisation]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]




(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
*)
(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

Form of Final Terms

Eligibility Criteria:

Collateral Rules:

Collateralisation Percentage:

Haircuts:

Collateral Test Dates:

Collateral Substitution:
Waiver of Rights:
Early Redemption Amount following the

occurrence of a Collateral Disruption
Event:

Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Secured Notes]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Secured Notes]

[Specify the percentage or the formula for
calculating this percentage] [Where Max (MV, NV)
Collateralisation or Min (MV, NV) Collateralisation
is applicable, specify percentage level for MV and
NV Collateralisation if different]

[Specify where the Collateralisation Percentage
may vary after a certain date, following the
occurrence of a trigger event or following a
unanimous decision of the Noteholders]

[Where the Collateralisation Percentage may vary
following an unanimous decision of the
Noteholders, specify a notification period]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable. [specify details of the
haircut to be applied in relation to each type or
class of Collateral Asset]]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Secured Notes] [No periodic Collateral Test Dates]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]
[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[Market Value as per Condition 6.5 of the General
Terms and Conditions] [as defined in paragraph 23
“Redemption for Tax Event, Special Tax Event,
Regulatory Event, Force Majeure Event or Event of
Default”] [Specify for the purposes of Condition 2.7
of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Secured Notes]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[If (xii) Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraph]

[- Method of transfer of Collateral Assets
in respect of Collateral Assets Entitlement:

Order of Priority:

Other applicable options as per the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Secured Notes:
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[Delivery through Clearstream or Euroclear or any
other relevant clearance institution (the Collateral
Assets Clearing System) unless the Collateral
Assets are not eligible for clearance by the
Collateral Assets Clearing System, in which case
transfer will take place outside the Collateral
Assets Clearing System.]]

[The Standard Order of Priority (as such term is
defined in Condition 1 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Secured Notes) applies]
[Insert any alternative Order of Priority pursuant to
the definition of "Order of Priority" in Condition 1 of
the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Secured Notes]

[Not Applicable]

[Where the Collateral Valuation Currency is Euro,
specify where the Collateral Valuation Currency
Screen Page and the Collateral Valuation Currency
Specified Time differ from the Collateral Valuation
Currency Screen Page and the Collateral Valuation
Currency Specified Time specified in the Additional
Terms and Conditions relating to Secured Notes]
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28.

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

0]

Provisions applicable to payment date(s):

Payment Business Day:

Form of Final Terms

[Where the Collateral Valuation Currency is other
than Euro, specify the Collateral Valuation
Currency, the Collateral Valuation Currency
Screen Page and the Collateral Valuation Currency
Specified Time ]

[Predetermined Collateral Valuation Currency
Rate of Exchange is applicable]

[Where Predetermined Collateral Valuation
Currency Rate of Exchange is applicable specify
the predetermined rate of the Collateral Valuation
Currency]

[Specify where a different Valuation Point shall be
used]

[Following Payment Business Day] [Modified
Following Payment Business Day]

[NB: "Payment Business Day" election in accordance with Condition 5.12 of the General
Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and of the General Terms and Conditions
of the French Law Notes]

Financial Centre(s):

Form of the Notes:

Form:
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[Insert the financial centre(s)]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes with Physical
Settlement: [Insert the financial centre(s)] and
solely for the purposes of physical settlement, if
applicable, a day in any other jurisdiction in which
a bank must be open in order to effect settlement
of any Deliverable Obligations being Delivered.]

[If English law Notes in bearer form: [Temporary
Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global
Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Bearer
Notes only upon an Exchange Event] [Permanent
Global Notes exchangeable for Definitive Bearer
Notes only upon an Exchange Event]]

[If English law Notes in registered form: Non-US
Registered Global Note registered in the name of a
nominee for a common [depositary] [safekeeper]
for Euroclear and Clearstream]

[If ECF Notes: Dematerialised Uncertificated Notes
in book-entry form issued and settled through
Euroclear France in accordance with the rules and
regulations of Euroclear France]

[If French law Notes in materialised form:
Materialised Notes: Temporary Global Certificate]
[If French law Notes in dematerialised form:
Dematerialised Notes: Bearer dematerialised form
(au porteur)]

[If SIS Notes in bearer form: [CHF SIS Notes]
[Other SIS Notes] in the form of a Permanent
Global SIS Note exchangeable for Definitive
Bearer SIS Note only upon a Bearer SIS Notes
Exchange Event]

[If SIS Notes in uncertificated form: Uncertificated
SIS Notes: dematerialised Uncertificated Notes in
book entry form issued, cleared and settled
through SIX SIS Ltd]

[If EUI Notes: Dematerialised Uncertificated Notes
in book-entry form issued, cleared and settled
through Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited (CREST).
CREST Depositary Interest / Direct CREST
Settlement]
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[If Uncertificated Swedish Notes: Dematerialised
Uncertificated Swedish Notes in book entry form
issued, cleared and settled through Euroclear
Sweden in accordance with the Swedish Central
Securities Depositaries and Financial Instruments
Accounts Act (SFS 1998:1479), as amended]

[If Uncertificated Finnish Notes: Dematerialised
Uncertificated Finnish Notes in book entry form
issued, cleared and settled through Euroclear
Finland in accordance with the Finnish Act on the
Book-Entry System and Clearing Operations (Fi.
Laki arvo-osuusjarjestelmasta ja
selvitystoiminnasta 348/2017), as amended and/or
re-enacted from time to time, and the Finnish Act
on Book-Entry Accounts (Fi. Laki arvo-
osuustileistd 827/1991), as amended and/or re-
enacted from time to time]

[If Uncertificated Norwegian Notes: Dematerialised
Uncertificated Notes in book entry form issued and
cleared through VPS in accordance with the
Norwegian Central Securities Depositories Act no.
6 of 15 March 2019 (No. Verdipapirsentralloven).]
[If Uncertificated Danish Notes: Dematerialised
Uncertificated Notes in book entry form issued and
cleared through VP Securities A/S (Euronext
Securities) in accordance with the Danish Capital
Markets Act (Consolidated Act No. 2014 of 1
November 2021) as amended from time to time
and the Executive Order on Book Entry, etc. of
dematerialised Securities in a Central Securities
Depositary (Executive Order No. 1175 of 31
October 2017 as amended from time to time
pursuant thereto).]

[NB: Elect "Yes" opposite "New Global Note (NGN) / New Safekeeping Structure (NSS)" if "Yes"
is elected in Part B under the heading “Operational Information” opposite the paragraph entitled

“Eurosystem eligibility of the Notes” ]

New Global Note (NGN - bearer notes) /
New Safekeeping Structure (NSS —
registered notes):

[Yes — NGN - bearer notes] [Yes- NSS- registered
notes] [No]

[NB: Delete the following subparagraph in case of Notes other than Definitive Bearer Notes]

[Talons for future Coupons or Receipts to
be attached to Definitive Bearer Notes:
Redenomination:

Consolidation:

Partly Paid Notes Provisions:

[Yes (if appropriate)]]
[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 1.5 of
the General Terms and Conditions]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 14.2
of the General Terms and Conditions]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 6.9 of
the General Terms and Conditions]

[NB: Insert amount of each payment comprising the Issue Price and date on which each payment
is to be made and consequences of failure to pay]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Part Payment Amount(s):
Part Payment Date(s):

Instalment Notes Provisions:

[Insert the part payment amount(s)]
[Insert the part payment date(s)]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 6.8 of
the General Terms and Conditions]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]
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Instalment Amount(s):
Instalment Date(s):

Masse:

Dual Currency Note Provisions:

[Insert the instalment amount(s)]
[Insert the instalment date(s)]

[In case of English Law Notes: Not Applicable]

[In the case of French Law Notes: [No Masse as
per Condition 16.1] [Full Masse as per Condition
16.2] [Contractual Masse as per Condition 16.3]
(Note that (i) Condition 16.1 (No Masse) is only
applicable in respect of Notes with a denomination
of, or which can only be traded in amounts of, at
least €100,000 or its equivalent and (ii) Condition
16.3 (Contractual Masse) is only applicable in
respect of any Tranche of Notes issued (a) outside
France or (b) with a Specified Denomination of at
least €100,000 or its equivalent.

(If Condition 16.2 (Full Masse) or 16.3 (Contractual
Masse) applies, insert below details.)

[[If Representative is not DIIS Group: Name and
address of the Representative of the Masse: [e]]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 5.16
of the General Terms and Conditions]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Settlement Currency
Dual Currency Exchange Rate:

Method of calculating the fixing of Dual
Currency Exchange Rate:

[If Predetermined:

Predetermined Fixing

[e]
[Specify an exchange rate]

[Predetermined] [Calculation Agent Determination]
[Screen Rate Determination]

[specify the fixing]

[If Screen Rate Determination or Calculation Agent Determination:

Dual Currency Valuation Date
Dual Currency Valuation Time
[If Screen Rate Determination:
Relevant Screen Page

Additional Amount Provisions for Italian
Certificates:

[e]
[e]

[]

[In respect of English Law Notes: Applicable as per
Condition 5.10 of the General Terms and
Conditions]

[In the case of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: subject to the provisions of paragraph
“[Credit] [Bond] Linked Notes Provisions" and the
Additional Terms and Conditions for [Credit] [Bond]
Linked Notes.]

[Not Applicable]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Additional Amount(s)

112

Unless previously redeemed, on the applicable
Additional Amount Payment Date(s), the Issuer
shall pay to the Certificateholders, for each
Certificate, an amount determined by the
Calculation Agent as follows:

[[#] per Certificate of [e] Specified Denomination]
[If the Additional Amounts vary depending on the
Additional Amount Payment Dates, insert:

[e] per Certificate of [#] Specified Denomination, on
Additional Amount Payment Date(1);
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37.
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(i)
(iii)

0]

(i)
(iii)

(iv)
v)

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

(vi)
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Additional Amount Payment Date(s)

Business Day Convention

Interest Amount and/or the Redemption
Amount switch at the option of the Issuer:

[e] per Certificate of [#] Specified Denomination, on
the Additional Amount Payment Date(2); (...)

[e] per Certificate of [#] Specified Denomination, on
the Additional Amount Payment Date(insert the
number of the last Additional Amount Payment
Date);

[o]

[Following Business Day Convention] [Modified
Following Business Day Convention] [Preceding
Business Day Convention]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 6.6 of
the General Terms and Conditions]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Substitute Coupon:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Substitute Coupon Amount:
Additional Substitute Coupon Amount:
Market Value for the Switch:

Substitute Final Redemption:

[e]
[e]
[e]
[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Substitute Final Redemption Amount:
Optional Modification Date:
Notice Period:

Portfolio Linked Notes Provisions:

Basket Component(s):

Debt Instrument(s):

Commodity Instrument(s):

Derivatives Instrument(s):

Equity Instrument(s):

Market Data:

[]
[e]
[e]

[Not applicable] [Applicable, subject to the
provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Portfolio Linked Notes]

[If  Not applicable, delete the remaining
subparagraphs]

As specified in "Annex for Portfolio Linked Notes"
hereto

[Applicable, as specified in "Annex for Portfolio
Linked
Notes" hereto] [Not applicable]

[Applicable, as specified in "Annex for Portfolio
Linked
Notes" hereto] [Not applicable]

[Applicable, as specified in "Annex for Portfolio
Linked
Notes" hereto] [Not applicable]

[Applicable, as specified in "Annex for Portfolio
Linked
Notes" hereto] [Not applicable]

[Applicable] [Not applicable]

[NB: If Substitution of the Issuer is Not Applicable, insert the following paragraph:

Substitution of the Issuer

Not Applicable]

[NB: if Gross-up provision is Not Applicable, insert the following paragraph:
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39. Taxation Gross-up provision is not applicable]

[THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

Information or summaries of information included herein with respect to [the Underlying(s)] [and] [the Reference Rate] have
been extracted from general databases released publicly or by any other available information.

[Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor] [The issuer] confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that,
so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from information published, no facts have been omitted which would render the
reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

[In the case of Notes to be listed to SIX Swiss Exchange: To the extent information or summaries of information contained
herein with respect to [the Underlying(s)] [and] [the Reference Rate] has been extracted from general databases publicly
available or by any other available information, each of the Issuer and the Guarantor, if any, confirms that this information has
been accurately reproduced and that as far as the Issuer and the Guarantor, if any, is aware and is able to ascertain from
information published by that third party, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate
or misleading. In addition, the issuer shall identify the source(s) of the information] [The latest annual reports for the issuer(s)
of the Underlying(s) may be obtained free of charge, on the relevant website specified above, or, if not on such website, upon
request at the specified office of Société Générale (see in address and contact details of Société Générale for all administrative
communications relating to the Notes).]]]

[In the case of Notes to be listed to SIX Swiss Exchange only: RESPONSIBILITY

The Issuer and the Guarantor, if any, accepts the responsibility for the information contained in these Final Terms. To the best
of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer [and the Guarantor] the information contained in these Final Terms is in accordance
with all the facts and no material facts or circumstances have been omitted.]

[NB: The applicable Final Terms should be signed by the Issuer and the Guarantor, as the case may be, in those jurisdictions
in which the Issuer and the Guarantor, as the case may be, is legally required to sign or in which market practice dictates that
it should. The signature block may be deleted in those jurisdictions in which neither of the above applies.

[Signed on behalf of the Issuer: [Signed on behalf of the Guarantor:
By: By:
Duly authorised] Duly authorised] ]
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PART B — OTHER INFORMATION

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

(i) Listing:

(i) Admission to trading:

(iii)

(iv)

[-
(@)

(b)
()

(d)
(e)

Estimate of total expenses related to admission to
trading**:

Information required for Notes to be listed on SIX
Swiss Exchange:

Listing/Trading information:

Trading Size and Ratio:

First Trading Day:

Last Trading Day and Time:

Swiss ticker symbol:

Type of quoting:

[in case of derivatives:

(f) Capital Protection:

- Additional information:

(@)

[If no listing: None] [Application will be made for the Notes to
be listed on [the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange]
[SIX Swiss Exchange] [Insert any other market]]

[In the case of an admission to trading on a non-European
Union or where no admission to trading is to occur: Not
Applicable] [Application will be made for the Notes to be
admitted to trading on [In the case of an admission to trading
on a European Union [the regulated market of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange] [Insert other regulated market]] [In the case
of admission to trading on SIX Swiss Exchange: SIX Swiss
Exchange] with effect from, or as soon as practicable after, [the
Issue Date] [Specify first listing date].]

[There can be no assurance that the listing and trading of
the Notes will be approved with effect on [the Issue Date]
or at all.]

[Where documenting a fungible issue need to indicate that
original securities are already admitted to trading: The existing
[Insert specified currency and aggregate nominal amount]
Notes [If issuance of Notes:(Tranche [Insert the number of
the previous tranche(s)])] are already admitted to trading on
[Insert name of the relevant market]]

[Not Applicable] [Insert the amount of total expenses**]]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[If (iv) Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]until (d)

below]

Fees charged by the Issuer to the Noteholders post-
issuance:
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[The Notes can only be traded in the [Specified Denomination]]
and integral multiples of the [Specified Denomination]]
[Minimum and maximum trading size and the standard
exercise ratio]

[Insert the first trading day]

[Insert the last trading day and, in the case of derivatives, the
time of day at which trading shall cease ]

[Insert the Swiss ticker symbol]
[e] [The Notes are traded or quoted including accrued interest

(dirty trading) / accrued interest is shown separately (clean
trading)].

[Capital protection: [100% at Maturity Date (in case of early
redemption, the redemption amount may be less than the
Specified Denomination)]] [No capital protection]]]

[Insert the fees] [None]
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(b) Name and address of the representative for [Societe Generale, Paris, Zurich Branch, Talacker 50, 8021
purposes of article 58a of the Listing Rules of SIX Swiss Zurich, Switzerland.] [Insert name and address of the relevant
Exchange: representatives if different from the foregoing]

(c) No material adverse change: [Save as disclosed in the Base Prospectus (as amended by

supplements from time to time), there has been no material
adverse change, nor any event involving a prospective material
adverse change in the financial and trading position of the
Issuer [and the Guarantor] since the date of the Base
Prospectus (as amended by supplements from time to time)]

(d) Swiss tax information: [Insert any tax information required by section 3.2.12 of
scheme F of SIX Swiss Exchange.]
[Noteholders are advised to consult with their professional tax
advisors as to the respective Swiss tax consequences of the
purchase, ownership, disposition or redemption of Notes.]]

2. RATINGS
[The Notes to be issued have [not] been rated [Specify the rating(s) of the Notes] being issued] [by [Specify rating agency(ies)].]

[If credit ratings are assigned to Notes at the request or with the cooperation of the Issuer in the rating process, need to include a
brief explanation of the meaning of the rating if this has previously been published by the rating provider.]

[such credit rating[s] [has been] [are] issued by [a] credit rating agency[ies] established in the European Union, registered under
Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council dated 16 September 2009 (as amended) and are
included in the list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation published on the European
Securities and Markets Authority's website (www.esma.europa.eu/supervision/credit-rating-agencies/risk).]

[NB: When applicable, the above disclosure should reflect the rating allocated to Notes of the type being issued under the
Programme generally or, where the issue has been specifically rated, that rating.]

3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE/OFFER

[Save for any fees [of [insert relevant fee disclosure]] payable to the [Managers/Dealers], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person
involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. The [Managers/Dealers] and their affiliates have engaged,
and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services
for, the Issuer [and the Guarantor] and [its/their] affiliates in the ordinary course of business.)/[Description of any interest, including
conflicting ones, that is material to the issue/offer, detailing the persons involved and the nature of the interest]

4. REASONS FOR THE OFFER AND USE OF PROCEEDS

(i) Reasons for the offer and use of proceeds: [Not Applicable] [Specify the use of proceeds]

[The Notes constitute [Green/Social/Sustainability] Positive
Impact Notes and an amount equivalent to the net proceeds
will be applied to finance and/or refinance [describe specific
Eligible Activities and Framework, including website link,
second party opinion and/or other relevant information where
such information can be obtained].

(If the issuer is aware that the estimated proceeds will not be
sufficient to finance all intended uses, indicate the amount and
source of the necessary additional funds).

[NB: Reasons for the offer and use of proceeds must be
specified in case of Notes listed on SIX Swiss Exchange]

(i) Estimated net proceeds: [Not Applicable] [Insert the estimated net proceeds]

(iii) Estimated total expenses: [#] [Not Applicable]**

(fees should be broken down according to the main intended
uses, in descending order of priority)

11 Not required for Notes with a denomination per unit of at least EUR 100,000.
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5. INDICATION OF YIELD (Fixed Rate Notes only)

[Not Applicable] [If the Notes are debt securities to which Annex 14 and Annex 15 of the Delegated Regulation applies: [give an
indication of yield]]

6. HISTORIC INTEREST RATES* (Floating Rate Notes only)

[Not Applicable] [Details of historic rates of the Reference Rate can be obtained, [free of charge]/[for a fee], from [Insert the
source/give details of the electronic means of obtaining details of the performance].]

7. PERFORMANCE AND EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT
(i) PERFORMANCE OF FORMULA, EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT (Structured Notes only)
[NB: This paragraph only applies if the Notes are derivative securities to which Annex 17 of the Regulation applies.]

[Not Applicable] [Need to include a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the value of the investment is affected by the
underlying and the circumstances when the risks are most evident.]* [Information on the Index, its volatility and past and future
performance can be obtained, [free of chargej/[for a fee], from [e]/[give details of electronic means of obtaining details of the
performance.]].

(i) PERFORMANCE OF RATE[S] OF EXCHANGE AND EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT (Dual
Currency Notes only)

[NB: This paragraph only applies if the Notes giving rise to payment or delivery obligations linked to an underlying asset are
derivative securities to which Annex 17 of the Delegated Regulation applies.]

[Not Applicable] [Need to include a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the value of the investment is affected by the
underlying and the circumstances when the risks are most evident.] [Information on the Underlying, its volatility and its past and
future performance can be obtained, [gratuitously)/[on a paying basis], from [e]/[give details of the electronic means of obtaining
details of the performance.].

8. OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

) Security identification code(s):

- ISIN code: [Insert the code]

[- Common code: [Insert the code]]

[- Temporary ISIN code: [Insert the code]]

[- Temporary Common code: [Insert the code]]

[- German security number (WKN number): [Insert the German security number]]
[- Swiss security number (Valoren number): [Insert the Swiss security number]]

[Add as many lines as necessary]

(i) Clearing System(s): [Insert name(s) and address(es) of the relevant clearing
system(s) and, if required, the relevant identification
number(s)] [In any case of Notes listed on SIX with Euroclear
France or Euroclear Bank / Clearstream Banking as Clearing
System(s), add: SIX SIS Ltd]

[If the paragraph "Form of the Notes" specifies that the Notes
to be issued are in certificated form or book-entry form, insert
name and address of the entity in charge of keeping the

records.]
(iii) Delivery of the Notes: Delivery [against] [free of] payment
(iv) Calculation Agent: [Insert name and address]
(V) Paying Agent(s): [Insert  name(s)

and address(es)]
[If Notes other
than SIS Notes,
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12 Include this text for registered notes.
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and listed on SIX,
add: / Societe
Generale, Paris,
Zurich Branch,
Talacker 50, 8021
Zurich,
Switzerland]

[If SIS Notes:
Societe Generale,
Paris, Zurich
Branch, Talacker
50, 8021 Zurich,
Switzerland]

[No. Whilst the designation is
specified as “no” at the date of
these Final Terms, should the
Eurosystem eligibility criteria
be amended in the future
such that the Notes are
capable of meeting them the
Notes may then be deposited
with one of the ICSDs as
common safekeeper [(and
registered in the name of a
nominee of one of the ICSDs
acting as common
safekeeper 12.]

Note that this does not
necessarily mean that the
Notes will then be recognised
as eligible collateral for
Eurosystem monetary policy
and intraday credit operations
by the Eurosystem at any
time during their life. Such
recognition will depend upon
the ECB being satisfied that
Eurosystem eligibility criteria
have been met.]

[Yes. Note  that the
designation  “yes”  simply
means that the Notes are
intended upon issue to be
deposited with one of the
ICSDs as common
safekeeper and does not
necessarily mean that the
Notes will be recognised as

eligible collateral for
Eurosystem monetary policy
and intra-day credit

operations by the Eurosystem
either upon issue or at any or
all times during their life, or
that, even if recognised, the
eligibility will continue during
the life of the Notes. Such
recognition will depend upon
satisfaction of the
Eurosystem eligibility criteria.]

[In case of French Law Notes:

Yes.
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The Notes will be inscribed in
the books of Euroclear
France, being a domestic
central securities depositary.
The Notes are intended to be
Eurosystem eligible, but it is
not hereby represented,
warranted, undertaken or
implied that the Notes will be
recognised, or that, even if
recognised, the eligibility will
continue during the life of the
Notes. Such recognition will
depend upon satisfaction of
the Eurosystem eligibility
criteria.]

[NB: Elect "Yes" opposite "(iv)Eurosystem eligibility of the Notes” if "Yes" is elected in Part A under the heading “Form of the
Notes” opposite the paragraph entitled "New Global Note (NGN) / New Safekeeping Structure (NSS)"]

(vii) Address and contact details of Societe Generale for all administrative
communications relating to the Notes:

9. DISTRIBUTION

(i) Method of distribution:

[If syndicated:

Names [and addresses and underwriting commitments]* of Managers:

Date of Syndication Agreement:

Telephone: [e]
Facsimile: [e]
Attention: [e]
Email: [e]
[Syndicated] [Non-
syndicated]

[Not Applicable] [give names
[and addresses and
underwriting commitments]*
of Managers]

[If the Notes are derivative
instruments to which Annex
14 of the Delegated
Regulation applies due to the
Prospectus  Regulation
include the names [and
addresses]* of entities
agreeing to underwrite the
issue on a firm commitment
basis and the names [and
addresses]* of the entities
agreeing to place the issue
without a firm commitment or
on a "best efforts" basis if
such entities are not the same
as the Managers.]

[Not Applicable] [Insert the
date of syndication
agreement]

[Only applicable if the Notes are debt securities or derivative securities to which Annex 14 or Annex 17 of the Delegated

Regulation, respectively, applies.]
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Stabilising Manager (if any): [Not Applicable] [Insert the
name of stabilising manager]]

[If non-syndicated:

Name(s) [and addresses and any underwriting commitment] Dealer(s): [Not Applicable] [Insert name
[and address]* of Dealer]

[NB: If the Notes are derivative instruments to which Annex 14 of the Delegated Regulation applies, include the names [and
addresses]* of entities agreeing to underwrite the issue on a firm commitment basis and the names [and addresses]* of the entities
agreeing to place the issue without a firm commitment or on a "best efforts" basis if such entities are not the same as the Dealer.]

(ii) Total commission and concession: [Not Applicable] [[Insert the
percentage] per cent. of the
[Aggregate Nominal Amount]

[aggregate Notional
Amount][There is no
commission and/or

concession paid by the Issuer
to the Dealer or the
Managers] [Specify any other
commission]]*

(iii) TEFRA rules: [Not Applicable] [TEFRA D]
[TEFRA C] [Not Applicable.
Treated by Clearstream
Frankfurt as registered notes
for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. The Notes are
subject to a book entry
agreement entered into by
Clearstream Frankfurt and
the Issuer.]

(iv) Non-exempt Offer Consent of the Issuer to use the Base Prospectus during the  [Not Applicable] [A Non-
Offer Period: exempt Offer of the Notes
may be made by [the
Managers] [the Dealer] [and]
[any Initial  Authorised
Offeror below mentioned]
[Lany Additional Authorised
Offeror, the name and
address of whom will be
published on the website of
the Issuer (
http://prospectus.socgen.com
)] [and any [other] financial
intermediaries to whom the
Issuer gives a General
Consent (the General
Authorised Offerors)] in the
Non-exempt Offer
jurisdiction(s) (Non-exempt
Offer Jurisdiction(s)) during
the offer period (Offer
Period) as specified in the
paragraph "Terms and
Conditions of the Offer"
below.]

[If (iv) Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]
Individual Consent / Name(s) and address(es) of any Initial Authorised Offeror: [Not Applicable] [Applicable
[Insert the name and address

of any initial authorised
offeror]]]
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General Consent/ Other conditions to consent: [Not Applicable] [Applicable]
[Insert any other condition to
consent if relevant]

(v) U.S.federal income tax considerations: [Insert if the Issuer has
determined that the Notes are
NOT Specified Notes: The
Notes are not Specified Notes
for purposes of the Section
871(m) Regulations.]

[Insert if the Issuer has
determined that the Notes are
Specified Notes: The Issuer
has determined that these
Notes substantially replicates
the economic performance of
one or more U.S. Underlying
Equities [(and as such, for the
purposes of IRS Notice 2020-
2, such Notes are deemed to
be “delta-one” Notes and are
therefore Specified Notes for
purposes of the Section
871(m) Regulations.
Additional information
regarding the application of
the Section 871(m)
Regulations on the Notes is
available on request at
Societe Generale by
contacting [specify  the
relevant email address].

[Section 871(m) Regulations’
withholding tax will be at a
rate of [e] per cent. and will be
withheld by [specify].]

[Insert if the Section 871(m)
determination cannot be
made on the date of the Final
Terms: This information is
indicative and will be
updated based on
circumstances at the time
the Notes are issued.]

[Insert if the Issuer has
determined that the Notes are
Zero Estimated Dividends
Securities: The Issuer has
determined that these Notes
are Zero Estimated Dividends
Securities and as such, for
the purposes of Treas. Reg. §
1.871-15(i)(2)(iii)), the
withholding tax to be applied
to this Note is zero.]

[specify whether any
additional U.S. withholding
tax is applicable]

(vi)  Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If the Notes do not constitute
‘packaged” products or the
Notes do constitute
‘packaged” products and a
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- Prohibition of Sales to EEA Non Retail Investors:

(vii)

Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors:

122

key information document will
be prepared, “Not Applicable”
should be specified. If the
Notes may constitute
‘packaged” products and no
KID wil be prepared,
“Applicable”  should  be
specified. For the purpose of
the above, a ‘packaged”
product shall designate a
‘packaged retail investment
product” which means in
accordance with Regulation
(EU) No 1286/2014 of 26
November 2014 an
investment, where,
regardless of the legal form of
the investment, the amount
repayable to the retail
investor is  subject to
fluctuations  because  of
exposure to reference values
or to the performance of one
or more assets which are not
directly purchased by the
retail investor)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(Applicable means that the
Notes may not at any time be
offered, sold, resold, traded,
pledged, redeemed,
transferred or  delivered,
directly or indirectly, to, or for
the account or benefit of, a
person that is not a EEA
Retail Investor (other
than the Issuer, Societe
Generale, the Dealer or an
intermediary for secondary
market purposes) and any
offer, sale, resale, pledge,
redemption,  transfer  or
delivery made, directly or
indirectly or to or for the
account or benefit of, a
person that is not a Retall
Investor (except to the Issuer,
Societe Generale, the Dealer
or an intermediary for
secondary market purposes)
will not be recognized or
enforceable.)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If the Notes do not constitute
‘packaged” products or the
Notes do constitute
‘packaged” products and a
key information document will
be prepared, “Not Applicable”
should be specified. If the
Notes may constitute
‘packaged” products and no
KID wil be prepared,
“Applicable”  should  be
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- Prohibition of Sales to UK Non Retail Investors:

(viii) - Prohibition of Sales to Swiss Non Retail Investors:

123

specified. For the purpose of
the above, a ‘packaged”
product shall designate a
‘packaged retail investment
product” which means, in
accordance with Regulation
(EU) No 1286/2014 of 26
November 2014 as it forms
part of UK domestic law by
virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018, an
investment, where,
regardless of the legal form of
the investment, the amount
repayable to the retall
investor is  subject to
fluctuations  because  of
exposure to reference values
or to the performance of one
or more assets which are not
directly purchased by the
retail investor)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(Applicable means that the
Notes may not at any time be
offered, sold, resold, traded,
pledged, redeemed,
transferred or delivered,
directly or indirectly, to, or for
the account or benefit of, a
person that is not a UK Retall
Investor (other than the
Issuer, Societe Generale, the
Dealer or an intermediary for
secondary market purposes)
and any offer, sale, resale,
pledge, redemption, transfer
or delivery made, directly or
indirectly or to or for the
account or benefit of, a
person that is not a UK Retalil
Investor (except to the Issuer,
Societe Generale, the Dealer
or an intermediary for
secondary market purposes)
will not be recognized or
enforceable.)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(Applicable means that the
Notes may not at any time be
offered, sold, resold, traded,
pledged, redeemed,
transferred  or  delivered,
directly or indirectly, to, or for
the account or benefit of, a
person that is not a Swiss
Retail Investor (except to the
Issuer, Societe Generale, the
Dealer or an intermediary for
secondary market purposes)
and any offer, sale, resale,
pledge, redemption, transfer
or delivery made, directly or
indirectly or to or for the
account or benefit of, a



Form of Final Terms

person that is not a Retall
Investor (except to the Issuer,
Societe Generale, the Dealer
or an intermediary for
secondary market purposes)
will not be recognised.

(ix) - [Name and address of the entity or the entities which have a firm commitment to act  [specify]]
as intermediary(ies) in secondary trading, providing liquidity through bid and offer rates
and description of the main terms of its or their commitment:

[If the Notes are linked to an Advised SGI Index or to a Dynamic Portfolio AND the Issuer elects NOT to apply IRS U.S. Person
definition, insert the following paragraph:

(x) - Regulation S U.S. Person Applicable]

[If the Notes are neither linked to an Advised SGI Index nor to a Dynamic Portfolio AND the Issuer elects to also apply IRS U.S.
Person definition, insert the following paragraph:

(xi) - Regulation S U.S. Person AND IRS U.S. Person Applicable]
10. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER

[NB: This paragraph applies only in respect of any offer of Notes which is not made pursuant to an exemption to publish a
prospectus under Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation.]

[Not Applicable]
[If Not Applicable, delete the 